
LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE 
DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

COMMISSIONER'S MANUAL 
December 2015 

Prepared By: 

Kennerly, Montgomery & Finley, P.C. 
550 Main Street, 4th Floor 
Knoxville, Tennessee 37902 
(865) 546-7311 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. LCSWDC Creation Agreement (03/01/93, as amended 06/30/07) 

2. LCSWDC Bylaws (05/09/06) 

3. LCSWDC Ethics Policy (06/19/07) 

4. SANTEK Operation Agreement (07/01/07) 

5. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991(T.C.A.68-211-801, et seq.) 

6. County Purchasing Act of 1957 (T.C.A. 5-14-101 et seq.) 

7. Lenoir City Procurement Law 

8. City of Loudon Procurement Law 

9. Interlocal Cooperation Act 

10. Key Statutory References 

11. LCSWDC Audit Report (06/30/14) 

12. Miscellaneous 

a. Kennerly, Montgomery & Finley Engagement Letter Dated 11/21/2003 
b. News Herald Contact Information 

13. Calendar 

14. Addresses and Contact Information 



1 



'I 

Nff.:NOEO A.ND JU;SIAIEQ 
tPUQON COtl}{TY SOLID ¥ASTE DISPOSAL AGREEMENT 

An Intergovernmental Agreement betueen the City of 
Lenoir city, the County of Loudon, and the City of Loudon 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into effective the ~ 

day of~. l99J, by and between the COUNTY OF LOUfX)N, THE CITY 

OF LENOIR CITY, and TH.E CITY OF LOUDON, all political subdivisions 

of the State of Tennessee; 

W'HEREAS I by an intergoverrunental agree~ent, dated 

September 12. 1983, the parties agreed to the procurement and 
I 

development of a pennanent sanitary landfill site for Loudon I 

County: and 

WHEREAS, under the agreement Loudon County assumed the 

responsibility for the procurement of the site, issued capital 

outlay note& in the sum of Tvo Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars 

($250,000.00), and by e~inent domain, obtained the Hirsch-Powell 

property on old State Highway 72 near the Matlock Bend area for 

the approximate amount of One Hundred fifty-Three Thousand Dollars 

( $ 15 3 , o o o • o o) : and 

WHEREAS, during that time, the City of Loudon continued 

to operate the jointly leased Poplar Springs landfill site 

previously operated by joint agreement of t.he parties hereto, and 

was responsible for the maintaining of t..he jointly ovned assets 

and the sanitary landfill funds that were derived from the 

revenues from the operation of the leased landfill: and 

WHEREAS, the Matlock Bend sanitary landfill site 1.1as 

constructe-d and prepared, and at the time of the execution of the 

subsequent June 1, 1987, agree~ent (which t.his agreement amends), 

the Poplar Springs landfill had been closed and the new site was 

in operation under the continuing daily operational responsibility 

of the city of Loudon, as agreed to by the parties; and 

WHEREAS, the Sol id Waste Disposal Colll.l1liss ion formed under 

this ociginol •g••••ent, has boon •••p0 n•iblo foe the opot•tionll 

of the Mat:locl<: Bend Sal"itary Landfill since that t1me, and in 

recent years has had an operational agreem~nt vith Santek 

I Enterprises of Cleveland, Tennessee: and 



'WHERE>...S, it appears that the cost of operating sanitary 

landfills, or other solid 1o1aste disposal methods, because oC more 

stringent regulations, is going to increase in the future, and a 

joint operation is essehtial: and 

WHERI:AS, it now further has been agreed that the Loudon 

County solid Waste Disposal Colll1ll19Gion, is to be organized as a 

continuation of the previous ColllJlliGGion, but to comply vith the 

nev regulations and lave involving the Solid Waste Management Act 

of 1991 (T.C.>.. 69-211-801 et seq.), \./herein Loudon County has 

been approved as a Solid Waste Planning Region, for which the 

Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Collll'llission shall become the 

Board for the ne1o1ly created Loudon County Solid Waste Region; and 

WHEREAS, the Loudon County Sol id Wa&te Disposal 

Co11U11ission has been responsible tor the overall supervision of the 

landfill, the development ot policy, and for all decisions about 

solid waste management disposal in Loudon county, and these 

responsibilities, along with the ne'J authority and responsibility 

that devolves upon the Com.mis&ion by virtue of the Sol id Waste 

Management Act of 1991, shall continue except as othervise 

properly limited by this Agreement; and 

WHERE>.S, basically the original Intergovernmental 

Agreement shall continue, but with some changes being desirable 

and necessary, it. is agreed the new operational agreement is 

stated as rollovs: 

W ! T N E S S E T H 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED bet'Ween the parties as 

follo...,s: 

Recruired Participation: That all parties hereto 

shall participate in the use of a joint landfill site, c~lled the 

~don County sanitary Landfill. on Old Highway 72, !or iU.l solid 

vaste collected by the p~rties, vhich includes, at the least. all 

residential sanitary 1,1aste, and all commercial and industrial 

sanitary waste, controlled by the parties ~~ for demolition 

.... ast.e and other 1,1ast.e ;oat acceptable by lav. Ho·..1ever. '-'here· 

deemed appropriate, exemptions or exceptions may be made by the 



Com.mission to the requirement that the landfill ~ be used by 

the parties to the Intergovernmental Agreement. 

2. Establishment: ot commission: There shall be seven 

(7) 111em.bers ot the Com.mission. Five f5) shall be appointed by the 

county Executive and approved by the County Collllnission, and one 

(1) member each shall be appointed by the Mayors of the Cities of 

Lenoir City and Loudon, and approved by the respective City 

Councils. Members of the commission shall serve six (6) year 

tenos. The three original &lots (appointed by the two Mayors and 

the County Executive) shall each be for initial six (6) year terms 

(Panel A); two o! the members appointed by the County Executive 

shall serve an initial four (4) year term (Panel B) 1 and tvo of 

the members appointed by the County Executive shall serve· an 

initial two (2) year term (Panel C), all terms to be effective 

March 1. 199J. 

). Assets ot t:he Commis9iQn: All monetary and othec-

capital assets resulting froD the previous existing agreement and 

operation of the Poplar Sprinqs landfill, and all assets accrued 

in thQ intervening tiroe. shall continue under jurisdiction of the 

ne"' Col1\lllission. 

4 • Pl.Jrnose a!Js.l Aytbority of the Col!\l!\ission: The 

Com;nission shall have the purpose, authority and responsibility 

for: 

A. The overall supervision of the land!ill to 

include t.ha following: 

(1). The establishing of policies for the 

operation and management of the land!ill to include major capital 

expenditures. 

(2). The raisinq or lowering of tip fees or 

other charges that might be assessed for the use of the landfill. 

(J). The daily operation and management of the 

landfill will be done by the City of Loudon for a period of one 

(1) year Crom the date the new landfill is opened, at which time 

'i I 

the arrangement will be revie~ed and a decision oade by the Solid 
I 

Waste Disposal Colllll\ission as to the continuation of the 

operational agreement, o::- as to some other alternative management. 



;I 

The current OJH!ration and management agreement shall remain in 

effect until such time as a ne\I agreement is reached by the Solid 

Waste Disposal Co!Mlission as to a change. 

(4). It is specifically agreed that the 

unbudqeted purchase ot capital items, the expenditures of any 

major sums of money, and the obligation or the Commission to any 

contracts for more than one (1) year are policy decisions to be 

made by the Disposal Com.mission. 

(5). The decision aa to vhat organizations, 

businesses, and parties may utilize the landfill an~ any other 

disposal facilities operated by the Colnlllission shall be under the 

jurisdiction and discretion of the Coil1.lllission. 

8. The periodic review, and study if necessary, of 

the solid waste disposal problems and needs of the County, and to 

make recommendations to the respective governing bodies of the 

parties to this agree.ment. 

c. Assumes all authority and powers, and the 

responsibilities. which devolve upon a municipal solid Yaste 

region board (T.C.A. 68-211-801 et seq.) by virtue of State law 

and regulations. 

5. organizational Ryles ot the Commission: The 

Commission shall ~ a•Jthorized to adopt its 01o1n rules of 

organi~ation and procedure except as othen1ise required herein. 

>... The Col!IJ!lission may set its o\ffi meeting days, 

times, and dates, although it is required to meet at lea&t 

quarterly. 

8. A quorum is the personal presence of at least 

four (') members, and at least four (4) affirmative votes are 

required before any action can be adopted. 

c. Special meetings may be called by the Chairman 

or by any t1o10 (2) of the parties by giving reasonable notice of 

the time and place of such meeting to all metn.bers. 

D. Notice to the public of all meetings shall be 

jl given by a vritten notice delivered to the Nevs-Herald. 

E. Minutes shall be kept of cill meetings of the 

Co=ission. 



6. Monthly RepQ..rll: ·rhe operator of the landfill shall 

prepare and provide monthly reports to the other partie~. 

7. Annual Pygget: The operator shall prepare a proposed 

annual budget for presentation to and approval of the Solid Waste 

Disposal Commission. The budget !or the preceding year shall be 

a.continuing document into the subsequent fiscal year until a nev 

budget is adopted. 

e. Audits and Recorgs: There shall be an annual audit 

o( t.he funds of the CollUllission. 

9. Dyration of Agreement: The duration of this 

agreement is indefinite or until othervise agreed as to 

tennination. Tenoination requires a unanimous vote. Any one 

party may vithdraw at any time. but shall do so by forfeiting any 

rights as to the allocation of any assets that might remain. 

10. Disposition of Assets: The disposition of assets 

shall be by agreement of the parties at the time of termination 

ot this agreement, subject to ratification of the respective· 

governing bodies. 

11. This Agreement contains amendments from the original 

Intergovernmental A.greel'lent, and the signatures below indicate 

approval by the parties to the agreement that this is the restated 

agreement that shall govern the activities of the parties in waste 

disposal matters in Loudon County. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly elected officers of the 

parties hereto, pursuant to approval from the respective governing 

bodies, have hereunto set their signatures of each political 

subdivision, the sa.id agreement to be effective the day and date 

first above vritten. 

COUNTY OF LOUDON CITY~~NOIR CITY 

8Y:~Jl?d~ BY~,tijY;L 
ATTEST: ATTEST: 

I ci/aut~ f/if:.':1~ (~, . 
<_ /0112 !. t <::! fl.r.VLl· , 

: ' 
CITY Of LOUDON 

City Recorder 



Resolution 020408-A 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 
LOUDON COUNTY SOUD WASTE DlSPOSAL AGREEMENT 

THlS FlRST AMENDMENT to the AMENDED AND llESTATED LOUDON 
COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL AGREEMENT, made and entered info effective as of 
June 30, 2007, by and among the COUNTY OF LOUDON, THE ClTY OF LENOlR CfTY, and 
THE ClTY OF LOUDON, all political subdivisions of the State of Tennessee; 

WHEREAS, by an intergoverrunental agreement dated March l, !993 (the "1993 
lntergovcnunental Agreement"), the parties reorganized the Loudon County Solid Waste 
Disposal Commission as a continuation of the previous commission created by agreement among 
Lhc pat1ies on September 12, l-983, but to comply with the new regulations and laws involving 
the Solid Wasle Management Act of 1991 (T.C.A. 68-211-80 l et seq.); and 

WHERE AS, Section 49 of the Comprehensive Goverrunental Ethics Reform Act of 2006, 
2006 Public Chapter I (1 51 Ex. Sess.), (T.C.A. § 8-l 7-102(b)), requires local government entities 
thal create a corporation or instrumentality by intergovernmental agreement to designate the 
ethical standards that govern the jointly created instrumentality by amendment to the agrcemenl 
creating such joint instrumentality or a separate agreement; and 

WHEREAS, on February S, 2007 the County of Loudon adopted the model of ethical 
standards prepared by County Technical Assislii.nce -Service, and the City of Lenoir City and the 
City of Loudon each subscquentl y adopted the model of ethical standards preparedJw Municipal 
Technical Assistance SerVice; and 

WHEREAS, on June 12, 2007 the Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission 
volunlarily adopted the same ethical standards adopted by Loudon County on February 5, 2007 
until Loudon County, the City of Lenoir City and the City of Loudon could act to amend the 
l 993 lotergoverrunental Agreement to comply with state law and has subsequently_ requested 
Loudo11 County, the City of Lenoir City and the City of Loudon to amend the 1993 
In krgovenimental Agreement to designate the Code of Ethics fur Loudon Couoty a:.; the official 
cthical slandards for the Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Conunission. 

W£TNESSETH 

NOW. THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and among the parties as follows: 

I. Code of Ethics. That the Code of Ethics for Loudon County adopted by 
Re:;olulion No. 020507-C on February 5, 2007 by the Loudon County Commission is hereby 
designated as the ethical standards for lhe Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission 
and slwll apply in the same maru1er as it applies to other instrumentalities of Loudon County . 

..., Arnend111cnts. That any future amendments lo U1e Code of Ethics for Loudon 
Cou11ty lh'-lt apply in general to all i11strumentalities created by the Loudon County Com.mission 



shall also apply automatically to the Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Comm\ss\ol\ un\ess 
otherwise ex.press I y provided by the terrns of such amendments. 

3. Effect. That this First Amendment shall not otherwise affect or alter the terms 
and provisions of the 1993 Intergovernmental Agreement, which are hereby reaffirmed by the 
parties to this First Amendment. 

fN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly elected officers of the parties hereto, pursuant to 
approval from their respective governing bodies, have hereunto set their signatures as officers of 
the respective political subdivision listed bdow, this First Amendment to be effective as of the 
date firsl above written. 

CITY OF LENOIR CITY 

-· 
ATTEST: ATTEST: 

JJ~cilcx_J 
City R er 

C!T'i' OF LOUDON 

A1Tt::ST: 

'lt~d~a,L~~ Uf ity Recorder 
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BYLAWS OF THE 

LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

ARTICLE I 
LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

Section 1. NAME 

The name of the Commission shall be the Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal 

Commission. 

Section 2. AUTHORITY 

The Commission and its authority are established by Loudon County, Lenoir City and the 

City of Loudon pursuant to an Amended and Restated Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal 

Agreement dated March l, l 993 (the" lnterlocal Government Agreement") entered into pursuant 

to the lnterlocal Cooperation Act codified at T.C.A. § 12-9-10 l et seq. and the Sol id Waste 

Management Act codified at 68-2 l l-80 l et seq. These Bylaws are adopted pursuant to Section 5 

of the lnterlocal Government Agreement. 

Section 3. PURPOSE OF THE COMMISSION 

The Commission shall have the purposes described in Section 4 of the lnterlocal 

Government Agreement, which shall include: 

A. The overall supervision of the Matlock Bend Sanitary Landfill to include the 

following: 



(I) Establishing policies for the operation and management of the landfill to include 

major capital expenditures; 

(2). Raising and lowering of tipping fees and other charges assessed for the use of the 

landfill; 

(3). Daily operation and management of the landfill and the letting and supervision of all 

operational agreements for the landfill; 

(4). Making all policy decisions relative to purchasing unbudgeted capital items, 

expending major sums of money, and obligating the Commission to any contracts for 

more than one year; and 

(5). Making decisions as to what organizations, businesses, and parties may use the 

landfill and any other disposal facilities operated by the Commission. 

8. The periodic review, and study if necessary, of the solid waste disposal problems and 

needs of Loudon County, and making recommendations to Loudon County, Lenoir City and the 

City of Loudon related thereto. 

C. All responsibilities of a municipal solid waste region board by virtue of state law and 

applicable regulations. 

ARTICLE II 
MEMBERSHIP 

Section l. MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 

There shall be seven (7) members of the Commission, who shall be referred to as 

Commissioners. Five (5) members shall be appointed by the Loudon County Mayor and 

approved by the Loudon County Commission. and one (I) member shall be appointed by the 



Mayors of the cities of Lenoir City and Loudon, and approved by the respective city councils of 

those cities. 

Section 2. TERM OF MEMBERS 

The three original Commission members (appointed by the two City Mayors and the 

County Mayor) shall each serve initial six (6) year terms (Panel A); two of the Commission 

members appointed by the County Mayor shall each serve initial four (4) year terms (Panel B); 

and two of the Commission members appointed by the County Mayor shall each serve initial two 

(2) year terms (Panel C); all initial terms to commence on March 1, 1993. After their respective 

initial terms, all Commission members shall each serve six (6) year terms and shall be appointed 

on a staggered basis according to the panel designated above. Commissioners shall continue to 

serve until their respective successors are appointed. 

Section 3. VACANCIES 

No vacancy on the Commission shall impair the right of a quorum to exercise all rights 

and perform all the duties of the Commission. A vacancy shall be filled by the appointing 

authority of the vacant Commission seat for the unexpired po1iion of the vacant term. 

Section 1. SCHEDULE 

ARTICLE Ul 
MEETINGS 

Until and unless otherwise established by action of the Commission, the Commission will 

hold its regular meetings on the second Tuesday of every month at the Loudon County 

Courthouse Annex located at I 0 I Mulberry Street in Loudon, Tennessee. The standard meeting 

time for the Commission shall be 6:30 p.m. Whenever the Commission wishes to change the 



time of a regular meeting because of holiday, the anticipated lack of a quorum, or for any other 

reason, the Commission may by motion duly adopted at any meeting change the time of holding 

any subsequent regular meeting to any hour and any day that is stated in such motion. In such 

event, the changed meeting shall be noticed as if it were a special meeting pursuant to Article III, 

Section 2. 

Section 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS 

Special meetings may be called by the Chair or by any two (2) Commissioners by giving 

reasonable notice of the time and place of such meeting to all Commissioners. The notice must 

be in writing. No business other than that specifically mentioned in the notice for such meeting 

shall be transacted. The notice for a special meeting may be served by any Commissioner, by 

any authorized attorney, agent or employee under the direction of the Commission, or by any 

police officer or any person authorized to serve civil process issued by the courts of the State of 

Tennessee. 

Section 3. NOTICE 

Notice to the public of all meetings, including special meetings, shall be given by a 

written notice delivered to the News-Herald. 

Section 4. QUORUM 

A quorum is defined as the personal presence of at least four (4) members, and at least 

four (4) affinnative votes are required before any action can be adopted. 

Section 5. RULES OF ORDER 

Meetings shall be governed by Robe1t's Rules of Order. 
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Section 6. MINUTES 

Adequate written minutes shall be kept recording the official acts and proceedings at all 

meetings of the Commission. Minutes shall be presented for approval or correction at a 

subsequent meeting and upon approval shall be signed by the Chair or Secretary and filed with 

the minutes of the Commission, which shall be kept permanently. 

ARTICLE IV 
OFFICERS 

Section l. OFFICERS, TERM AND ELECTION 

The Commission shall elect a Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary from its membership, who 

shall each serve for terms of two (2) years each. The Commission shall elect its officers in its 

first scheduled meeting after March I st of each odd numbered year. 

Section 2. DUTIES OF OFFICERS 

A. Chair 

The Chair shall have the general and active management of the Commission's business 

and shall exercise general supervision and direction over all of the affairs of the Commission. 

Un less another officer or person is designated to execute the instrument, the Chair shal I execute 

on behalf of the Commission al I documents, contracts, resolutions, etc., approved by the 

Commission at its official meetings. The Chair shall insure that a quorum is present at meetings 

before taking any official action. The Chair shall see that the open meeting law commonly 

referred to as the "Sunshine Law'' is observed. 
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B. Vice-Chair 

The Vice-Chair shall, in the absence or disability of the Chair, perform the duties and 

exercise the powers of the Chair. 

C. Secretary 

The Secretary shall be responsible for keeping the minutes of the Commission, shall 

attest to the authorized execution of any documents approved by the Commission and sh al I 

perfonn such other duties as may be required by the Commission. 

Section 3. REMOVAL OF OFFICERS 

All officers of the Commission shall serve at the pleasure of the Commission and may be 

removed at any time during their term by a two-thirds vote of the Commission. 

ARTICLE V 
AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS 

An amendment to the Bylaws may be proposed at any regular meeting of the 

Commission, but shall not be voted on at the meeting at which proposed. At any subsequent 

regular meeting, the proposed amendment, as originally proposed or as amended, may be 

adopted by a two-thirds vote of the Commission. When a proposed amendment to the Bylaws 

receives the negative vote of a majority of the Commission, no further action can be taken on 

such proposed amendment at that meeting, although the same or a similar amendment may again 

be proposed at a later meeting. 

Adopted: May 9, 2006 

6 
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2007 POLICY 

CODE OF ETHICS 

LOUDON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 

Section J. Dcfmitioru. 
(I) "County" means Loudon County, which includes all·bonrds, commit1ees, 

commissions, authorities, corporations or olher instrumentalities appointed or created by 
the county _or an officio! of the county, and specifically incluillng the collllly school 

board, the county election commission, the county heaJth department., Bild utility districts 
in the county. 

(2) "Off1cinls nnd em11loyees" means n.nd includes any official, whether elected or 
appointed, officer, employee or servnnl, or any member of any board, agency, 
commission, oulhorily or corporation (whether compensated or nol), or BllY officer, 
employee or serva..nt thereof, oflhe county. 

(3) .. Personnl interest" means, for the purpose of disdoswe of personal int.erests in 
occordnncc with this Code of Ethics. o financie.I interest of the official or employee, or a 
fme.nciul interest of the omcin.l's or employee's spouse or child living in the .same 
household, in the rnaller lo be voted upon, regulated, supervised, or othctwisc oclcd upon 
in a..n official capacity. 

Section 1. Dbclosun of penonal inh:rul in voling mall en. An official or employee 
with the responsibility lo vote on o mc.nsure shall disclose during the meeting al which 
the vote Lakes place, befon: the vote and to be included in the minutes, my personnl 
in1erest th.at alTccts or th.at woult.l lcod a reason.able person to infer th.al it affects the 
official's or employee's vole oo the measure. In addilion, the officlel or employee may, lo 
lhe extent allowed by law, excuse himself or herself from voling on the men.sure. 

Section 3, Diaclosurc or penonal interest in oon-volint mp\len. An official or 
employee who must exercise discrelion relal.ive Lo ony rnatlt.r other than casting a vote 

and who has o personal interest in the mnl1er thol affects or !hot would leads reasonable 
person lo infer tho! it affects the exercise of the discretion shall disclose, before the 

eKercise of the discretion when possible, the interest on t11e anachetl disclosure form anti 
file the disclosure form with the counly cleric In addition, the official or employee may, 

In lhe extent allowed by low, excuse himself or her!lelf from the exercise of discretion in 
lhc: motler. 

ADOPTED BY LCSWDC ON 06/19 / 07 
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Section 4. Acccplaoct of i:lfts aod other thine.a of value. An official or employee, or 
an official' a or employee's spouse or duld living inlhc s11IDc household, may not accept, 
directly or indirectly, any gift. money, gratuity, or olher considention or favor of any 
kind from anyone olher thc.n lhe county: 

(I) For the perfonnance of an act, or refraining from perform.o.nce of an act, lhal 
he would be expecle.d lo perfonn, or refrain from performing, in the regular collr!le of his 
duties; or 

(2) Tiut a rc830nable person would understand was intende.d lo influence the vole, 
official action, or judi;inenl of th:: official or employee in c.::ccutfag county bu.sinc:ss. 

It shall not be considered a violation of this policy for an officinl or employee to receive 
entertninment, food, refrC!lhmcnl!I, meals, health screenings, amenities, foodstuf:Is, or 
beveragc.s that are provided in connection with a conference sponsored by an established 
or recogniz.ed statewide e.ssociation of county government officials or by an umbrella or 
e.IT1lia1e organizntion of such st.otewide association of county government officials. 

Section 5. Elbia Complalnl.I. A County Ethics Commitlee (the "Ethics 
Committee1 consisting of five members sh.all be appointed to one-year tenru by lhe 
County Meyer with confumatioo by the county legislative body, lo be appointed each 
yc.nr ol the srune time es interno.1 commiUi:.es of the county lcgislatlve body. Al least three 
members of the committee shall be members of the county legislative body; one member 
shall he o cooslitutiow county officer or, should no constitutional county officer be 
willing to accept appointment, ll!l additional member of the county legislative body; and 
the remaining member may be either a member of e boa.rd, committee, commission, 
eulhority, corporation, or other instrumentality governed bylhis policy, or o.n additional 
member of the county legislotive body. The Ethics Co~llee shall coavcne as soon as 
pracliceble after their appointment and etc.ct e chair and a secretary. The records of the 
Etrucs Commillee shall be meinlJJ.inerl by the secrelB.ry end shall be filed in the office of 
the county clerk, where they shnll be open to public inspection. 

Questions and complaints regarding viololions of llUs Code of Ethics or of ~y violation 
of SIBie law governing ethical conduct should be directed lo the chair of the Ethic5 
Commillee. Complaints shall be in writing and signed by the person making the 
complaint, and shn.11 sel forth io reasoODble detail the facl!I upon which the complo.inl is 
hosed. 

The County Ethics Coromillce shoJI investigate any credible .complaint against en official 
or employee charging any violation of this Code of Ethics, or may undertake an 
investigation on its own initiative when it acquires information indicating e possible 
violation, and make recommendations for action lo cod or seek retribution for any 
activity thnt, in the Committee's judgmeol, constitutes n violation oflhis Code of Ethics. 
Ir a member of the Committee is the subject of B coinple.int. such member &hall recluse 
himself or herself from all proceedings involving such comple.inl. 



The Comrnltlee may: 

(I) Refer the J1U1tter lo the County Allomey for a legal opinion and/or 
rccommcndalions for action; 

(2) In the case of an official, refer the m.atler lo the county legislative body for 
possible public censure if the county legislative body finds such ection warranl.ed; 

(3) lo the case of an employee, refer the IB.!lller to the official responsible for 
supervision of the employee for possible d"i.sciplinary action if the official ftnds discipline 
wane.nice!; 

( 4) In o case involving possible violation of slate staluu:s, refer the matter lo the 
district ollomey for possible ouslcr or criminal prosecution;· 

TI11: interpretation th.Bl a reasonable person in the circumslancee would apply shall be 
used in interpreting and enforcing this Code of Ethics. When a violation of this Code of 
Ethics also constitutes a violet.ion of e personnel policy or a civil service policy, the 
violation shall be dealt with as e violation of the personnel or civil service provisions 
rather lh.nn ns B vio\nlion of this Code of Ethics. 

Section 6. Appllceble State Laws. ln addition to the ethic.al principles set out in this 
Code of Ethics, state laws also provide a framework for the ethic.al behavior of county 
officiala a.nd employees In the performance of their duties. Officials and employee.u 
should fnmilio.riz.c themselves with the sl.Ble laws applicable to their office or posilioo and 
the perfonno.ncc of their duties. To the cxlcnl th.et nn issue is addressed by et.ate law (law 
of general opplicntion, public law of\ocal application, local option law, or privele set), 
the provisions of th.Bl sl.Ble law, lo the extent they are more restrictive, shall control. 
Following is n brief summnry of selected slate laws concerning ethics in county 
govc:nunc:nt. For the full Lexi of these stolulcs, see the Tennessee Code Annotated 
(T.C.A.) sections indicated. 

Campaign fwn.nce-T.C.A. Tille 2, Chapter 10. Pa.rt One (campaign financial 
disclosure:) requires cn.ndidnles for public office lo disclose contributions and conlributors 
lo their campaigns. Po.rt Three (campaign conlribution limits) limits the total nmount of 
cn.mpa.ign contrlbution.s a candidate may rc:ccive from an individual and sets limits on the 
amount n c.nndidntc mBY receive in cash. 

ConOict of inlercsl-T.C.A. § 12-4-101 is the gencni.I conflict of intcresl sl.Btute thnt 
applies in all counties. It.prohibits anyone who votes for, lets out, or in any manner 

supervises nny wotic or cootract from having e direct financial interest in that contract, 

purchase or work, and il reqwres disclosure of indirect financial interests by public 
ncknowlcdgmenl 
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Conflict of intcrest-T.C.A. § 4~-6-2003 applies lo the depnrtment of education io all 
counties and prohibits direct and indirect conflicts of int.crest in the sale of.supplies for 
use in public schools. · 

Conflict of inlerest-T.CA § 5-1-125 applies in all counties and proh.ibits county 
officials and employees from purchnsing surplU!I county property except whc~ it is sold 
by rublic bid. 

Conflict of interest-T.C.A. § 54-7-203 applies in nJI counties that are governed by the 
County Uniform Highway Lsw. ll prohibits officials and employees in the highway 
dcpBrlment nod members of the county legislative body from having any personal interest 

in purchases of supplies, ma.terials, machinery, and equipment for the highwny 

dcpertim:nl. 

Conflict of intcrest-T.C.A. § 5-14-114 applies in counties th.at h.ave adopted the County 
Purdui.sing Law of 1957. It probibils the purchasing agent., members of the purchnsing 
commission, and all county officials from having any financial or other personal 
beneficial interest io any contract or purch.ase of goods or services for any department or 
agency of the county. 

Conflict of int.eresl-T.C.A. § 5-21- 12 I applies in counties th.at hove adopted the County 
Financial Management System of 1981. ll prohibits ell county officials and employees 
from having eny fmenciel or other pe.r.;onnl beneficial interest in the pwchasc of any 
supplies, materials or equipment for the county. 

Conni ct of interest-T.C.A. §§ 5-5-102 and· 12-4-10 I govern cliscloswes and abstenlions 
from voling due lo conflicts of intercel of members of county legislat.ive boclies. 

Conflict of inlc.resl disclosure statements-T.C.A. § 11-50-501 end the following sections 
require cnndidalcs nnd appointees to local public offices lo file a disclosure sl.lltemcnl 
with the stole ethics commission listing major sou.n::es of income. investments. lobbyiog 
activilies. professional services provided, banbuptcies, certain lollll.'I, end other 
infonnulion, aml lo keep these slnlc.mcnl!! up lo date.. 

Gil\.s-T.C.A. § 5-14-114 applies in counties that have adopted the County Purchasing 
Lnw of 1957. It prohibits \he purchasing agent, members of lhe purchasing commission, 
nnd a.II county officials from receiving anything of value, directly or indirectly, from 
llllyonc who mey have or obtain n contract or purchase order with the county. 

Gifts--T.C.A. § 5-21-121 applies in counties that h.nve adopted the County Firumcial 
Mnrugeme.nl System of 198 I. ll prohibits the fi.na.ncc director, purchasing egeol, end 
employ ces in those departments from accepting e.nythlng of value, directly or indirectly, 
from enyone who furnishes supplies, materinls or equipment to the county. 

461 



- Honorario-T.C.A. § 2-10-116 probibiti; elected officials from accepting an honorarium 
(including money or anything of value, but not including rcirnburaemeot for actual 
expenses) for an appearance, speech, or article in their official capacity. 

Private use of public property-T.C.A. § 54-7-202 applies in counlies that are governed 
by the County Unifonn Highway Law. It prohibits the private. use of equipment, rock, 
and other highway moterinls. 

Court snles--T.C.A. § 39-16-405 prohlbitsjudges, clerks of court, court officen;, and 
employees of court, from bidding on or purchasing any property sold through the court 
for which such person clisr..lwge./! officiBJ duties. 

Rules of the Supreme Court- Ruic I 0, Cannon 5 (Code of JuiliciaJ Conduct) establishes 
ethical ruJes for judges and other court personnel when exercising judicial functions. 

Fee statutes-T.C.A. §§ 8-21-101, 8-21-102, Md 8-21-103 ~tout circumstances where 
fees are aulhori2.ed, prohibit officials from requiring payment of fees in advance of 
performance of services except where specifically outhorizul, and set pcnallies for 
charging excessive or unauthori2.ed fees. 

Consulting fee prohibition for elected county officials-T.C.A. §§ :!-I 0-122 nnd 2-10-
124 prohibit officials from receiving compen.salion for nrlvising or assisting a person or 
entity in influencin-g county legislative or administrative action. 

- Crimes involving public officials-T.C.A. § )9-16-101 and the following sections 
prohibit bribery, solicitiog tmlawful compensation, and buying and sc.lling in regnrd lo 

offices. 

Official misconduct-T.C.A. § 39-16-402 npplies lo public servants and candidDlc.s for 
office and prohibits unauthorized exercise of official power, actiog in en official capacity 
exceeding !he servant's power, refusal lo pcrfonn o duty imposed by lnw, violating a low 
relating to the servont's office or employment, ond receiving a beoefit not provided by 
low. 

Official opprcssion-T.C.A. § )9-16-403 prohibits abuse of power by e public servanl 

Bribery for voles-T.C.A. §§ 2-19-121, 2-19-126, and 2-19-127 prohibit bribery of 
voters in elections. 

Misuse of official infonnotion-T.C.A. § 39-16-404 prohibits a public servant from 
ottaining a benefit or aiding onolher person in allnining a benefit from infonnotion which 
wos obtained in 11n officinl capacity and is no! ovnilable to the public. 

Ouster law-T .CA § 8-47-101 sets o!Jt conduct that Is punishable by ouster 
rrom office, including misconduct In office and neglect of duly. 
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

loslructioos: This fonn is for reporting persone.J interests required to be disclosed under 
Section 3of \he Code of Ethics ofthls county. Officials and employees arc required to 
disclose personal interests in moners th.at affect or would lend a reasonable person to 
infer thnl it would affect the exercise of discretion of an oflicinl or employee. 

I . Date of disclosure: 

2. Name of official or cmployet:: 

3. OrTict and position: 

4. Description of personal Interest (describe below In qetall): 

Signoture or official or employee 

Witness Signnlurc: 

Printed nomc or wilncss 
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SANITARY LANDFILL OPERATION AGREEMENT 

THIS SANITARY LANDFILL OPERATION AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is 
entered as of the 1st day of July, 2007 by and betweenLOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE 
DISPOSAL COMMISSION (the "Commission"), an entity created under the laws of the State 
of Tennessee and the entity having legal jurisdiction over the ownership and management of the 
Matlock Bend Landfill, and SANTEK ENVIRONMENTAL, INC., a corporation organized 
under the laws of the State of Tennessee ("Contractor"). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Commission was formed by an agreement entered into under the 
Interlocal Cooperation Act (T.C.A. § 12-9-101 et seq.) among Loudon County, Lenoir City and 
the City of Loudon to provide efficient operations of the Matlock Bend Class I Landfill. As part 
of the Commission's responsibility for overall supervision of the Matlock Bend Class I Landfill, 
the Commission is also given the authority to develop policy and. to make all decisions about 
solid waste management disposal in Loudon County and is required to provide periodic review 
and study of the solid waste disposal problems and needs of Loudon County and its cities; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission is empowered to perform solid waste management tasks 
within Loudon County, and in connection therewith, owns and operates a sanitary landfill known 
as the Matlock Bend Landfill, as nnre specifically defined hereinafter; 

WHEREAS, the Commission desires and the Contractor is willing to manage the landfill 
for the Commission pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the foregoing premises 
and the other mutual covenants between the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows: 

I. DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Definitions. The following terms shall be defined in the following manner 
.throughout this Agreement. 

Agreement Year. A successive twelve-month period comnencing for the first 
year on the Commencement Date and thereafter annually on the am1iversary. of 
the Commencement Date. 

Area Governmental Users. Loudon County, the City of Lenoir City, and the 
City of Loudon, and which shall also be conmued to include each of their related 
boards and agencies. 

Closure. The taking of those actions to close a landfill that are necessary to meet 
the closure requirements of Tennessee Rule 1200-1-7-.04(8), or such subsequent 
regulation that replaces or supersedes such rule. 



Commencement Date. October 1, 2007, or such other date as rmy be agreed to 
in writing between the parties. 

County. Loudon County, Tennessee. 

Demolition Waste. Non-Hazardous waste resulting from construction, 
remodeling, repair and demolition of structures and from road building. 
Demolition wastes include· but are ·not limited to bricks, concrete and other 
masonry materials, soil, rock and lumber, road spoils, rebar, paving rmterial. 

EPA. The United States Environmental Protection Agency, which is the 
administrative agency for the United States of krerica that issues various 
environmental permits, including Solid Waste Permits, and oversees the 
enforcement of the environmental laws of the United States. 

Environmental Laws. Any and all laws, statutes, regulations and judicial 
interpretations thereof of the United States and any state in which the Landfill is 
located, or of any other government or quasi-government authority having · 
juri~diction, that relate to the prevention, abatement .or elimination of pollution 
and/or protection of the environment, including but not limited to the federal 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 
1980 ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C .. § 9601 et seq., the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act of 1976 ("RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., the Clean Water Act 
("CWA"), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq., the Clean Air Act ("CAA"), 42 U.S.C. § 
7401 et seq., the Safe Drinking Water Act ("SDWA"), 42 U.S.C. § 300fet seq., 
the Endangered Species Act ("ESA"), 16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq., and the Toxic 
Substances Control Act ("TSCA"), 15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., together with any 
state statutes or local ordinances or other requirements serving any similar or 
related purposes. 

Garbage. Solid Waste that includes animal qnd vegetable matter from handling, 
preparation, cooking and serving foods, but does not include industrial waste from 
food-processing operations. 

Hauler. Any individual, firm, entity or other person who transports er otherwise 
performs hauling services of Solid Waste to the Landfill. 

Hazardous Waste. Any waste meeting the classification "Hazardous Waste" as 
defined in Tennessee Rule 1200-1-11-.02-(l)(c), or other subsequent regulation 
that replaces or supersedes such rule, and that is regulated pursuant to Tennessee 
Rule 1200-1-11-.03 through 12-1-11-.07. 

Infectious Waste. Those wastes which may calSe disease ·or reasonably be 
suspected of harboring pathogenic organisms; included are wastes resulting from 
the operation of medical clinics, hospitals, and other facilities producing wastes 
which may consist of, but are not limited to, diseased human and animal parts, 
contaminated bandages, pathological specimens, hypodermic needles, 
contaminated clothing, and surgical gloves. 
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Landfill. The Matlock Bend Sanitary Landfill, which includes the landfill and 
approximately 151 acres -of real estate, including the real estate within the legal 
boundaries of real property to be operated under the Landfill Permit, and as more 
particularly described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto, located off of Highway 72 
in Loudon County, Tennessee. 

Landfill Permit. The solid waste permit issued by TDEC, permit number SNL 
#53-103-0203, related to the Landfill, and any modifications, renewals, 
supplements, replacements or amendments of any of the foregoing. 

Leachate. A liquid that has passed through or emerged from Solid Waste and 
contains soluble, suspended, or miscible materials rermved from such waste. 

Performance Securitv. Security for performance of all or a portion of the 
obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement, as the case mcy be. This 
security may be provided by either surety bond, an irrevocable letter of credit in 
form reasonably acceptable to the party receiving the security, or other manner 
acceptable to the party receiving the security. Such security instruments shall 
cover claims during the entire term of the Agreement. If the party providing the 
security gives a surety bond, the providing party shall be responsible for giving 
the party receiving the security satisfactory evidence that all such security is in 
full effect throughout the term of the obligations for which the security is being 
provided. Surety bonds will be a·ccepted only from sureties on the current U.S. 
Treasury list of approved sureties as published in the U.S. Treasury Department 
Circular 570. Attorneys-in-fact who sign a surety bond must file with the bond a 
certified and dated copy of their power of attorney. A security bond may be in 
full force and effective initially for a one (1) year period, but it nnst be renewed 
annually thereafter upon written consent of the surety by issuance of a 
continuation certificate no later than ninety (90) days prior to the renewal date. 

The Performance Security shall be in effect throughout the term of this 
Agreement and for a period of one (1) year thereafter. The provider of the 
Performance Security shall give the Commission at least ninety (90) days prior 
notice of the cancellation or non-renewal of the Perrormance Security. No claim 
against Performance Security shall be initiated after the first (1 51

) anniversary of 
the end of the term of this Agreement, and no suit, action or proceeding with 
respect to such a claim shall be brought on a surety bond after the surety bond 
expires or is terminated. Failure to renew a surety bond shall be an event of 
default under this Agreement. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Contractor 
has agreed in Section 12.6 hereof to provide Performance Security during the 
term of this Agreement. 

To the extent any portion of the Work shall be construed to be a "public wori(' 
pursuant to T.C.A. § 12-4-201, the parties agree that the Turformance Security 
shall apply towards the bonding requirements ofT.C.A. § 12-4-201 et seq. 
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Post-Closure Care. The taking of those actions after Closure of a landfill or a 
landfill property, or portion thereof, that are necessary to meet the post-closure 
care. requirements of Tennessee Rule 1200-1-7-.04(8), or such subsequent 
regulation that replaces or supersedes such rule. 

Process Waste. Solid Waste or other waste which is generated by or produced by 
or results from an industrial or commercial operation or activity. 

Refuse. All Non-hazardous Solid Waste originating at residences and 
commercial establishments, including industrial, institutional, commercial, 
municipal and medical sites, which is not Process Waste, including without 
limitation, wastes such as discarded materials from dwelling places, households, 
apartment houses, stores, office buildings, restaurants, hotels, and institutions, 
including Garbage, paper, cardboard, wood, cans, glass, ashes and boxes, cuttings 
from trees, lawns and gardens. The term "Refuse" as used herein does not include 

· Hazardous Waste or Infectious Waste, including, but not limited to acids, 
explosives, radioactive materials, toxic industrial wastes; nor shall it include any 
materials that are, or in the future may be, prohibited from dumping by the 
regulations of TDEC or the State of Tennessee, or by any other public agency, or 
by operation oflaw. 

Roads. 

Access Road - A paved all-weather road located outside the Landfill property, 
which terminates at the gate to the Landfill. · 

Haul Road - A paved or unpaved road in the Landfill which is provided to allow 
users of the Landfill to operate vehicles from the gate of the Landfill to the 
tipping area at the active face of the Landfill. 

Service Road - All roads in the Landfill other than Haul Roads. 

Solid Waste. Any Garbage, Refuse, including without limitation recyclable 
materials when they become discarded, and other discarded material, including 
solid, liquid, semi-solid, or contained gaseous material resulting from industrial, 
commercial, and agricultural operations, and from community activities, but does 
not include solid or dissolved materials in domestic sewage, or solid or dissolved 
materials in irrigation return flows or industrial discharges tmt are point sources 
subject to permits under Section 402 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act 
(33 U.S.C. 1342) as amended, or source, special nuclear, or by-product material 
as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (42 U.S.C. 2011). 
This term includes Special Waste and other materials approved by TDEC for 
disposal at the Landfill, but this term expressly excludes Hazardous Waste and 
Infectious Waste. 

Solid Waste Laws. The Tennessee Solid Waste Disposal Act, T.C.A. §68-211~ 
101, et seq. and the rules promulgated thereunder, both as may be amended from 
time to time. · 
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Special Waste. Those wastes that include sludges, bulky wastes, pesticide 
wastes, non-infectious medical wastes, industrial wastes, hazardous wastes trot 
are not subject to regulations under Tennessee Rules 1200-1-11-.03 through 1200-
1-11-. 07, liquid wastes, friable asbestos wastes, combustion wastes, and other 
solid wastes that are either difficult or dangerous to manage and require 
extraordinary management, including without limitation any waste (solid or 
otherwise) that have a density equal to or greater than 800 pounds per cubic yard. 
However, discarded automotive tires and dead animals shall not be included in 
this term. For purposes of this definition, industrial wastes means solid wastes 
produced in, or generated by, industrial or manufacturing processes, as provided 
in Tennessee Rule 1200-1-7-.01. 

State Regulatory Agencies. The State of Tennessee agencies that have the 
responsibility of regulating the operation and maintenance of a sanitary landfill, 
including without limitation, TDEC. 

TDEC. The Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation, an agency 
of the State of Tennessee, designated to oversee the environmental activities in 
Tennessee, which, among other duties, regulates the disposal of Solid Waste. 

Unacceptable Waste. All Solid Waste which is Hazardous, Infectious or 
otherwise not included in Garbage, Refuse, and Detrolition Waste or any waste 
excluded by the Landfill Permit. 

Work. Contractor's work obligations, in confonmnce with the terms of Sections 
3 .1 and 3 .2 hereof, during the term of this Agreement, which in general consist of 
the following: 

(a) Manage, operate and maintain the Landfill; 

(b) Design, construct and finance the operation of the Landfill; 

(c) Manage, construct and finance Closure and Post-Closure Care of the 
closed portions of the Landfill during the term of this Agreement; 

( d) Operate and maintain equipment as necessary to perform the Work; 

( e) Provide and train personnel as necessary to perform the Work; 

(f) Furnish all supplies, materials, and equipment necessary to perform the 
Work; 

(g) Pay the expenses of all utilities needed to perform the Work; 

(h) Conduct all billings and collection ofrevenue for the disposal of waste at 
the Landfill; 
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(i) Undertake good faith efforts to devek>p markets for Solid Waste for 
disposal at the Landfill; 

(j) Maintain and renew or modify the Landfill permit; as required or 
necessary in order to perform the Work; and 

(k) Administrative activities to assist the Commission, such as reports and 
minutes of meetings, and such additional duties as more specifically 
prescribed herein. 

II. WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS 

2.1 Warranties and Representations of the Commission. Commission hereby 
warrants, represents and covenants that, as of the date of the execution of this 
Agreement: 

(a) The Commission owns the Landfill and is the Landfill Permit holder; and 

(b) Commission is duly authorized and empowered to enter into and fully 
perform this Agreement according to its terms; and 

( c) There is no known decree, judgment, or administrative order of any kind 
threatened or in existence enjoining or restraining the Commission from 
taking any action required under this Agreement; and 

(d) All of the Commission's representations and warranties contained in this 
Agreement and any written statements and exhibits prepared or supplied 
by the Commission in connection with this Agreement, are true and 
correct as of the date of the execution hereof. 

2.2 Warranties and Representations of Contractor. Contractor hereby warrants, 
represents, and covenants that, as of the date of the execution of this Agreeirent: 

(a) All of the Contractor's representations and warranties contained in this 
Agreement and any written statements and exhibits prepared or supplied 
by the Contractor in connection with this Agreement, are true and correct 
as of the date. of execution hereof, and 

(b) The Contractor is a duly authorized corporation organized under the laws 
of, and is authorized to do busiress in, the State of Tennessee and 
empowered to enter into and fully perform this Agreement according to its 
terms; and 

(c) Contractor has the requisite expertise and financial ability to fully, 
completely, and satisfactorily perform its obligations hereunder in full 
compliance with applicable law; and 
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( d) To the best of its knowledge, the Contractor has disclosed to Comnission 
its knowledge of all facts, infonnation and data pertinent to its capacity to 
perform its duty and obligations under this Agreement. 

III. SCOPE OF WORK 

3.1 Intent. In order to assure viability for the Landfill, the parties hereto intend to 
develop markets for Solid Waste to increase the anticipated volume to be received 
at the Landfill. The Contractor shall perform all Work hereunder in compliance 
with all applicable federal, state, county, and m.micipal laws, ordinances and 
regulations. It shall be the financial responsibility of the Contractor to maintain 
any and all existing permits and/or licenses, and timely pay any and all fees 
required by said permits and/or licenses, and, utilize its reasonable efforts to 
obtain in the Commission's name any and all new permits and/or licenses and/or 
renewals or modifications of any existing permits and/or licenses as may be 
required in order to operate said Landfill as anticipated by this Agreement. 
Subject to the requirements of this Agreement, it is further intended that the 
Contractor shall have maximum flexibility in performing the landfill operations 
and other solid waste management operations contemplated by this Agreement, 
which includes, without limitation, performance of the Work, the ability to accept 
Solid Waste and other wastes allowed by IDEC and/or EPA, for disposal at the 
Landfill, and the discretion to make and implement at Contractor's expense 
design improvements and changes to enhance the capacity of the Landfill, 
including on-site vertical and horizontal· expansions of the Landfill cells; 
provided, that any such activity that involves a rraterial modification of the 
Landfill or the Landfill Permit will be subject to the Commission's review and 
approval per Section 4. l . 

3.2 Contractor's Solid Waste Responsibilities. Except as otherwise set forth in this 
Agreement, Contractor agrees to conduct the Work in accordance with the Solid 
Waste Laws, and in accordance with applicable standards of care, and to receive, 
process, dispose of and otherwise handle Solid Waste, and to receive other wastes 
allowed by IDEC and/or EPA. 

3.3 Commission's Responsibilities. Except as otherwise set :Drth in this Agreement, 
the Commission shall work in good faith with Contractor to facilitate Contractor's 
performance of its obligations hereunder, including without limitation the efforts 
to enhance the efficiency and capacity of the Landfill, and the intent of the parties. 
Subject to the Commission's reservations of rights set forth in this Agreerr:ent, 
including without limitation its right to operate a Demolition Waste landfill on the 
Landfill site pursuant to Subsection 5.S(b) of this Agreement, the Commission 
agrees that Contractor shall be entitled to use any and all facilities and resources 
on the Landfill. and on any other properties and interests acquired to support the 
Landfill, in order for Contractor to perrorm its obligation hereunder. To fulfill 
such responsibilities, the Commission agrees to exercise, at Contractor's 
reasonable expense, any and all lawful nieans available to it, including without 
limitation, the obtaining of all necessary permits, licenses and approvals, or any 
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amendments, modifications or supplements to existing permits, licenses and 
approvals, and the causing of any and all needed utilities to be available for the 
operation and/or development of the Landfill. To fulfill such responsibilities, the 
Commission agrees to exercise any and all lawful· means available to it, for the 
acquisition, at Contractor's reasonable expense, of additional interests in real 
estate, such as rights of ingress or egress, rights of way, easements, access to 
utilities, and soil for cover material. All interests purchased pursuant to this 
Section shall be titled to the Commission. 

3.4 Designated Representatives. The Commission designates the Chair of the 
Commission as the initial Contract Administrator, who shall serve as the 
Commission's primary liaison with the Contractor. The Contract Administrator 
shall be required to devote only the time and effort to the administration of this 
Agreement that the Commission shall require. The Commission may from time 
to time permanently change the designated Contract Administrator by providing 
the Contractor thirty (30) days advanced written notice. The Commission may 
from time to time temporarily change the designated Contract Administrator by 
providing the Contractor three (3) days advanced written notice (identifying the 
temporary Contract Administrator and setting the beginning and end of the 
temporary period). After the end of any such temporary designation period, the 
previously designated permanent Contract Administrator shall return to the 
position. Contractor also shall from time to time designate in writing an 
individual (the "Liaison Representative") to serve as its primary liaison with the 
Contract Administrator. The Liaison Representative shall administer this 
Agreement on behalf of Contractor. Instructions and/or representations from the 
Contract Administrator and the Liaison Representative shall be deemed to be 
instructions and/or representations from the Commission and the Contractor, 
respectively. The Contract Administrator is authorized by the Commission to 
execute any and all documents relating to the day-to-day performance of Work 
under this Agreement, provided, that such authorization does not apply to (a) 
applications for modifications and/or amendments to the Landfill Permit, or (b) 
amendments of this Agreement, unless either such circumstance is s~cifically 
authorized by the Commission and documented in its minutes. 

3.5 Agreement Period. 

(a) This Agreement shall be ·effective upon execution by the parties hereto, 
the Contractor shall commence the Work on or before the Commencement 
Date, and the term of this Agreement shall be for a term of twenty (20) 
years commencing from the Commencement Date and shall provide 
Commission with two (2) one-year extensfon periods, each of which may 
be exercised by the Commission's written notice received by Contractor at 
least 120 days prior to the Agreement's termination date, or (if applicable) 
the extension period's termination date. Except as provided in Subsection 
(b) below, the Contractor shall be required to provide a minimum of two 
(2) years' cell capacity at the end of the Agreement's initial term based on 
the average tonnages received during the two (2) years immediately 
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preceding the Agreement's termination (but in no event less than 120,000 
tons of capacity). 

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Agteement to the contrary, tre 
Commission shall 'have a unilateral right after the first three (3) Agreement 
Years to terminate this Agreement in the event the tonnages received at 
the Landfill should fall below 5,000 tons per month, based on a rolling six 
month average using the most recent six months, or below 60,000 tons per 
any fiscal year of the Commission (either event hereafter being referred to 
as a "Early Termination Event"). In such event, for a period of 365 days 
immediately following the Early Termination Event, the Commission shall 
have the right in its so 1 e discretion to ten:ninate this Agreement by 
providing a written termination notice to the Contractor at least sixty (60) 
days prior to the date of termination; provided that such right to terminate 
shall require the prior written consent of the Contractor if during the Early 
Termination Event the Commission continues to receive the minimum 
Host Fee pursuant to Section 10.6 of this Agreerrent and the Contractor 
reasonably determines that the Landfill continues to be financially viable. 
Commission's decision or failure to terminate this Agreement in the event 
of an Early Termination Event shall not affect its right of termination for 
any later Early Termination Event. During any period in which the 
Commission shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement following an 
Early Termination Event, the Contractor shall not be required to construct 
new cells in the Landfill or otherwise expand the Landfill to extend its life 
beyond the possible early temlination date of this Agreement, unless the 
Commission gives the Contractor a waiver of its early termination right 
for that respective Early Termination Event. 

( c) In the event that the Commission is dissolved, one or more of the Area 
Governmental Users withdraws from the Commission, or the Commission 
is otherwise rendered unable to fully perform under this Agreement, and 
one or more of the Area Governmental Users either fail to continue the 
Commission or do not fully and directly assume the obligations of the 
Commission and, in either event, honor the rights of the Contractor under 
this Agreement, the Contractor may terminate this Agreement early, upon 
sixty (60) days prior written notice to the Commission. Termination under 
this Subsection will not impair the Contractor's rights to enforce the terms 
of this Agreement or its rights hereunder. 

IV. PERMITTING AND LICENSING 

4.1 Permits. The Contractor shall be responsible, at its expense, for procuring, 
modifying and renewing all permits, orders and licenses req.iired for the Landfill 
to be fully operational as of the Commencement Date. All permits, orders and 
licenses applicable to the Landfill shall be issued in the name of the Commission. 
The Contractor shall materially comply with the provisions of all such permits, 
orders and licenses. The Commission shall supply to the Contractor a copy of all 
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permits, orders and licenses and TDEC waste discharge requirements for the 
Landfill, including without limitation any and all documents, instruments and 
other writings concerning and/or related to the Commission's efforts to maintain 
and/or modify the Landfill Permit. The Commission agrees to cooperate with the 
Contractor in the review and approval of any proposed changes to the Landfill 
Permit or other modifications to the Landfill so long as the proposed· change or 
modification does not materially adversely affect the Commission. Subject to the 
foregoing, the Commission agrees to support and assist the Contractor in 
obtaining any and all permits or permit amendments/modifications necessary 
hereunder. The Commission will timely cooperate with Contractor in the 
scheduling of and having appropriate representatives available for public hearings 
and meetings in connection with the approval of the modification of the Landfill 
Permit. 

4.2 Title to Landfills and Permits. At all times hereunder, title to the Landfill and 
all applicable permits shall remain in the name of the Commission. 

V. OPERATION, ADMINISTRATION AND MAINTENAl'l"CE OF LANDFILL 

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Contractor shall, at its expense, conduct the 
Work, including, but not limited to, the specific items listed below: 

5.1 Required Reporting and Minutes. The Contractor shall report monthly to the 
Commission on its operations and, unless otherwise excused by Commission, 
shall send an employee or representative familiar with Contractor's operations at 
the Landfill to attend· all meetings of the Commission, including all regular 
meetings and any special called meetings and workshops. A monthly operations 
report shall be submitted to the Commission at its regular meetings, or by mail to 
the members of the Commission if no regular meeting is held for a particular 
month. The monthly operations report shall also be promptly mailed or delivered 
by the Contractor to each member of the Commission who is not in attendance at 
the meeting at which the report is presented. The monthly operations report shall 
include the following reports and information for the reporting period: (i) 
Tonnage Report showing the total amount of tons received and the source of such 
tonnage and respective fees charged therefore; (ii) Inspections Report detailing 
any inspection activity, findings and responses to any inspections conducted by 
regulatory authorities, including copies of any inspections reports issued by such 
authorities; (iii) Tire Report showing the tonnages of tires received; (iv) 
Engineering and Legal Report providing the estimated capacity of the active cells 
at the Landfill (which shall be based on an annual physical or aerial survey and 
estimated monthly during the interim based on the tonnages received) and any 
significant engineering or legal issues of cone.em relative to the operations of the 
Landfill that the Contractor becomes aware of during the reporting period 
including without limitation notice of any litigation filed during the period 
involving the Landfill or arising from its operations; (v) financial report showing 
the calculation of fees required to be paid under this Agreement to the 
Commission; and (vi) such additional information or reports as are required to 
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properly inform the Commission of the ongoing operations and management of 
the Landfill by Contractor under this Agreement. 

Contractor shall also be responsible for preparing a set of draft minutes of all 
meetings of the Commission for submittal to the members of the Commission 
prior to its next regular meeting. The minutes shall be prepared in the form 
reasonably required by the Commission. 

Each calendar year, the Contractor shall also timely prepare and submit for 
Commission approval, the Annual Solid Waste Report required to be filed with 
TDEC. The Contractor shall also be responsible for timely filing the report with 
the proper regulatory authority upon its approval by the Commission. 

On or. before February 1 of each year during the term of this Agreement, 
Contractor shall report to the Commission the compaction and density achieved 
and air space used during preceding calendar year, as well as the remaining air 
space capacity of the Landfill (only the permitted portion) as of the end of such 
fiscal year. Contractor may provide the same report it provides to TDEC in . 
satisfaction of this requirement. 

Contractor shall provide to the Commission or its designee a copy of all reports 
filed with TDEC with respect to the status of Contractor's operations and 
compliance with the Landfill Permit and other required pennits and licenses, and 
maintain at the Landfill a copy of such reports as well as a copy of the Landfill 
Permit and any other required permits or licenses for operation of the Landfill. 

Contractor shall report to the Contract Administrator any violations of the 
Landfill Permit or applicable law with respect to which it has received notice, and 
with respect to such ,violations occasioned by acts or omissions of Contractor, 
report all action taken or to be taken to correct such violations within seventy-two 
(72) hours after receipt of notice of violation. Contractor shall also furnish to the 
Contract Administrator all written reports and evaluations of the operation of the 
Landfill received by Contractor from TDEC or any other regulatory authority as a 
result of any inspection of the Landfill and the responses of Contractor. 

5.2 Hours of Operation. Haulers and the public shall only deliver Solid Waste at the 
Landfill according to the hours set forth in this Section and the days and hours set 
forth by law and in all relevant permits. Subject to the foregoing, the Landfill will 
be open for business, at a minimum, 1vfonday through Friday from 7:00 a.m. to 
3:00 p.m., and on Saturdays between 7:00 a.m io 12:00 noon, Eastern Time. The 
Landfill may be closed on New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. The Contractor shall obtain 
prior written approval from the Contract Administrator if the Contractor 
temporarily reduces the operating hours below the above-stated minimum. The 
Contractor shall obtain prior written approval from the Commission if the 
Contractor permanently reduces the operating hours below the above-stated 
minimum. The Contractor shall be at the Landfill operating during scheduled 
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hours and such additional time as necessary to fulfill the requirem:mts of the 
Agreement. 

5.3 Personnel and Customer Service. The Contractor shall assign personnel to 
perform operations at the Landfill on such days and during such hours that Solid 
Waste is being delivered and .disposed of on the premises, as may be reasonably 
required to assure a smooth and efficient operation. The Contractor shall employ 
for the Work only such superintendents, supervisors and workers who are careful; 
competent, and fully qualified to perform the duties or tasks assigned to them, 
including the operation of equipment, and shall dismiss any person err.ployed by 
the Contractor, who in performance of the Work, engages in misconduct, or is 
incompetent, dishonest, or neglectful in the proper perfonmnce of his or her 
duties, or who neglects or refuses to corrply with or carry out the directions of the 
Contractor. Contractor's superintendents must: (a) Work at the Landfill full-time; 
(b) obtain and maintain all legally required certifications and comply with all 
other legal or regulatory requirements. Tre Contractor shall file with the Contract 
Administrator the names, addresses and telephone numbers of· the Liaison 
Representative and any other authorized representatives of the Contractor who 
can be contacted at any time regarding the Contractor's Landfill operations. 
These authorized representatives must maintain offices within the County and be 
fully authorized and be equipped to respond to reasonable requests of the Contrapt 
Administrator. If the Contract Administrator finds it necessary to give directions 
to assure compliance with the provisions of this Agreement, the Contract 
Administrator shall give such directions in writing to the authorized representative 
of the Contractor. 

Contractor shall provide its employees involved with the Work with adequate 
training to perform the job responsibilities assigned to them and to assure their 
safety in the performance of their work activity. Contractor's employees shall be 
required to wear a clean uniform bearing the Contractor's name. Such employees 
shall additionally bear some means of individual identification as a name tag or 
identification card. At no time shall a Contractor's employee in any way identify 
or represent him/herself as an employee of the Commission. Contractor shall also 
abide by all applicable federal, state and local laws .and regulations pertaining to 
employment, employee selection, compensation, and such other matters as relate 
to the performance of the Work. 

Contractor shall provide good customer service to its customers in accordance 
with generally accepted standards for the operation of a Landfill and treat all 
customers fairly and endeavor to respond to customer corrplaints in a timely and 
reasonable manner. Contractor shall post information at tre Landfill about how to 
lodge a complaint. The Contractor shall notify the Commission monthly of 
complaints received at the Landfill. 

5.4 Landfill Monitoring. During the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall 
establish, maintain, test and analyze all groundwater monitoring wells in 
conformance with the Landfill Permit and all other requirements or orders of 
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TDEC. Contractor shall be responsible for all regulatory compliance during this 
Agreement, such as monitoring well installations and rmintenance thereof, 
whether related to an existing or new monitoring well station and whether 
required by the Landfill Permit or regulatory action. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, except as may be provided by Subsection 12.3(a), in no event shall 
Contractor be responsible for the investigation and/or remediation under any 
federal, state or local law, including without limitation the federal and state 
"superfund," hazardous waste, air pollution or water pcllution laws. 

5.5 Leachate Collection; Methane and Salvage Rights. 

(a) The Contractor shall provide a passive landfill gas monitoring program for 
methane migration as required by applicable law. The Contractor shall 
maintain an on-site leachate collection system for the removal of leachate 
from the Landfill. The Contractor shall be responsible for the actions of 
removal, storage, handling, transportation, and disposal of leachate 
generated by the Landfill. The Commission shall use its rea;;onable efforts 
to assist Contractor in maintaining a cost effective means of leachate 
removal, storage, handling, transportation and disposal; provided, that the 
maintenance, replacement and improvement thereof shall be at 
Contractor's expense. 

(b) The Commission expressly retains all (i) rights to operate a 
Demolition Waste landfill on the Landfill site (in cell(s) separate from the 
sanitary landfill cells comprising the Landfill); (ii) salvage or recycling 
rights with respect to Solid Waste at the Landfill, and (iii) all methane gas 
rights and related beneficial use of such gas resulting from Landfill 
operations (collectively, the "Reserved Rights"); provided, that any 
exploitation of any such Reserved Rights by the Commission shall not (i) 
be performed in a manner that wi11 unreasonably interfere with 
Contractor's Work; (ii) increase the costs of performance of Contractor's 
obligations under this Agreement without adequate compensation; or (iii) 
otherwise impede Contractor's ability to perform hereunder. The 
Contractor shall have no entitlement to the same and is prohibited from 
exploiting any such Reserved Rights without the prior written consent of 
the Commission; except to the extent necessary for Contractor to comply 
with applicable law. Contractor has a right of first refusal to participate in 
each and every Reserved Rights operations by the Commission on 
substantially similar terms to that being offere.d by the Commission to any 
other contractor or service provider; and, if such right of first refusal is 
exercised, the Contractor shall be entitled to be the exclusive provider of 
such services to the Commission. Excep; as may be mutually agreed to 
between .the parties in a separate written agreement, the Contractor shall 
have no obligations to perform services or incur costs related to or arising 
from the Reserved Rights, and any su::h activities by or on behalf of the 
Commission shall not unreasonably interfere with Contractor's operations 
at the Landfill. 
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5.6 Use of Landfill and Facility Accessibility. 

(a) Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Commission hereby grants to 
the Contractor the exclusive right of possession and control of the Landfill 
and all improvements thereon, and Contractor may utilize during the tenn 
of this Agreement at no charge, any and all of the natural resources of the 
Landfill property, including without limitation the rights to minerals, the 
rights to crops and timber, and all rights to and use of soils for cove:; 
provided, that Contractor shall not commit waste. Contractor shall 
maintain buildings, structures, and all ·other facilities, including the entry 
gate, scale, fences and other barriers, and other structures and 
improvements reasonably required for the operation of the Landfill in 
accordance with the Landfill Pennit or by TDEC. Contractor shall not be 
required to fence the Landfill but will maintain all existing fences in good 
condition. All permanent real property improvements to the Landfill 
made by the Contractor during the term of this Agreement shall remain on 
the property and become the property of the Commission after the term of 
this Agreement, except to the extent that such improvements must be 
removed to conduct Closure. 

(b) Upon written notice from the Contract Administrator, Contractor shall 
have the authority to and in its discretion may deny access to the entity or 
person designated in such notice, whether for non-payn:ent of charges, 
attempts to deliver Unacceptable Waste, or any other valid reason. 
Contractor shall ensure that the Landfill is accessible during normal 
operation hours to Comrnissi~n, state and federal officials for any purpose, 
including inspection, official tours or any other reasonable activity as 
determined by the Contract Administrator to be appropriate. The 
Contractor shall promptly notify the Contract Administrator of any 
inspections by EPA and/or State Regulatory Agencies. 

(c) The Contractor is responsible for taking commercially reasonable steps to 
provide 24-hour site security, 365-days a year, to avoid unauthorized site 
entry and or facility misuse; provided that the Contractor shall not be 
responsible for security breaches resulting from the Commission's use of 
the Landfill pursuant to its reservations of rights under this Agreement. 
The Contractor shall not allow scavenging or salvage operations at the 
Landfill unless (i) the person doing so has the approval of the Contractor, 
TDEC and the Commission, (ii) such operations do no impede the normal 
routine disposal operations, and (iii) such operations are conducted by 
personnel working under the immediate and direct control of Contractor. 

(d) The Commission, or its designated agent, shall have the right to inspect 
the Landfill during all operating hours and at such other times as may be 
deemed necessary to protect the interests of the Commission. This right to 
inspect and audit the Landfill includes, but is not limited to the inspection 
of loads, scales, monitoring records, and all other records Contractor is 
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required to maintain, including without limitation, InJUry and 
environmental incident reports and such other environmental or 
contractual compliance related records as the Commission deems 
necessary or as required by applicable regulatory authority. During 
groundwater or other monitoring, the Commission may have a 
representative present to inspect Contractor's procedures and to receive 
split samples for independent testing, at Commission's expense. In 
addition to the foregoing, the Commission shall have the right, on prior 
written notice to Contractor, to require Contractor to conduct such 
procedures and acquire such samples from permit monitoring points or 
other monitoring points required by regulatory authorities, including 
groundwater and gas monitoring wells, at such times and in such manner 
as it deems necessary, provided any such discretionary inspections (not 
required by the Landfill Permit or regulatory authorities) shall not interfere 
with Contractor's operations and shall be at the Commission's sole cost 
and expense. In order to insure that the Contractor meets or exceeds all 
contractual obligations under this Agreement, the Commission shall have 
the right to review and approve (which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld) all proposed design, construction and operational plans, pennit 
applications or other documents that are submitted to regulatory 
authorities, including requests for modifications, addenda or other 
additions. Contractor shall promptly provide to the Commission all such 
information and supporting data requested for review. 

5. 7 Litter, Dust and Noise Control: Open Burning. The Contractor shall use all 
reasonable efforts to maintain and keep free of litter and other foreign material all 
areas within the Landfill and on all Access Roads within ore-quarter mile of the 
gate to the Landfill. Contractor shall, in accordance with industry standards, be 
solely responsible for maintaining the Landfill in a clean, vector-free, and sanitary 
condition (normal wear and tear excepted). The Contractor shall furnish, 
maintain and use such dust control equipmmt as may be reasonably necessary to 
protect employees, the public and adjacent properties and to minimize the creation 
of dust at the Landfill. No open burning on the Landfill shall be permitted unless 
specific approval of the Contract Administrator has been received. 

5.8 Wind Screens (Temporarv). The Contractor shall furnish portable wind screens 
which Contractor shall use during periods of high wind to contain blowing waste, 
such as paper and other light debris. Suitable equipment and adequate personnel 
shall be provided to collect windblown waste, as needed, to keep the screens 
cleared of such waste and to relocate screens cleared of such waste. 

5.9 Placement and Compaction of Solid Waste. Unless otherwise required by the 
State Regulatory Agencies and confirmed by the Contract Administrator, all Solid 
Waste delivered to the disposal area shall be placed, compacted, and covered 
daily by the Contractor in a manner to best achieve operating efficiencies and 
maximum obtainable densities, including utilizing such techniques as spoils 
disposal, relocation of roads and the sequencing of space utilization within each 
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major disposal cell. Contractor reserves the right to use synthetic or any other 
acceptable alternative daily cover, per TDEC regulations. 

5.10 Demolition Waste.· Demolition Waste may be placed in the sanitary fill area at 
the Landfill. 

5.11 Unacceptable Waste Procedures. The Contractor shall exert all reasonable 
efforts to enforce applicable laws, regulations and orders regarding the unlawful 
disposal of Unacceptable Wastes at the Landfill, and to prevent deposits of 
Unacceptable Waste at the Landfill, and to prevent the burying of any 
Unacceptable Waste at the Landfill other than those permitted by TDEC and 
permitted by this Agreement. It is recognized that s01re Unacceptable Wastes, 
including Hazardous and Infectious Waste, may occasionally be unloaded at the 
Landfill by waste generators and Haulers. The Contractor shall train appropriate 
employees to recognize such Unacceptable Waste and shall use diligent efforts to 
observe the procedures set forth below: 

(a) The active operation of unloading, compacting and covering Solid Waste 
shall be suspended in the immediate vicinity of the identified 
Unacceptable Waste. Safety measures shall be instituted as necessary. 

(b) If the vehicle that transported the Unacceptable Waste can be identified 
and is still at the Landfill, the Contractor's employees shall record the 
license number and any other identifying signs or features of the vehicle 
and shall request the operator of the vehicle to remain at the Landfill, and 
shall immediately notify TDEC and the other agencies and officials as 
required by law. The Contractor's employees shall endeavor to get the 
operator of the vehicle that delivered the Unacceptable Waste to take 
appropriate actions to dispose properly of the Unacceptable Waste. 
Regardless of Contractor's success in having the offending party remove 
the Unacceptable Waste, Contractor shall make formal demand upon the 
responsible party that it remove the Unacceptable Waste or any portion 
remaining from the Landfill in accordance with procedures approved by 
TDEC. 

( c) If no responsible party can be identified or if a responsible party refuses to 
remove and properly dispose of Unacceptable Waste delivered to or 
deposited at the Landfill, the Contractor shall remove the Unacceptable 
Waste from the Landfill cells within forty-eight (48) hours of the 
discovery of such Unacceptable Waste, and thereafter promptly and 
properly dispose of the Unacceptable Waste at its costs with full right of 
recovery against the responsible party. The Commission hereby assigns to 
Contractor any and ·an of its cost recovery rights under CERCLA, 42 
U.S.C. § 9601 et seq., against such responsible party when Contractor 
removes and disposes of such Unacceptable Waste. 
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( d) The Contractor shall generate a written report on each discovery of 
Unacceptable Waste and notify the Contract Administrator by telephone 
as soon as possible and in any evert ·within seventy-two (72) hours of 
discovery. The report shall include dorumentation of interviews with all 
of the Contractor's employees and others who witnessed the illegal 
dumping and/or discovered the Unacceptable Waste. The written report 
shall include descriptions of the suspected vehicle(s), operators of the 
vehicles, and other information. The report shall indicate the procedures 
taken by the Contractor to remedy the problem. The Contractor agrees to 
cooperate and make employees available for any investigation, civil 
litigation or criminal proceedings regarding the delivery of Unacceptable 
Waste. 

5.12 Load Checking. Contractor shall operate a program of spot-checking loads of 
Solid Waste delivered to the Landfill in compliance with all applicable laws, 
regulations and ordinances. 

5.13 Tire Disposal Program. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, the 
Contractor shall administer and operate on behalf of the Commission a tire 
collection and disposal program at the Landfill throughout the term of the 
Agreement. The tire collection and disposal program shall conform to all 
applicable laws and shall to the e;xtent possible be administered and operated in 
such a manner as to allow Loudon County and/or the Commission to continue 
receiving grants from the State of Tennessee for such program. Any grants 
received by the Commission from the State of Tennessee during the term of this 
Agreement for periods of time when the Contractor is administering and operating 
the program for the Commission shall be promptly reported to the Contractor by 
the Commission, and Contractor shall be given a credit in an armunt equal to the 
grant received by the Commission against any future host fees to be paid to the 
Commission by Contractor under this Agreement. The credit shall be applied to 
any host fees due the Commission by the Contractor for the month first f>llowing 
the Commission's receipt of the grant funds. The Commission neither warrants 
nor guarantees that any future grants are available from the State of Tennessee for 
such program or that Loudon County or the Commission shall be entitled to the 
same under the terms of this Agreement. Whether or not any such grants are 
available, and notwithstanding the amount of such grants in the future, Contractor 
shall continue to be responsible for administering and operating the tire disposal 
program in accordance with the remaining requirements of this Section. The 
Commission will cooperate with the Contractor and use reasonable efforts to 
apply for and obtain any available grants for such program. Notwithstanding the 
above stated requirements of this Section, the Commission reserves the right to 
terminate the Contractor's obligation to accept and dispose of tires that are 
delivered to the Landfill upon ninety (90) days written notice to Contractor. Such 
right of termination may be exercised from time to ti:tre throughout the term of 
this Agreement. In the event of any such termination, Contractor shall resume its 
tire acceptance and disposal services at the Landfill upon 120 days prior notice to 
the Contractor by the Commission. Such resumed services shall be commenced 
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by the Contractor without any startup charge, implementation fee or other expense 
to the Commission except for its right to a future credit against host fees as 
provided above. 

5.14 Flow Limitations and Special Restrictions. Unless otherwise expressly 
permitted in writing by the Commission, the Contractor shall not be permitted to 
accept more than 800 tons of waste per day at the Landfill, as calculated on a 
daily average for any running thirty (30) day period. Contractor shall also be 
prohibited from accepting waste at the Landfill that is transported from a location 
that is outside a radius of 150 miles from the Landfill without the prior written 
approval of the Commission. Contractor is also prohibitro from accepting sanitary 
sewage sludge at the Landfill, unless previously authorized by the Commission 
under terms and conditions prescribed by the Commission. Contractor shall 
provide such periodic reports as may be reasonably requested by the Commission 
to verify Contractor's compliance with these flow and waste restrictions. 

5.15 Surface Drainage. All surface drainage at the Landfill shall comply at all times 
with all applicable regulatory requirements and all applicable permits. Due to the 
configuration of the side slopes, surface runoff flowing from above the working 
level must be directed. around the perimeter of the area being filled. Unless 
otherwise required by applicable regulations or the Landfill Permit, the top of the 
working level shall be sloped toward either one or both side slopes at a minimum 
of two percent (2%) and not exceed five percent (5%). 

5.16 Restriction of Certain Wastes. The Commission reserves the right to regulate or 
restrict any and all Special Waste disposed of at the Landfill that causes any 
abnormal or unusual smells or creates a public safety concern such that the 
continued disposal of such Special Waste would (a) result in obnoxious odors to 
the surrounding neighbors of the Landfill, (b) create adverse facility conditions 
that were outside of the Landfill's prior operating history, or (c) pose a public 
safety threat, all as reasonably determined by the Commission. 

VI. ACCESS AND SAFETY 

6.1 Haul Roads and Service Roads. It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to 
provide and maintain, at its expense, all Haul Roads and Service Roads within the 
Landfill required for the purposes of transporting Solid Waste to the actual point 
of disposal, or transporting earth materials for fill within the property, and such 
other roads within the Landfill as may be required for its convenience. Haul 
Roads shall be well maintained and shall provide safe all-weather access at all 
times. 

6.2 Access Roads. As of the date of this Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges 
that access to the Landfill is adequate to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement. The Commission shall cooperate with the Contractor to maintain 
adequate Access Road(s) for ingress to an.d egress from the Landfill. The 
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Contractor shall not be responsible for the maintenance of public roads outside the 
Landfill property. 

6.3 Fire Protection. The Contractor shall have the right to use and maintain existing 
water lines and/or water storage at the Landfill as may be required for fire 
fighting. Contractor shall be responsible for payment of utilities on the Landfill 
(if operating the same) incidental to operation. In the event of a fire, the 
Contractor shall immediately notify the local fire fighting agency, and shall 
diligently work to extinguish the fire. 

6.4 Access to Tipping Area. The Contractor shall ensure that vehicles may have 
clear and safe access to the tipping areas at all tines. 

6.5 Signs and Traffic. The Contractor shall provide and maintain all existing and 
future signs displaying rules applicable to the Landfill in a clean and readable 
condition. The Contractor shall provide and maintain signs for the convenience 
of the vehiCles using the Landfill and for safe and eff:cient traffic flow to and 
from the tipping areas. 

6.6 Gate Control. Contractor shall provide a gate control program at the Landfill as 
required by applicable state regulations. 

VII. DEVELOPMENT OF LANDFILL FACILITY 

7.1 Contractor's Responsibilitv. The Contractor shall, at its cost, develop the 
Landfill in accordance with the Landfill Permit and shall obtain all licenses, 
permits and approvals necessary to construct and operate the Landfill on behalf of 
the Commission. The Landfill, as it is developed, will continue to be owned by 
the Commission and all permits fur this facility shall be issued in the name of the 
Commission. 

7.2 Commission's Responsibility. The Commission shall, as needed, and at 
Contractor's reasonable expense, assist the Contractor (a) in obtaining any and all 
permits, licenses and approvals necessary or advantageous to construct and 
operate the Landfill in accordance with the Landfill Permit, and (b) to acquire any 
property interests (e.g., soil and other cover material, rights-of-way, easements, 
rights of ingress and egress) necessary or advantageous to construct and operate 
the Landfill, and to dispose of Solid Waste at the Landfill. The Commission shall 
exercise any and all of its rights to provide such assistance to Contractor. 

7.3 Contractor's Rights. Subject to Section 5.5(b) of this Agreement, the Contractor 
may design and construct the Landfill in its discretion using the property within 
the Landfill boundaries, as long as Contractor corr.plies with all laws and the 
Landfill Permit. The Contractor may contract for and accept any and all Solid 
Waste for disposal at the Landfill as expanded; provided it complies with all laws, 
rules and regulations governing the Landfill and the terms of this Agreement. 
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7.4 Compliance with Contracting Law for Improvements. Prior to the 
commencement of any portion of the Work at the Landfill that constitutes a public 
work as contemplated by T.C.A. § 12-4-201, the Contractor shall provide the 
Commission with a payment bond for the payment of all labor and materials in 
the amount of one hundred percent ( 100%) of the contract amount for such work. 
The bond shall be issued in compliance wi~ T.C.A. § 12-4-201 et seq. and in a 
form satisfactory to the Commission by a surety licensed to do business in the 
state of Tennessee. Bonds will be accepted only from sureties on the current U.S. 
Treasury list of approved sureties as published in the U.S. Treasury Department 
Circular 570. A valid Power of Attorney must be attached to the bond. 

VIII. CLOSURE OF LANDFILL 

8.1 Final Cleanup. Upon completion of this Agreement or Closure of the Landfill, 
the Contractor shall remove from, and dispose of, all surplus and discarded 
materials, rubbish, temporary structures, construction equipment and debris which 
may have accumulated at or upon the Landfill during the term of this Agreement. 

8.2 Closure/Post-Closure Care of Existing Landfill. The Contractor shall be 
responsible for compliance and all costs associated with interim closure 
requirements under the Solid Waste Laws with respect to those cells receiving 
Solid Waste during the term of this Agreement. The Contractor shall be 
responsible for compliance with Post-Closure Care for all closed portions of the 
Landfill during the term of this Agreement. After the term of this Agreement, the 
Commission shall assume responsibility for Post-Closure Care. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, except as may be provided by Subsection 12.3(a), in no event shall 
Contractor be responsible for the investigation and/or remediation under any 
federal, state or local law, including without limitation the federal and state 
"superfund," hazardous waste, air pollution or water pcllution laws. 

8.3 Financial Assurances. The Commission acknowledges that the bond/security 
requirements of the State of Tennessee for the Closure and Post-Closure Care of 
Phases I and II/IV of the Landfill are currently the responsibility of the 
Commission, which with the pledge of the County's share of state taxes, is in 
compliance with all current state requirements relating to Closure/Post-Closure 
Care security. The Commission will continue to meet such annual financial 
assurance obligations with the State during the term of this Agreement. Any 
increased bonding requirements related to the opening of new phases of the 
Landfill beyond Phase II/IV by the Contractor during the term of this Agreement 
resulting from a modification of the existing Landfill Permit shall be the 
responsibility of the Contractor. 

8.4 Early Termination of Agreement. In the event that this Agreement is 
terminated during and/or prior to the end of the Landfill's operational life, the 
Commission shall immediately assume full responsibility for Closure and Post- · 
Closure Care for the Landfill. Upon such tennination, Contractor shall be 
relieved of any further responsibility for Closure of and Post-Closure Care for the 
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Landfill. If the early termination is exercised by the Contractor pursuant to 
Subsection 3 .5( c) of this Agreement, then the Contractor shall conduct Closure on 
any portion of the Landfill that has accepted waste, unless the Commission 
provides written instructions to the Contractor to not conduct such activities 
within sixty ( 60) days of the termination of the Agreement. 

IX. DEFAULT 

(a) fu addition to any other right of termination provided for under this Agreerrent, if 
the Contractor: 

(i) Violates any provision or condition of this Agreement; 

(ii) Fails to begin the Work under this Agreement within the time specified 
therein; 

(iii) Fails to perform the Work with sufficient workers and equipment or with 
sufficient materials to assure the prompt and proper execution of the 
Work; 

(iv) Fails to perform the Work suitably or neglects or refuses to remove 
materials or to perform anew such Work as may be rejected as 
unacceptable and unsuitable; 

(v) Discontinues the prosecution of Work; 

(vi) Fails to resume Work which has been discontinued within a reasonable 
time after notice to do so; 

(vii) Fails to maintain the required contract performance security or to timely 
increase the amount of such security upon notice from the Commission; 

(viii) Dissolves, becomes insolvent or is declared bankrupt, or commits any act 
ofbanlauptcy or insolvency; 

(ix) Makes an assignment for the benefit of creditor; or 

(x) If any other cause whatsoever, fails to carry on the Work as required by 
this Agreement, the Commission will give notice to the Contractor as 
follows: 

1. A verbal notification from the Contract Administrator to the 
Contractor (documented by the Commission) that one or more of 
the above infractions have occurred; and 

2.. A written notification from the Commission stating the 
infraction(s), as were given in tre verbal notification, and that if 
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such infractions cannot be corrected the Commission will proceed 
to take full power and authority from the Contractor for default of 
this Agreement. A copy of such notification shall be sent to the 
Contractor's surety. 

(b) The Contractor or its surety shall, within a period of ten (10) days after such 
notice, proceed to initiate cure of the noticed infractions in accordance therewith. 

( c) An "Event of Default" occurs when Contractor fails to materially perform any 
provisions of this Agreement including, but not limited to the items listed in 
clause (a) above, and Contractor fails to cure its default within forty-five (45) 
days after its receipt of the written rotification by the Commission as provided in 
clause (a) above; provided, that if such default cannot be cured within forty-five 
(45) days, an Event of Default does not occur ifthe Contractor promptly initiates 
steps to cure the default and diligently pursues correcting the default until cure is 
achieved, which cure must be achieved as soon as practicable, but in no event 
more than one hundred-eighty (180) days after the Commission's written notice. 
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Commission shall have the right, 
in addition to any other rights and remedies as provided in Section (f) below, to 
terminate this Agreement by sixty (60) days written notice to Contractor, and in 
the alternative has the right, but not the obligation, to cure said event of defuult, at 
Contractor's expense. 

( d) In the event the Commission terminates this Agreement as provided in Section ( c) 
of this Article IX, the Commission shall have the right to assume control over tre 
operations on the Landfill, and aII or a portion of the Performance Security shall 
be forfeited to the Commission to the extent of actual darmges. 

(e) Contractor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in the event of a 
material breach of this Agreement by the Commission, which, after forty-five (45) 
days following written notice from Contractor, has not been cured. 

(f) The rights and remedies of the parties provided in this Article IX shall not be 
exclusive, and are in addition to any oiher rights and remedies provided by law or 
under this Agreement. Failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or 
remedy granted to it hereunder for previous default shall not constitute a waiver to 
exercise any right or remedy granted to it hereunder in the event of a subsequent 
default. 

X. REVENUE COLLECTION & COMPENSATION 

10.1 Revenue Collection; Billing. Subject to the Commission's Reserved Rights and 
the revenue related thereto, the Contractor will be responsible for and have the 
right of collection of all revenue, including tipping fees, for use of the Landfill. 
The Contractor will be responsible for the operation of the entry gate to the 
Landfill, scale house and computer in acca:dance with the permit and applicable 
law, collect cash at the Landfill, and for the billing and collecting of all revenue 
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for the disposal of waste at the Landfill under its control. The Contractor will be 
responsible for the payment of all state or federal fees and/or surcharges assessed 
on such waste. 

The Contractor shall bill the Area Governmental Users on a monthly basis for 
service rendered within ten (10) calendar days following the end of the calendar 
month for which the services are provided, and the Area Governmental User shall 
pay the Contractor on or before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of the next 
month without incurring any penalties or interest (e.g., an invoice for services 
rendered in March shall be issued by April 10th and shall be paid by May 15th). 
Such billing and payment shall be based on the rates permitted by this Agreement. 

10.2 Service Fee. Contractor shall receive all revenue, fees, charges, assessments or 
other income collected for activities conducted at the Landfill under its control, 
from and after the Commencement Date, as Contractor's fees for services 
rendered under this Agreement. 

10.3 Tipping Fees and Other Charges. The Contractor shall assess reasonable per 
ton tipping fees to all users of the Landfill during the term of this Agreement so as 
to adequately perform the Work. Such tipping fees shall comply with the 
requirements of this Section and shall include a general tipping fee, an Area 
Government Users tipping fee, and custom tipping fees for volume users and 
Special Wastes. The per ton general tipping fee shall reflect market conditions for 
the area and be charged to all users including the general public except for Area 
Governmental Users and those users who are charged a custom tipping fee as 
provided in this Section. For at least the initial two Agreement Years, the general 
tipping fee shall be $28.00. Area Governmental Users shall be charged a 
discounted general tipping fee that for at least the initial two Agreement Years 
shall be $19.85. Contractor may discount its general tipping fee to volume users 
or for Special Waste in accordance with area market conditions but shall report 
such discounts to the Commission each year. Once established, the general 
tipping fee and the Area Governmental Users tipping fee shall only be changed 
during the term of this Agreement in accordance with the changes in the cost of 
doing business, as measured by fluctuation in the Consumer Price Index (CPI), as 
further described hereinafter. The general tipping fee and the Area Governmental 
Users tipping fee shall each be adjusted as of each July 1 following the initial two 
Agreement Years, to reflect increases, if any, during the previous twelve (12) 
month period ending on each May 31, in the Consumer Price Index, all urban 
users, as issued by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United States Department 
of Labor (the "Price Index"). Such adjusted rates shall each be established for the 
next twelve (12) months, based on the result of multiplying the then current rate 
for each by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the Price Index ending on 
May 31 immediately preceding the July 1 for which the rates are to be adjusted, 
and the denominator of which shall be the Price Index ending on May 31 for the 
previous year: 
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current rate X Price Index for May 31 of current year 
Price Index for May 31 of preceding year 

In the event that the parties mutually agree in good faith that the Price Index 
ceases to incorporate. a significant number of items, or if a substantial change is 
made in the method of establishing the Price Index, then the Price Index used 
herein shall be adjusted to the figure that would have resulted had no change 
occurred in the matter of computing the Price Index. In tre event that an index 
(or a successor or substitute index) is not available, a reliable governmental or 
other non-partisan publication evaluating the information thereto for use in 
determining this Agreement's Price Index shall be used in lieu of the consurrer 
price index. 

Subject to the other requirements of this Section, increases to the general tipping 
fee and the Area Governmental Users in excess of the Price Index, or adjustments 
to such fees at any time during the term of this Agreement other than that 
provided for above, may be authorized by the Commission only after the 
Contractor's filing of a petition for extraordinary relief with Commission 
containing such facts and information as the Commission may reasonably require 
to consider and decide whether such extraordinary relief is warranted under the 
circumstances. The Commission shall consider and decide all matters related to 
any such petition in its sole discretion and shall have no obligation to grant any 
relief under any circumstance; provided, that such decision by the Commission 
shall not otherwise affect the Contractor's rights under this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor may also obtain from the Contract 
Administrator approval of a tipping fee for any Special Wastes in excess of the 
general tipping fee at any time during the term of this Agreement other than that 
provided for above. Such increases for Special Waste may be authorized by the 
Contract Administrator only after the Contractor's provision of such facts and 
information as the Contract Administrator may reasonably require to consider and 
decide whether such extraordinary relief is warranted under the circumstances. 
The Contract Administrator shall consider and decide all matters related to any 
such Special Waste request in his or her sole discretion and shall have no 
obligation to grant any relief under any circumstance; provided, that such decision 
by the Contract Administrator shall not otherwise affect the Contractor's rights 
under this Agreement. Contractor shall report all such increases for Special 
Waste to the Commission each year at the time it reports its discounted tipping 
fees as required above. 

The Commission agrees that any rate iocreases requested by Contractor in the 
event that federal, state, or local laws, rules, regulations or ordinances become 
effective after (or have been construed differently subsequent to) the 
Commencement Date, and such effect and/or interpretation results in a materially 
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adverse impact on the Contractor, shall oe rate increases that are reasonably 
requested. 

The Commission shall not impose, approve or advocate the imposition py the 
County or any local governments with the County of, any surcharge, fee, duty, tax 
or other charge upon the operation or management of the Landfill. In the event 
that such charges are imposed, in addition to any rights available to it under this 
Agreement or under applicable law, the Commission agrees that any rate 
increases requested by Contractor in response to such surcharge, fee, duty, tax, or 
other charge the Contractor shall be rate iJ.?-creases that are reasonably requested. 

10.4 Verification of Weights. Quantities of Solid Waste delivered to the Landfill for 
processing, handling or disposal shall be measured by scale ton, based on weight 
slips for each load weighed. Such weight slips shall show the gross weight of the 
truck, including that of the Solid Waste, the tare weight of the truck and the net 
weight of the Solid Waste. Weight slips and minimum load slips obtaned when 
the Solid Waste is received and weighed at the Landfill shall be used as the hlsis 
of payment. In the event the ocales are inoperable, a vehicle or container will be 
charged based on the historical net weight in tons of such vehicle or container. 
Weigh-out may be optional if Contractor has a current tare weight on file f:>r the 
vehicle or container. 

10.5 .Payment Terms. For all waste delivered by Haulers, Contractor shall negotiate 
acceptable payment terms, including appropriate deposits, with such Haulers. 

10.6 Host Fees. The Contractor shall pay the Commission a per ton host fee for all 
Solid Waste disposed of at the Landfill during the term of this Agreement in an 
amount equal to three and three-quarters percent (3.75%) of the tipping fee 
received from the customer by Contractor, subject to the minimum fee provisions 
provided hereinafter in this Section. The host fee shall increase (or decrease) in 
dollar amount per ton as the tipping fee per ton increases (or decreases) during the 
term of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything else to the contrary in this 
Agreement, beginning on the Commencement Date, Contractor shall guarantee 
the Commission a monthly host fee minimum of $10,000 per month, which 
minimum fee shall be increased each July 1 the Contractor increases its tipping 
fees by the same Price Index percentage adjustment provided in Section 10.3 
above. The Contractor shall be entitled to an offset against the rmnthly minimum 
host fee equal to the host fees paid to the Commission for that month. All host 
fees (including any amounts required to pay the minimum host fee amount) shall 
be paid to the Commission on or before the 201

h day of the following month for 
which they are due. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Contractor shall not pay a 
host fee for waste disposed of at the Lan:lfill property pursuant to the 
Commission's Reserved Rights unless specifically provided for by a subsequent 
written agreement between the Commission and Contractor. 

10. 7 Closure and Post-Closure Securitv Fees. The Contractor shall pay the 
Commission a per ton closure and post-closure security fee for all Solid Waste 
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disposed of at the Landfill during the term of this Agreement in an amount equal 
to the greater of $1.00 per ton or five percent (5%) of the tippmg fee received 
from the customer by Contractor. The security fee shall be used by the 
Commission to establish and maintain adequate financial reserves for the payment 
of Closure and Post-Closure Care required at the Landfill.· The payrr.ent of the 
security fee shall not relieve Contractor of any of its obligations for Closure and 
Post-Closure Care under this Agreement, and Contractor shall have no e.ntitlement 
to the same. The Commission reserves the right to use excess reserves 
accumulated from said security fee, in such arrounts as it shall deteITJ?.ine, for any 
lawful purpose. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Contractor shall not pay a 
closure and post-closure security fee for waste disposed of at the Landfill property 
pursuant to the Commission's Reserved Rights unless specifically provided for by 
a subsequent written agreement between the Commission and Contractor. 

10.8 Household Hazardous Waste Event. Subject to funding from TDEC to fully 
cover the expenses of the hazardous waste contractor and the disposal costs of the 
hazardous wastes collected, once each calendar year, the Contractor shall also 
manage, organize and staff on behalf of the Commission the annual Household 
Hazardous Waste disposal day for Loudon County and shall provide such 
information and technical assistance at such event related to the Landfill's 
operation and procedures as directed by too Commission to the extent that TDEC 
funds permit. Each year, prior to the actual event and after TDEC funds have been 
committed, the Contractor shall submit a written organizational plan to the 
Commission for review and input that will detail how the Contractor proposes to 
organize, manage, publicize, staff and report the results of the event to the 
Commission. 

XI. NO ENCUMBRANCES 

11.1 Sale or Encumbrance of the Landfill. This Agreement and all the rights of 
Contractor hereunder shall run with the real property of the Landfill, and the 
Commission will not in any manner sell, alienate, mortgage or encumber the 
Landfill, unless such purchaser, transferee or lien holder takes such interest 
subject to all the terms and conditions of this Agreement, evidence of which shall 
be furnished in advance to the Contractor, in form and substance satisfactory to 
the Contractor; and any attempt to ·sell, alienate, rrortgage or encumber the 
Landfill contrary to the provisions hereof shall not affect Contractor's rights 
under this Agreement. 

11.2 No Liens. The Contractor agrees that it shall not cause or allow any liens, 
encumbrances, charges or assessi:rents to be placed or levied upon the Landfill or 
any interest therein, and further agrees that, in tre event of such occurrence, it will 
promptly and fully discharge the same. 
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XII. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

12.1 Independent Contractor; No Partnership. The Contractor is, for all purposes 
arising out of this Agreement, an independent Contractor and shall not be deemed 
an employee, agent or manager of the Commission. It is expressly understood 
and agreed that the Contractor shall in no event as a result of this Agreement be 
entitled to any benefits to which the Commission employees are entitled, 
including, but not limited to, overtime, any retirement benefits, worker 
compensation benefits, any injury leave or other lea\e benefits. The provision of 
the Work under this Agreement or any service required hereunder shall not create 
a partnership or joint venture between the parties. 

12.2 Assignment and· Subcontractin!!: Notice of Other Actions. This Agreement or 
any portion thereof may not be assigned by the Contractor without the expressed 
prior written consent of the Commission, which consent may be granted or 
withheld on terms and conditions as reasonably determined by the Commission. 
In the event of an approved assignment, the assignee shall assume the liability of 
the Contractor and the Contractor shall remain liable thereunder unless otherwise 
released in writing by the Commission. For purposes of this Agreement, an 
assignment shall include both a voluntaiy transaction by the Contractor and a 
voluntary or involuntary transfer or assignment of this Agreemmt, whether direct 
or indirect, by operation of law or pmsuant to any bankruptcy, insolvency, 
receivership or similar proceeding. 

An assignment on this Agreement on its existing terms and conditions shall be 
considered reasonable if the proposed assignee is at least as qualified as 
Contractor to operate the Landfill and at least as financially viable as the 
Contractor, and in such event (and in any event where a proposed assignn:ent is 
reasonable), the Commission shall not unreasonably withhold its consent, and the 
Commission's approval shall be given within forty-five (45) days of receipt of 
prior written notice of such assignment. 

Contractor shall have the right to subcontract all or a substantial portion of any or 
all of the Work; provided, that any subcontract of a substantial portion of the 
Work shall be approved by the express written consent of the Commission, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld and timely given. For purposes of 
this provision, substantial portion of the Work means the subcontracting of the 
obligations to manage and oversee the operation of the Landfill. The Contractor 
shall give its personal attention to the fulfillment of the Agreement and shall keep 
the Work under its control. All persons engaged in the Work shall be considered 
as employees of the Contractor, and Contractor shall be held responsible for a 
subcontractor's Work, which shall be subject to the provisions of the Agreerrent. 

In addition to the forgoing provisions governing assignment and subcontracting, 
Contractor agrees to provide the Commission written notice of the following other 
actions: (a) any merger, consolidation or other change of business form of the 
Contractor (whether or not the Contractor is the surviving entity); or (b) the 
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transfer of 50% or more of the ownership or other beneficial interest in the 
Contractor or other transfer of the right to control the operations and busiriess of 
the Contractor. 

12.3 Hold Harmless Clause. 

(a) The Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Commission, 
and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, from, against, and with 
respect to any and all third-party suits, actions, legal proceedings, claims, 
demands, damages, costs, expenses, and attorneys' fees incurred ·by or 
asserted against the Commission arising due to any negligence or 
intentional misconduct of the Contractor or any of its officers, agents, 
servants, employees in the performance of the Work at the Landfill, or the 
failure of the Contractor to comply with the Environmental Laws in 
performing the Work, except for those claims directly caused by the award 
of the Agreement or the· negligence or intentional misconduct of the 
Commission, its officers, agents, servants, or employees. 

(b) The Commission agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and reimburse the 
Contractor, and its officers, agents, servants, and employees, from, against 
and for any and all suits, actions, legal proceedings, claims, demands, 
damages, oosts, expenses, and attorneys' fees incurred by or asserted 
against the Contractor, arising due to any negligence or intentional 
misconduct of the Commission or any of its officers, agents, servants or 
employees or which is assessable against the Comnission because of its 
ownership of the Landfill; but such indenmity shall specifically exclude 
without limitation those claims directly caused by the negligence or 
intentional misconduct of (i) the Contractor in the performance of Work at 
the Landfill or (ii) third parties using or accessing the Landfill during the 
term of this Agreement. 

(c) Notwithstanding any other term of this Agreement, claims that give rise to 
indemnity rights in favor of both the Commission and the Contractor 
under this Section 12.3 shall be apportioned between Contractor and 
Commission under a theory of comparative negligence. 

12.4 Taxes, Assessments and Fees. The Contractor shall be responsible for all taxes, 
fines, penalties and fees resulting from its performance of the Work, including 
without limitation all surcharges and other tipping fees required to be paid to the 
state or other government pursuant to T.C.A. § 68-211-835, as may be amended 
from time to time, or any other provision of law; provided, that the Commission 
shall be responsible for the payment of any such taxes, assessments, fines, 
penalties, permit and/or license fees or other fees that are imposed by the 
Commission or which are collected on behalf of the Commission and remitted to 
the Commission for its use. All such taxes, fines, penalties andfees shall be paid 
when due by the Contractor subject to Contractor's right of protest or appeal to 
the taxing or assessing authority for any such tax, fine, penalty or fee the 
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Contractor reasonably determines to have been unjustly levied or assessed against 
it. The Contractor shall have no responsibility for the payment of any taxes 
assessed for periods prior to the Commemement Date, nor shall Contractor be 
liable for any fines or penalties that are directly attributable to the actions or 
omissions of the Commission or its agents (other than Contractor) or actions or 
omissions that occurred prior to the Contractor's commencement of work 
(including both the Work under this Agreement and any work performed by it 
prior to the Commencement Date) at the Landfill. 

12.5 Insurance. The Contractor shall secure and rrnintain throughout the term of this 
Agreement the following types of insurance with limits as shown to protect the 
Commission, the Contract Administrator and the authorized agents and employees 
of all the above, from any damage claims, including exemplary or punitive 
damages, for damage such as bodily injury, death or property damage, which may 
arise from the Contractor's operations under this Agreement, whether such 
operations be by Contractor, a subcontractor, an agent of Contractor, or anyone 
employed by Contractor directly or indirectly. The Commission shall be named 
as an additional insured on all insurance policies providing coverage as to the 
Landfill site and all activities conducted thereon: 

(a) Worker's Compensation Insurance. The Contractor shall procure and 
maintain during the term of this Agreement Worker's Compensation 
Insurance for all of its employees to be engaged in the Work under this 
Agreement in accordance with statutory limits. In case any class of 
employees engaged in the Work under this Agreement is not protected 
under the Workers Compensation Statute, the Contractor shall provide 
employer's liability insurance for the protection of such of its employees 
as are not otherwise protected. Employer's Liability Insurance shall be a 
minimum of $1,000,000 each occurrence. 

(b) Contractor's General Liability Insurance. The Contractor shall procure 
and maintain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement.and 
including completed operations and coverage for underground explosion 
or collapse, a Comprehensive Liability Policy on an occurrence basis. 
Comprehensive Liability Insurance shall be a yearly minimum of 
$2,000,000 per occurrence and $5,000,000 in the aggregate. 

( c) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance. The Contractor agrees to 
carry a Comprehensive Automobile Liability Policy providing bodily 
injury liability on an occurrence basis and providing Property Darmge 
Liability on an accident basis. The policy shall protect the Contractor 
against all liability arising out of tre use of automobiles, both private, 
passenger, and commercial, regardless of whether such vehicle shall be 
owned by the Contractor, owned by others, or hired. Limits of Liability 
for Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance shall be $ 1,000,000 
per occurrence combined single limit. 
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( d) Professional Error and Omissions. The Contractor agrees to maintain 
professional liability coverage in the minimum amount of $1,000,000. 

( e) Environmental Liability Insurance. The Contractor shall procure and 
maintain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement 
Environmental Liability Insurance in the amount of. $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. 

(f) Excess Umbrella Liabilitv. The Contractor shall procure and maintain in 
full force and effect during the term of this Agree:rrent Excess Umbrella 
Liability in the amount of $5,000,000 per occurrence. 

(g) Certificate(s) of Insurance. Before commencement of the Work, the 
Contractor agrees to furnish the Commission certificate(s) of insurance or 
other evidence satisfactory to the Commission to the effect that such 
insurance has been procured and is in force. The certificate(s) shall con1ain 
the following expressed obligation: 

"This is to certify that the policies of insurance described herein have been 
issued to the insured for whom this certificate is executed and are in force 
at this time. In the event of cancellation or material change in a policy 
affecting the certificate holder, thirty (30) days prior written mtice will be 
given the certificate holder (including all named additional insureds)." 

(h) Other Requirements. The foregoing insurance policies shall be carried 
with responsible insurance companies authorized to transact business in 
the State of Tennessee and reasonably acceptable to the Commission, and 
(with the exception of worker's compensation coverage) shall name the 
Commission and its commissioners, officers, agents and employees as an 
additional insureds. 

12.6 Performance Securitv. The Contractor shall provide to the Commission at 
Contractor's expense Performance Security, and maintain it during the entire term 
of the Agreement and for a period of one year after the termination of this 
Agreement. The amount of Performance Security on the Commencement Date 
shall be $1,000,000; provided that the Commission reserves the tjsht after the first 
two (2) Agreement Years to increase the amount of the Performance Security 
throughout the term of this Agreement upon one hundred:eighty (180) days prior 
written notice to the Contractor to an amount that reflects the estimated annual 
expense of Contractor for the operating services to be provided under this 
Agreement for that Agreement Year. The Performance Security shall remain in 
effect to fully indemnify and save harmless the Commission from all costs and 
damages, which the Commission may suffer by reason of an act or omission of 
Contractor in its performance under this Agreement. 
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12. 7 Cooperation: Non-Compete. 

(a) Whenever the consent, approval or cooperation of one party is expressly 
or implicitly required or is necessary by the terms of this Agreement oi:' to 
the effective and successful performance of the other party, such consent, 
approval or cooperation shall not be unreasonably withheld, denied, or 
delayed. The Commission will support the efforts of the Contractor in 
obtaining any additional permit modifications and approvals and will 
cooperate with Contractor in the scheduling of and having appropriate 
representatives available for public hearings and meetings. Subject to (i) 
the Reserved Rights (ii) the Commission's right to establish a Demolition 
Waste landfill off the Landfill property, and (iii) its obligations under the 
Solid Waste laws to reduce generation of Solid Waste, the Commission 
agrees that it shall not take any action or omission that would 
unreasonably impair or interfere with the performance of the Contractor's 
obligations under this Agreement or the benefits and rights of the 
Contractor hereunder, including without limitation the creation, operation, 
or encouragement of a competing solid waste landfill or alternative 
technologies or processes for waste disposal or treatment in the County or 
within any solid waste region that includes the Commission, or the 
assignment of this Agreement to any party other the Commission, or the 
sale, transfer or unreasonable encumbrance of its interest in the Landfill. 
The Contractor recognizes the Commission's responsibility to encourage 
recycling and source reduction of all solid waste generated within Loudon 
County. This recycling and source reduction is rmndated by EPA and 
encouraged by IDEC, and the Commission's duty to carry out such 
activity shall not be construed as interference in the Contractor's rights or 
obligations granted in this Agreement. The Commission agrees that it 
shall not impose (or approve or advocate that the County or any other 
local government impose) any fee, surcharge, duty, tax or other charge of 
any nature against the Contractor, the Landfill, and/or the Landfill Permit, 
which is payable from revenues generated under this Agreement, the 
operations conducted by the Contractor, and/or the operation of the 
Landfill. 

(b) The parties to this Agreement agree that they will cooperate with each 
other in all matters that are reasonable necessary or desirable to facilitate 
the performance of their respective obligations under this Agreement with 
a minimum of expense, trouble and interference with service; and each 
party agrees to comply with the reasonable requests of the other party in 
connection therewith. 

12.8 Audit and Inspection of Records. Contractor shall permit any duly authorized 
representative of the Commission, upon receipt of advance· written notice, to 
examine during normal business hours and on a nondisruptive basis any and all 
records as is reasonably necessary to ensure Contractor's compliance with this 
Agreement, including without limitation Contractor's financial and accounting 
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records and those records required to be maintained under this Section. Such 
notice shall specifically reference the subsection of this Agreement that is under 
review so that the Contractor may organize the necessary books and records for 
easy access by the Commission. The Contractor shall not be required to nnintain 
any books and records for contract compliance purposes longer than three (3) 
years after the calendar year for which the record pertains. The Commission 
agrees to treat as confidential any books or records that constitute proprietary or 
confidential information to the extent Contractor makes the Commission aware of 
such confidentiality, but only to the extent the Commission or its representatives 
may do so under law. If the Commission believes it must release any such 
confidential books or records in the course of enforcing this Agreement, or for 
any other reason, it shall advise Contractor in advance so that Contractor may take 
appropriate steps to protect its interests. Until otherwise ordered by a court or 
agency of competent jurisdiction, the Commission agrees that, to the extent 
permitted by state and federal law, it shall deny access to any of Contractor's 
books and records marked confidential, as set forth above, to any person 
requesting or attempting to review the same that is not acting as Commission's 
representative. 

12.9 Control of the Work. The Contractor shall not be assessed with damages for 
delay in performance of Contractor's obligations hereunder where such delay is 
caused by the Commission's failure to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

12.10 Force Majeure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party shall not be assessed 
with damages during any delay in the performance of its respective obligations 
hereunder, except for the payment of money, caused by events beyond the 
reasonable control of such party, including without limitation: acts of God, war, 
riot, explosion, sabotage fires caused by an unrelated third party, floods, 
earthquakes, epidemics and quarantine restrictions, labor strikes, suppliers' or 
vendors' strikes, freight embargoes and severe weather conditions, legislative . 
action, regulatory action or inaction, provided that such events are not the result 
of such party's material fault or negligence. At the date of such delay or 
hindrance, the party excused from performance shall provide notice to the other 
party of the reason for such delay or hindrance. During such force majeure, 
performance shall be excused for the period of the delay and the period for the 
performance shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of delay. 

12.11 Compliance with Laws. Contractor agrees to comply with all laws and 
regulations federal, state and local laws and regulations now in force and which 
may hereafter be in force during the term of this Agreement, including 
compliance with all applicable permits, licenses, testing, reporting and 
inspections, or regulations as amended. 

12.12 OSHA. To the extent applicable, Contractor shall comply with the Department of 
Labor Safety and Health Regulations promulgated under the Occupational Safety 
and Health Act of 1970 (PL-596) and under Section 107 of the Agreement Work 
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Hours and Safety Standard Act (PL-9154) and under corresponding Tennessee 
statutes and regulations. 

12.13 Discrimination. Contractor shall not discriminate against any person because of 
race, sex, age, creed, color, religion or national crigin. 

12.14 Notices. All notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder 
shall be sent by telecopier, facsimile, certified mail or by express mail, addressed 
as follows or to such other addresses as may be designated :fromtime to time: 

Contractor: 

With copy to: 

Commission: 

With copy to: 

Santek Environmental, Inc. 
650 25th Street, NW, Suite 100 
Cleveland, 1N 3 7311 
Attn: President 
Fax: (423) 303-7150 

Bass, Berry & Sims PLC 
315 Deaderick Street, Ste. 2700 
Nashville, TN 37238-3001 
Attn: G. Scott Thomas 
Fax: (615) 742-6243 

Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission 
100 River Road, Box 100 
Loudon, Tennessee 3 7774 
Attn: Chair 

Kennerly, Montgomery & Finley, P.C. 
550 Main Street, 4th Floor 
Knoxville, Tennessee 37902 
Attn: C. Coulter "Bud" Gilbert 
Fax: (865) 524-1773 

12.15 Affirmative Action and Equal Employment Opportunity. Contractor shall 
comply with all affirmative action and equal employment opportunity 
requirements as set forth herein or as required by applicable laws, rules or 
regulations. 

12.16 Drug Testing. Contractor shall adopt appropriate drug testing procedures for 
employees at the Landfill and shall administer drug testing in compliance with 
such procedures. 

12.17 Time is the Essence/Survival or Terms. Time is of the essence in this 
Agreement and in each of its provisions. The provisions of this Agreeirent 
regarding any indemnity or any other covenant to which a party would have a 
reasonable expectation of continuance shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement. 
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12.18 Prohibition Against Collusion. The Contractor represents and agrees that it has 
not conveyed or offered or promised, directly or indirectly, to any member of the 
Commission, employee, agent or representative of the Commission, or any person 
representing or purporting to represent the Commission, or any fanily member 
including spouse, parents, or children of the foregoing group, any remmeration, 
property, service, advantage or other consideration or benefit of value, to 
improperly influence or obtain the award of this Agreement to Contractor. 
Contractor further agrees that it shall not employ as an employee, agent, 
consultant or independent contractor any member of such group for a period of 
five (5) years from the Commencement Date. Contractor's violation of this 
requirement shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement, in which event 
the Commission may terminate this Agreement upon notice to the Contractor. 

XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 

13.1 Complete Agreement: Amendments. This Agreement, including its Exhibit, 
represents the complete agreement between the parties, and it supersedes all prior 
agreements, requests for proposals, proposals, and all prior written or oral 
commitments, arrangements or understandings with respect thereto. There are no 
representations, restrictions, agreements, promises, inducements, statements of 
intentions, warranties, covenants or undertakings with respect to the transactions 
contemplated thereby other than those expressly set forth therein. This 
Agreement cannot be amended, modified or supplemented by any of the parties in 
any respect except by a subsequent written contract entered into by both parties 

13.2 Section Headings. The section or paragraph headings are used only for 
convenience and are not to be used in determining the intent of the parties or in 
otherwise interpreting this Agreement. 

13.3 Provisions Unenforceable. If any provision of Agreement shall be declared 
illegal, void or unenforceable, the other provisions shall not be affected but shall 
remain in full force and effect, unless the resulting interpretation of the 
Agreement shall materially alter the obligations of either party so as to work an 
unfair hardship on such party (the "Burdened Party"), in which case the Burdened 
Party shall have the option to request a renegotiation of the Agreement and/or to 
terminate this Agreement upon ninety (90) days advance written notice to the 
other party. This Agreement may be roodified, amended, discharged or waived 
only by an agreement in writing signed by both parties. 

13.4 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and will inure to 
the benefit of the successors and assigns of the respective parties hereto. 

13.5 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of 
which taken together shall constitute but one and the same instru:rrent. 
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13.6 Attorney's Fees. If any legal action is necessary to enforce the terms of this 
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees, 
court costs and all reasonable costs of colle:;tion, in addition to any other relief to 
which that party may be entitled. 

13. 7 Governing Laws. This Agreement will be goverred by and construed according 
to the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

13.8 Waiver. The failure of either party under this Agreement to give notice of default 
or to enforce or insist upon compliance with any of the terms or conditions of this 
Agreement, the waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement or the granting 
of an extension of time for performance shall not constitute the permanent waiver 
of any term or condition of this Agreement, and this Agreement and each of its 
provisions shall remain at all times in full force and effect until modified by 
authorized parties in writing. 

13.9 Gender. As used in this Agreement, the singular shall include the plural, the 
plural the singular, and the use of any gender shall be applicable to all genders, as 
the context requires. 

13.10 Further Assurances. Each party to this Agreement agrees that, when requested 
to do so by the other party, such party will furnish to the other party certi:Jied 
extracts from the minutes of each board or legislative body required to approve 
this Agreement in order to make the same binding upon the party furnishing such 
certified extracts. Each of the parties to this Agreement further agrees to do any 
act or thing and execute any and all instruments that are necessary and proper to 
make effective the provisions of this Agreeirent. 

13.11 Specific Performance. To the extent that the right of specific performance is 
mutually enforceable against the parties, the parties hereto recognize that any 
breach of the terms of this Agreement may give rise to irreparable harm for which 
money damages would not be an adequate remedy and accordingly agree that, in 
addition to all other remedies available to the parties, any non-breaching party 
shall be entitled to enforce the terms of this Agreement by a decree of specific 
performance without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of money damages 
as a remedy. 

[Space left blank intentionally, Signature Page next] 
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IN WI1NESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their duly authorized 
representatives to execute this Agreement as of the day and year first above written. 

LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

By: 

SANTEK ENVIRON 

By: 
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EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of Matlock Bend Landfill 

[Taken from Quit Claim Deed dated April 15, 1994 from Loudon County 
to the Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission of record in the Loudon County 

Registers Office at Deed Book 212, Page 216] 

LOCATED in the First Civil District of Loudon County, Tennessee, and being the part of the 
former Kate Wilson Mott farm inherited by her daughters, and being moreparticularly described 
as follows: 

BEGINNING at a new iron pin in the North right-of-way line of old State Highway 72 (River 
Road), the said point of beginning being located 0.96 miles from the center line of Matlock Bend 
access road West along State Highway 72; thence with State Highway 72 North 51 deg. 30 min 
36 sec. West 72.05 feet to a new iron pin; thence with Highway 72 North 56 deg. 18 min. 57 sec. 
West 95.84 feet to a new iron pin; thence with Highway 72 North 72 deg. 18 min. 15 sec. West 
60. 65 feet to a new iron pin, comer to Ray Purdy; thence with Purdy North 04 deg. 57, min. 15 
sec. East 1172.58 feet to a new iron pin; therce with Purdy North 13 deg. 39 min. 33 sec. East 
1353.83 feet to a new iron pin (passing the Purdy-Ryan-Barrett comer which touches captioned 
line); thence with John Barrett III, North 13 deg. 20 min. 02 sec. East 2175.23 feet to a new iron 
pin corner to Jesse Ridenour; thence with Ridenour North 89 deg. 30 min. 41 sec. East 712.93 
feet to an iron pin; thence with Ridenour North 85 deg. 41 min. 34 sec. East 606. 7 feet to an 
existing iron pin, comer to AMFAC Foods Monterey, Inc.; thence with AMFAC South 00 deg. 
36 min. 44 sec. West 2108.28 feet to a new iron pin; thence with AMF AC South 01 deg. 36 min. 
54 sec. East 529.03 feet to an existing iron pin; thence with AMFACSouth 41 deg. 54 min. 16 
sec. West 1895.81 feet to an existing axle; thence Vvith AMFAC South 53 deg. 09 min. 49 sec. 
West 492.95 feet to an existing iron pin; thence with AMFAC South 57 deg. 05 min. 39 sec. 
West 244.759 feet to a new iron pin; thence with AMFAC South 32 deg 22 min. 13 sec. West 
126.705 feet to a new iron pin; thence with AMF AC South 29 deg. 34 min. 35 sec. 212.62 feet to 
the point of BEGINNING, according to the survey by M.C.I. Consulting Engineers, Inc., dated 
March 10, 1986, this being a Class A survey with bearings based on magnetic north, the said 
tract containing 150.849 acres, more or less. 

THIS BEING the same property wherein John A. Mott (Widower) conveyed a stated one-half 
interest to Mary Alexandra Mott Hirsch, by deed dated May 8, 1965, and recorded in the 
Register's Office of Loudon County, Tennessee, in Deed Book 78, Page 425. However, 
reference is also made to deed from Mary Alexandra Mott Hirsch to John A. Mott (Widower) 
and Martha Jan Mott Powell, dated June 2, 1959, and recorded in Deed Book 56, Page 324. 

THIS BEING the same property conveyed to Loudon County by Order and Judgment of the 
Circuit Court for Loudon County, Tennessee, in the cause styled Loudon County vs. Mary 
Alexandra Mott Hirsch and Martha Jan Mott Powell, being cause number 3904, the certified 
judgment being recorded in Deed Book 166, Page 4, Loudon County Register of Deeds office. 



O R.f"G·1·N.A L ... 
FIRST AMENDMENT TO OPERATION AGREEMENT 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO OPERATION AGREEMENT ("Amendment") is 
effectjve as of the 1st day of March, 2015, by and between the Loudon County Solid Waste 
Disposal Commission ("Owner"), a public entity created by an Intergovernmental Agreement 
among the City of Lenoir City, the City of Loudon and Loudon County, Tennessee dated March 
1, 1993, and Santek Environmental, Inc. ("Operator"), a Tennessee corporation with its principal 
place of business at 650 25th StreetN.W., Cleveland, Tennessee 37311. . . 

RECITALS 

1. The parties have previously entered into a certain Sanitary Landfill Operation 
Agreement dated as of July I, 2007 (the "Agreement'~), which concerns the operation of the 
Owner's Subtitle D sanitary landfill known as the Matlock Bend Sanitary Landfill located on 
Highway 72 in Loudon, Tennessee (the "Landfill"). 

2. Pursuant to Section 5.13 of the Agreement, Owner and Operator previously 
participated in a tire collection and disposal grant program that was administered by the State of 
Tennessee. The State of Tennessee discontinued its previous tire collection and disposal grant 
program and is now. administering a state sponsored waste tire program which is intended to 
facilitate the disposition of tires for beneficial end uses. The parties have accordingly agreed to 
amend Section 5 .13 of the Agreement to clarify their intent to participate in the current waste tire 
program administered by the State of Tennessee. 

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon the mutual promises of the parties and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties 
agree as follows: 

1. Section 5.13 (Tire Disposal Program) of the Agreement is am.ended herein by 
deleting the entirety of Section 5.13 of the Agreement .and substituting in lieu thereof the 
following: 

5.13 Tire Disposal Program. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, the Contractor 
shall administer and operate on behalf of the Commission a tire collection and 
disposal program at the Landfill throughout the term of the Agreement. The tire 
collection and disposal program shall conform to all applicable laws and shall to 
the extent possible be administered and operated in such a manner as to allow 
Loudon County and/or the Commission to participate in any tire collection and 
disposal program administered by the State of Tennessee. The State of Tennessee 
is currently administering a state sponsored waste tire program which is intended 
to facilitate the disposition of tires for beneficial end uses. Contractor agrees to 
handle tire collection and disposal at the Landfill in a manner which complies 
with the current waste tire program administered by the State of Tennessee as 
well as any future tire collection and disposal program administered by the State 
of Tennessee. Any funds received by the Commission and/or Loudon County 

:. during the term of this Agreement that are received as a result of the operation of 
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the tire collection and disposal program during the periods of time when the 
Contractor is administering and operating the program for the Commission shall 
be promptly remitted to the Contractor by the Commission based on receipt of 
disposal documentation for properly manifested tires. The Commission neither 
warrants nor guarantees that any future tire collection and disposal programs will 
be administered by the State of Tennessee that offers grants or other similar 
funding, or that Loudon County or the Commission shall be entitled to participate 
in any such future tire collection and disposal programs. However, the 
Commission will cooperate with the Contractor and use reasonable efforts to 
apply for and obtain any available funds for such program. Notwithstanding the 
above stated requirements of this Section, the Commission reserves the right to 
terminate the Contractor's obligation to accept and dispose of tires that are 
delivered to the Landfill upon ninety (90) days written notice to Contractor. Such 
right of termination may be exercised from time to time throughout the term of 
this Agreement. In the event of any such termination, Contractor shall resume its 
tire acceptance and disposal services at the Landfill upon 120 days prior notice to 
the Contractor by the Commission. Such resumed services shall be commenced 
by the Contractor withput any startup charge, implementation fee or other expense 
to the Commission except for its right to a future credit against host fees as 
provided above. 

2. Except as amended herein, all other terms, covenants and conditions of the 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby reaffirmed by the parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be executed as of 
the date first written above. 
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§ 68-211-801. Short title, TN ST§ 68·211-801 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-801 

§ 68-211-801. Short title 

Currentness 

This part shall be known and may be cited as the "Solid Waste Management Act of 1991." 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § I. 

Formerly § 68-31-80 l. 

Notes of Decisions (2) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-801, TN ST§ 68-211-801 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ·C 2015 Thomson Rcuh:rs. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 

"" ___ ,~~----
VVestla·NNe:<r © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-802. Definitions, TN ST § 68-211-802 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-802 

§ 68-211-802. Definitions 

Effective: July 1, 2014 

Currentness 

(a) As used in this part, unless the context otheiwise requires: 

(l) "Authority" or "solid waste authority" means any public instrumentality organized pursuant to part 9 of this chapter; 

(2) "Board" means a board, established to manage the affairs of a municipal solid waste management region, except in 

§§ 68-211-119--68-211-121, 68-211-852 [repealed], 68-211-853, 68-211-867 and 68-211-871 where "board" means the 

underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal control board created in§ 68-211-111; 

(3) "Commissioner" means the commissioner of environment and conservation; 

(4) "Convenience center" means any area which is staffed and fenced that has waste receptacles on site that are open to the 

public, when an attendant is present, to receive household waste, municipal solid waste and recyclable materials; 

(5) "Department" means the department of environment and conservation; 

(6) "Development district" means a development distiict organized pursuant to title 13, chapter 14; 

(7) "Household hazardous waste" means solid wastes discarded from homes or similar sources as listed in 40 CFR 261.4(b)(I), 

that are either hazardous wastes as listed by the EPA in 40 CFR 26 l.33(e) or fil, or wastes that exhibit any of the following 

characteristics as defined in 40 CFR 261.21--261.24: ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity and TCLP toxicity; 

(8) "Household waste" means any waste material, including garbage, trash and refuse, and yard waste derived from households. 

Households include single and multiple residences, campgrounds, picnic grounds and day-use recreation areas; 

(9) "Landfill" means a facility, permitted pursuant to part l of this chapter, where solid wastes are disposed of by burial in 

excavated pits or trenches or by placement on land and covering with soil or other approved material; 

----------·-----·---- -----ff-------------------· 
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§ 68-211-802. Definitions, TN ST § 68-211-802 

( l 0) "Municipal solid waste" means any garbage, refuse, industrial lunchroom or office waste, household waste, household 

hazardous waste, yard waste, and any other material resulting from the operation of residential, municipal, commercial 

or institutional establishments and from community activities; provided, that "municipal solid waste" does not include the 
following: 

(A) Radioactive waste; 

(B) Hazardous waste as defined in§ 68-212-104; 

(C) Infectious waste; 

(D) Materials that are being transported to a facility for reprocessing or reuse; provided further, that reprocessing or reuse 

does not include incineration or placement in a landfill; and 

(E) Industrial waste which may include office, domestic or cafeteria waste, managed in a privately owned solid waste disposal 

system or resource recovery facility, if such waste is generated solely by the owner of the solid waste disposal system or 
resource recovery facility; 

( 11) "Operator" means the person who is in charge of the actual, on-site operation of a solid waste management facility during 
any period of operation; 

(12) "Person" means "person" as defined in § 68-211-103; 

(13) "Recovered materials" means those materials which have been diverted or removed from the solid waste stream for sale, 

use, reuse or recycling, whether or not requiring subsequent separation processing. Such recovered materials are not solid waste; 

(14) "Recovered materials processing facility" means a facility engaged solely in the storage, processing and resale or reuse of 

recovered materials. A recovered materials processing facility is not a solid waste processing facility; 

( 15) "Recyclable materials" means those materials which are capable of being reused or returned to use in the form of raw 

materials or products, whether or not such materials have been diverted or removed from the solid waste stream; 

( 16) "Recycling" means the process by which recovered materials are transfom1ed into new products, including the collection, 

separation, processing, and reuse of recovered materials either directly or as raw materials for the manufacture of new products; 

( 17) "Region" means a municipal solid waste region organized pursuant to § 68-2 l l-813(a); 

(18) "Shredded" means shredded, chipped, chopped, quartered, sliced at least circumferentially, or otherwise processed and 

rendered not whole in a manner to effectively prevent a tire from floating, as detem1ined by the board; 

'{/e5tl.~ 1,vNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2 



§ 68-211-802. Definitions, TN ST § 68·211-802 

( 19) "Solid waste stream" means the system through which solid waste and recoverable materials move from the point of discard 

to recovery or disposal; 

(20) "Tire" means the continuous solid or pneumatic rubber covering encircling the wheel of a motor vehicle; 

(2 l) "Transporter" means a person engaged in the transportation of municipal solid waste collected or to be baled or processed, or 

disposed ofin Tennessee by rail, highway or water, in significant amounts. The amounts deemed significant shall be determined 
by the board and established by regulation; 

(22) "Used oil" means any oil which has been refined from crude or synthetic, or recovered oil and, as a result of use, storage 

or handling, has become unsuitable for its original purpose due to the presence of impurities or loss of original properties, but 

which may be suitable for further use and may be economically recycled or may be burned as fuel; 

(23) "Waste tire" means a tire that is no longer suitable for its original intended purpose because of wear, damage or defect; and 

(24) "Yard waste" means vegetative matter resulting from landscaping, lawn maintenance and land clearing operations other 

than mining, agricultural and forestry operations. 

(b) Unless the context requires otherwise or this section defines a term differently, the definitions set forth in §§ 68-211-l 03, 

68-212-104 and 68-212-303, and in any regulations promulgated pursuant to this chapter and chapter 212 of this title, apply 
to terms used in this part. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 45 I, § 2; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 50 I. § 3. eff. June 12. 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. §§ 3 to 8, 53, eff. July l, 

1996; 1997 Pub.Acts. c. 221. §I, eff. May 15. 1997; 2014 Pub.Acts, c. 849. § l, eff. July I, 2014. 

Formerly§ 68-31-802. 

Notes of Decisions (1) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-802, TN ST§ 68-211-802 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document '(' 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim 10 original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-803. Policy, TN ST§ 68-211-803 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C.A. § 68-211-803 

§ 68-211-803. Policy 

Currentness 

(a) It is declared to be the policy of this state, in furtherance of its responsibility to protect the public health, safety and well­
being of its citizens and to protect and enhance the quality of its environment, to institute and maintain a comprehensive, 
integrated, statewide program for solid waste management, which will assure that solid waste facilities, whether publicly or 

privately operated, do not adversely affect the health, safety and well-being of the public and do not degrade the quality of 
the environment by reason of their location, design, method of operation or other means and which, to the extent feasible and 
practical, makes maximum utilization of the resources contained in solid waste. 

(b) It is further declared to be the policy of this state to educate and encourage generators and handlers of solid waste to reduce 
and minimize to the greatest extent possible the amount of solid waste which requires collection, treatment, incineration or 
disposal through source reduction, reuse, composting, recycling and other methods. 

(c) It is further declared to be the policy of this state to promote markets for, and engage in the purchase of, goods made from 
recovered materials and goods which are recyclable. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 3. 

Formerly§ 68-31-803. 

Notes of Decisions (I) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-803, TN ST§ 68-211-803 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

L~nd of Document :<::: 2015 Thomson Reuters. No dai1n lo original U.S. Government Works. 

··--··-----------
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§ 68-211-804. Applicability, TN ST§ 68-211-804 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 

Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 
Environmental Protection 

Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-804 

§ 68-211-804. Applicability 

Currentness 

Unless specifically otherwise provided, this part does not apply to: 

(I) Hazardous waste, regulated pursuant to chapter 212 of this title, except household hazardous waste; 

(2) Infectious waste; 

(3) Radioactive waste; or 

( 4) Industrial waste, which may include office, domestic or cafeteria waste, managed in a privately owned solid waste disposal 

system or resource recovery facility, if such waste is generated solely by the owner of the solid waste disposal system or resource 
recovery facility. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451, §_.1,_ 

Formerly§ 68-31-804. 

T. C. A. § 68-211-804, TN ST § 68-211-804 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End or Document 

·--------------

\"; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Go\"t:nunent Works. 
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§ 68-211-805. Construction of law, TN ST§ 68-211-805 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-805 

§ 68-211-805. Construction of law 

Effective: August 5, 2011 
Currentness 

This part is remedial in nature and shall be liberally construed to effect its purpose of providing for a systematic and efficient 
means of solid waste disposal and encouraging the best utilization and conservation of energy and natural resources. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451, § 82. 

Formerly§ 68-31-805. 

Notes of Decisions (2) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-805, TN ST§ 68-211-805 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

l~nd of Document ·~j 2015 Thomson llcutcrs. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-806. Research; use of materials, TN ST§ 68-211-806 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-806 

§ 68-211-806. Research; use of materials 

Effective: March 31, 2010 
Currentness 

(a) Tennessee State University and Middle Tennessee State University may research and develop methods to address how to 

use the materials in solid waste as raw materials to create jobs, business and compost. 

(b) Such research by the universities may include how to divert food waste and yard waste, which make up twenty-five percent 

(25%) of the waste stream, from landfills to create useful compost and clean methane gas. 

( c) Such methods and research may be made available to government agencies and others involved in solid waste reform. Such 

research and work shall be funded entirely from non-state sources. 

( d) The universities will demonstrate the extent to which such reforms are cost effective. For example, that diversion of materials 

in solid waste as raw materials in business and compost creates jobs and profits. 

Credits 
20 IO Pub.Acts, c. 698. § I, eff March 31. 20 I 0. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-806, TN ST§ 68-211-806 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ,(· 2015 Thomson Reuter:;. !'\o claim to original U.S. Govcnuncm Works. 
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§ 68-211-807. Tennessee solid waste and recycling advisory ... , TN ST 68-211-807 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. 68-211-807 

§ 68-211-807. Tennessee solid waste and recycling adviso1y committee; creation; duties 

Effective:May19,2014 
Currentness 

(a) There is hereby established the Tennessee solid waste and recycling advisory committee to be composed of sixteen (16) 
members as follows: 

(I) One (I) person who is engaged in a field directly related to agriculture, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate; 

(2) One (I) person who is a manufacturer of aluminum and aluminum products, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate; 

(3) One (I) person who is a manufacturer of plastic and plastic products, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate; 

(4) One (I) person who is a private solid waste hauler and manages Class I sanitary landfills, to be appointed by the speaker 
of the senate; 

(5) One (I) person who represents county governments, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate; 

( 6) One (I) person who represents city governments, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate; 

(7) Two (2) people who represent environmental concerns, to be appointed by the speaker of the house of representatives; 

(8) One (I) person from the pulp and paper industry, to be appointed by the speaker of the house ofrepresentatives; 

(9) One (I) person who represents resalers or distributors of canned or bottled beverages, to be appointed by the speaker of 

the house of representatives; 

( 10) One (I) person who is a small waste generator, to be appointed by the speaker of the house of representatives; 

(I I) One (I) person who is a private recycler/processor of recyclable materials and a manager of a single stream material 

recovery facility (MRF), to be appointed by the speaker of the house ofrepresentatives; 

Vi::stl.:;wNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-807. Tennessee solid waste and recycling advisory ... , TN ST 68-211-807 

(12) Two (2) representatives from the department who are knowledgeable in the areas of solid waste and recycling, to be 

appointed by the commissioner; 

(13) One (I) person who is a manufacturer of tires and other rubber products, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate; and 

(14) One (I) person who is a retailer of tires, to be appointed by the speaker of the senate. 

(b) The advisory committee shall review current solid waste and recycling statutes, rules and policies in this state, and develop 

recommendations to modernize such laws. 

(c) The advisory committee may consult and coordinate with the department in carrying out its duties but shall not be 

administratively attached to the department. 

( d) Members shall receive no compensation for their service on the advisory committee, nor shall they be reimbursed for travel 

expenses. 

( e) The advisory committee shall submit its recommendations in a report to the speaker of the senate and the speaker of the 

house of representatives no later than February 15, 2015, at which time it shall cease to exist. 

Credits 
2014 Pub.Acts. c. 967. §I, eff. May 19. 2014. 

T. C. A. 68-211-807, TN ST 68-211-807 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document {; 2015 Thomson R~ulcrs. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§§ 68-211-808 to 68-211-810. Reserved, TN ST§ 68-211-808 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 {Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-808 

§§ 68-211-808 to 68-211-810. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-808, TN ST§ 68-211-808 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

L 2015 Thomson Reuters. No cluim to original U.S. Gowrnmcnl Works. 

"P/estl·3'NNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-811. Districts; needs assessment, TN ST§ 68-211-811 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-811 

§ 68-211-811. Districts; needs assessment 

Currentness 

(a) The counties within each development district, as established pursuant to title 13, chapter 14, including all municipalities 

therein, shall constitute a municipal solid waste planning district. Each district shall submit a district needs assessment for 

all of the counties within the district to the department of environment and conservation by September 30, 1992. The needs 

assessment for the municipal solid waste planning district shall be conducted by the staff of the development district. Such staff 

shall coordinate and maintain the plan. The needs assessment shall be revised to reflect subsequent developments in the district 

by April 1, 1999, and every five (5) years thereafter. 

(b) In conjunction with the commissioner, each development district shall sponsor a district-wide meeting to deliver the findings 

of the district needs assessment to the citizens of the district. 

( c) The district needs assessment will identify rational waste disposal areas within the district and include at least the following 

information: 

(1) Demographic information and projections for a ten-year planning period; 

(2) An analysis of economic activity within the district; 

(3) Characterization of the solid waste stream; 

( 4) Projections of solid waste generation for the ten-year planning period; 

(5) Evaluation of the collection systems for every municipality and county within the district; 

(6) Evaluation of existing solid waste capacity and management facilities within the district and evaluation of any planned new 

or expanded facilities; 

(7) A statement of district goals that are consistent with the state plan; 

(8) An analysis of existing or potential waste flows within the district and between adjacent districts; 

---------~-·--
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§ 68-211-811. Districts; needs assessment, TN ST§ 68-211-811 

(9) A comparison of projected demands from waste generation and importation of waste with available and projected capacity 
and an identification of potential shortfalls in capacity; and 

( l 0) Any additional information as the commissioner may require. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. §IO; 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 501, § 3, eff. June 12, 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. § 9. eff. July 1. 1996. 

Formerly§ 68-31-81 l. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-811, TN ST§ 68-211-81 l 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ".<:"· 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Gowmmcnt Works. 
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§ 68-211-812. Repealed by 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 10, eff .... , TN ST§ 68-211-812 

fl! KcyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment 

KeyCitc Red Flag Negative Treatment § 68-211-812. Repealed by 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 10, eff. July 1, 1996 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-812 

§ 68-211-812. Repealed by 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 10, eff. July 1, 1996 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-812, TN ST§ 68-211-812 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

\·, 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Govcnuncm Works. 
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§ 68-211-813. Regions, TN ST§ 68-211-813 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-813 

§ 68-211-813. Regions 

Effective: August 5, 2011 
Currentness 

(a)(l) After consideration of the needs assessment is completed, municipal solid waste regions shall be established by resolutions 

of the respective county legislative bodies by December 12, 1992. A municipal solid waste region shall consist of one ( 1) county 

or two (2) or more contiguous counties. If the region consists of more than one ( 1) county, an agreement establishing the region 

shall be approved by the legislative body of each county that is a party to the agreement. 

(2) Once established, municipal solid waste regions shall continue to exist until dissolved, a successor region or regions 

established and the requirements of this section are met. A municipal solid waste region may be dissolved and a new region or 

reconfigured region established upon completion of the following procedure: 

(A) The approval of the dissolution of the existing region by resolution of the county legislative body of each county in the 

existing region; 

(B) The approval of the proposed new or reconfigured region by resolution of the county legislative body of each county 

that is to be a part of the new or reconfigured region; 

(C) The submittal to the department of environment and conservation of a list of the new board members, their addresses, 

phone numbers, terms of office and a new or revised plan for any new or reconfigured region that complies with the 

requirements of this part; and 

(D) The approval of the department of environment and conservation of all of the new or revised plans for all of the new 

or reconfigured regions. 

(3) Each county and region shall continue to follow the existing approved plan until new or revised plans are approved by the 

department of environment and conservation for each new or reconfigured region. 

(4) The preferred organization of the regions shall be multi-county. Any county adopting a resolution establishing a single­

county region shall state the reasons for acting alone in the resolution. 

\;\12stlc.1NNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-813. Regions, TN ST § 68-211-813 

(b )( 1) The resolution establishing a region for a county or approving an agreement to establish a region with other counties shall 

provide for the establishment of a board to administer the activities of the region. This board shall consist of an odd number, 

not less than five (5) nor more than fifteen (15). Each county that is a member of a region shall be represented by at least one 

(1) member on the board. Municipalities that provide solid waste collection services or provide solid waste disposal services, 

directly or by contract, shall be represented on the board. The members of the board shall be appointed by the county mayors 

and municipal mayors, respectively, of the counties and eligible municipalities within the region. Municipalities entitled to 

representation on the board may agree to joint or multiple representation by a board member or for a county member to represent 

one (1) or more municipalities upon agreement of all local governments who share representation by a board member. Any such 

agreement shall specify the method of making the appointment for a member representing more than one (I) local governmental 

entity. Members of county and municipal governing bodies, county mayors, municipal mayors, county and municipal officers 

and department heads may be appointed to the board. Appointments must be approved by the legislative or governing bodies of 

the respective counties and eligible municipalities within the region. The members of the board shall serve for terms of six (6) 

years or until their successors are elected and are qualified by taking an oath of office, except that the initial board shall have 

approximately one third ( # ) of the members with terms of two (2) years, and approximately one third ( # ) of the members 

with tern1s of four ( 4) years, so as to stagger the terms of office. 

(2) Any county that has a solid waste authority, not organized pursuant to part 9 of this chapter and in existence on July I, 1991, 

may designate such authority as the board to administer the activities of the region, if such county chooses to be a region unto 

itself. The legislative body of the county and of each municipality that provides solid waste collection services or solid waste 

disposal services in the region shall approve such designation by the passage of an appropriate resolution. 

(3) Appointments made after July I, 1994, to the board for a municipal solid waste region consisting of counties having a 

population less than two hundred thousand (200,000), according to the 1990 federal census or any subsequent federal census, 

shall be made so that rural landowners shall have representation on the board, and by December 31, 1998, at least thirty percent 

(30%) of the membership shall consist of members who own at least a fifty percent (50%) equitable or fee simple interest in 

land that is eligible for classification as agricultural, forest or open space land under the terms of the Agricultural, Forest and 

Open Space Land Act of 1976, compiled in title 67, chapter 5, part 10. 

(c) Each region shall develop a plan for a ten-year disposal capacity, and for achieving compliance with the waste reduction 

and recycling goal required by§ 68-211-861. 

( d) The legislative body of any municipality which lies within the boundaries of two (2) or more regions shall select by resolution 

in which region it shall participate. 

(e) Within each municipal solid waste region, the board of the region shall establish a regional municipal solid waste advisory 

committee whose composition shall be determined by the board. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 12; 1994 Pub.Acts, c. 735, § I. eff. April 11. 1994; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, §§ 11 to 13. eff. July I, 

1996; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462. § l, eff. July 1. 2007. 

Formerly§ 68-31-813. 

'-t/2stl.;,v-1Nexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2 



§ 68-211-813. Regions, TN ST§ 68-211-813 

Notes of Decisions (4) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-813, TN ST§ 68-211-813 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Oocumcnt C 2015 Thomson Rcut.:rs. No claim to original U.S. Government Work>. 
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§ 68-211-814. Plans and specifications, TN ST§ 68-211-814 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-814 

§ 68-211-814. Plans and specifications 

Effective: August 5, 2013 
Currentness 

(a)(I) Each region shall submit its plan to the department of environment and conservation by July I, 1994. The plan shall 

be formulated in strict compliance with§ 68-211-815. After receiving a plan, the department shall approve or disapprove the 

plan within ninety (90) days. The department shall approve the plan if it adequately addresses each element required by §_ 

68-211-815. If a plan is disapproved, the department shall state in detail the reasons for such disapproval. The region shall 

review any disapproved plan and shall resubmit a plan which corrects all deficiencies to the department within sixty (60) days 

of receiving the letter of disapproval. 

(2) The plan may be revised at any time to reflect subsequent developments in the region. Each revised plan shall be submitted 

to, reviewed by and approved or disapproved by the department of environment and conservation in the same manner as the 

initial plan. 

(3) Each municipal solid waste region shall submit an annual progress report to the department covering the next ten (10) years 

that includes, at a minimum, the information contained in§ 68-2l l-815(b). 

(b )(1 )(A) If the commissioner approves the plan, the region or solid waste authority, if one has been fom1ed pursuant to part 

9 of this chapter, by resolution and subsequent adoption of ordinances by counties and municipalities in the region, may 

also regulate the flow of collected municipal solid waste generated within the region. Prior to the adoption of any resolution 

declaring the necessity ofrequiring mandatory flow of municipal solid waste, the region or authority, following one (I) or more 

public hearings, shall demonstrate in writing to the commissioner that it has considered the utilization of any municipal solid 

waste management facility in existence within the region on July I, 1991, which meets the proposed or final federal Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), compiled in 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq., Subtitle D regulations. The region or authority 

must show that its decision not to use the existing facility is based on the fact that: 

(i) Such facility is environmentally unsound or inadequate to meet the region's ten-year capacity assurance plan; 

(ii)( a) Costs for the use of such facility are inconsistent with comparable facilities within the state; or 

(b) The existing facility is operating in a manner that is inconsistent with the plan; and 

(iii) The waste subject to flow control will be sent only to a facility or facilities that meet all state and federal regulations. 

V\lestla•/"Nexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-814. Plans and specifications, TN ST§ 68-211-814 

(B) The region or authority may restrict access to any landfills and incinerators which dispose of municipal solid waste by 

excluding waste originating with persons or entities outside the region in order to effectuate the plan. If a facility within a 

region has accepted waste from a specific source outside the region prior to July I, 1991, the region may not prohibit that 

facility from continuing to accept waste from that source, unless the facility's acceptance of that waste significantly impairs 
the region's ability to effectuate its plan. 

(C) Appeal of final actions of the region or autho1ity, including any detem1inations under subdivision (b)(l), shall be taken 

by an aggrieved person within thirty (30) days to any chancery court in the region or authority which took such final action. 

(D) After the plan is approved, the region must approve any application for a permit for a solid waste disposal facility or 

incinerator within the region as is consistent with the region's disposal needs before any permit is issued by the commissioner 
pursuant to this chapter. 

(2)(A) An applicant for a pem1it for construction or expansion of a solid waste disposal facility or incinerator shall submit a 

copy of the application to the region at or before the time the application is submitted to the commissioner. The region shall 

review the application for compliance with this section, and shall conduct a public hearing after public notice has been given 

in accordance with title 8, chapter 44, prior to making the detem1ination provided for in this subdivision (b)(2). The hearing 

shall afford all interested persons an opportunity to submit written and oral comments, and the proceeding shall be recorded and 

transcribed. The region shall render a decision on the application within ninety (90) days after receipt of a complete application. 

The region shall immediately notify the commissioner of its acceptance or rejection of an application. 

(B) The region may reject an application for a new solid waste disposal facility or incinerator or expansion of an existing 

solid waste disposal facility or incinerator within the region only upon determining that the application is inconsistent with 

the solid waste management plan adopted by the county or region and approved by the department, and the region shall 

document in writing the specific grounds on which the application is inconsistent with such plan. 

(C) Where a region rejects an application, the commissioner shall not issue the pe1mit unless the commissioner finds that the 

decision of the region is arbitrary and capricious and unsupported in the record developed before the region. 

(D) Appeal of final actions of the region, including any detem1ination under subdivision (b)(2)(B), shall be taken by an 

aggrieved person within thirty (30) days to the chancery court of Davidson County. The court shall exercise the same review 

as it would in a case arising under the Uniform Administrative Procedures Act, compiled in title 4, chapter 5. For the purposes 

of this section, an "aggrieved person" is limited to persons applying for pem1its, persons who own property or live within a 

three-mile radius of the facility or site that is proposed for permitting, or cities and counties in which the proposed facility 

is located. 

(E) The region shall provide for reasonable public notice of meetings. The region shall be subject to title 10, chapter 7, part 

5. The region shall act in accordance with title 8, chapter 44. 

(3) If the region has fom1ed a solid waste authority pursuant to part 9 of this chapter, then the authority shall approve any pe1mit 

applications as provided for in this section instead of the region. 

·--···---·-·-··------
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§ 68-211-814. Plans and specifications, TN ST§ 68-211-814 

(4) A region or solid waste authority may not impair the obligations of contracts entered into before the date of approval of the 

region's plan in violation of the article I.§ 20 of the Tennessee Constitution. 

( 5) A region or solid waste authority may not restrict the movement of recovered materials into, out of, or within the region. 

(6) Before submitting a plan required by this part, each municipal solid waste region shall hold a public hearing on the proposed 

plan or revised plan. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 13: 1993 Pub.Acts, c. 523, § 4, eff. May 31, 1993; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. §§ 14 to 18. eff. July I. 
1996; 2004 Pub.Acts. c. 783. § 2, eff. May 28. 2004. 

Formerly§ 68-31-814. 

Notes of Decisions (2) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-814, TN ST§ 68-211-814 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document t· 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original U.S. Goven1111~11t Works. 
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§ 68-211-815. Plans and specifications; contents, TN ST§ 68-211-815 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal CRefs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-815 

§ 68-211-815. Plans and specifications; contents 

Effective: August 5, 2013 
Currentness 

(a) Each plan and revised plan submitted by a municipal solid waste region pursuant to this part shall be consistent with the 

state solid waste plan, with this part, with all other applicable law and with any regulation promulgated by the department. 

(b) At a minimum, each plan and revised plan submitted by a municipal solid waste region shall include the following: 

(1) Demographic infommtion; 

(2) A current system analysis of: 

(A) Waste streams, including data concerning types and amounts generated; 

(B) Collection capability, including data detailing the different types of collection systems and the populations and areas 

which receive and do not receive such services; 

(C) Disposal capability, including an analysis of the remaining life expectancy of landfills or other disposal facilities; 

(D) Costs, using a full-cost accounting model developed by the commissioner, including costs of collection, disposal, 

maintenance, contracts and other costs; and 

(E) Revenues, including cost reimbursement fees, appropriations and other revenue sources; 

(3) Adoption of the uniform financial accounting system required by§ 68-211-874; 

(4) Anticipated growth trends for the next ten-year period; 

(5) Anticipated waste capacity needs; 

VV2stlawNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-815. Plans and specifications; contents, TN ST§ 68-211-815 

(6) Planned capacity assurance, including descriptions of planned or needed facilities; 

(7) A recycling plan, including a description of current public and private recycling efforts and planned efforts to enhance 

recycling within the county or region; 

(8) A plan for the disposal of household hazardous wastes; 

(9) Adoption of unifom1 reporting requirements as required by this part; 

(10) A description of waste reduction and recycling activities designed to attain the goal required by§ 68-211-861; 

(11) A description of education initiatives aimed at businesses, industries, schools, citizens and others, which addresses 

recycling, waste reduction, collection and other goals of this part; 

( 12) An evaluation of multi-county solid waste disposal region options with an explanation of the reasons for adopting or failing 

to adopt a multi-county regional approach; 

(13) A timetable for implementation of the plan; 

(14) A description of the responsibilities of the various participating jurisdictions; 

(15) A certification from the region's title 68, chapter 211, part 9 solid waste authority, if such an authority has been formed, 

or if no such authority has been f01med, the county legislative body of each county in the region that they have reviewed and 

approved of the region's plan and/or revised plan; 

( 16) A plan for managing solid waste generated as a result of disasters or emergencies; and 

( 17) Any other info1mation as the commissioner may deem relevant to the implementation of this part. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 45 I, § 14; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 50 I, § 3, eff. June 12, 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, §§ 19 to 22. eff. July l, 

1996; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462, §§ 2, 3, eff. July I. 2007. 

Formerly§ 68-31-815. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-815, TN ST§ 68-211-815 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl ol" Document C: 2015 Thomson Rclllcrs. t\o claim to original U.S. Gowr111nc11t Works. 
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§ 68-211-816. Sanctions, TN ST§ 68-211-816 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-816 

§ 68-211-816. Sanctions 

Effective: July 1, 2007 

Currentness 

(a) Ifa municipal solid waste region fails to submit an adequate plan in a timely fashion or ifthe commissioner does not approve 

any plan submitted to it, or for any other noncompliance with a provision of this part, then the commissioner shall impose the 

following sanctions, as appropriate, on the noncompliant county or region: 

( 1) On the first instance of noncompliance, the commissioner shall issue a letter of warning to the noncompliant county or region 

indicating the reasons for noncompliance, setting forth the sequence of graduated sanctions for noncompliance and offering 

technical assistance to remedy the causes of noncompliance. 

(2) Any noncompliance shall be resolved as soon as possible. If noncompliance continues for thirty (30) days after receipt of 

the warning letter, the noncomplying county or region shall lose eligibility for funds from the solid waste management fund, 

unless the commissioner states in writing that, due to particular circumstances, a longer time is appropriate. 

(3) If noncompliance continues for sixty (60) days after receipt of the warning letter, then, in addition to any other penalty 

imposed by law, the commissioner may impose a civil penalty of not more than five thousand dollars ($5,000) for each day 

of noncompliance beyond the sixty-day period. 

(b) Any civil penalty shall be assessed in the same manner as provided in § 68-21 l- l l 7(b). Any penalty collected pursuant to 

this section shall be deposited in the solid waste management fund. 

(c) Any person who violates§ 68-211-608, § 68-21 l-866(a) or§ 68-21 l-867(d) shall be subject to the penalties provided for 

in § 68-211-117. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 45 l, § 16; 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 50 I. § 3, eff. June 12. 1995; 2007 Pub.Acts. c. 462, §§ 4 to 6. eff. July l, 2007. 

Formerly§ 68-31-816. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-816, TN ST§ 68-211-816 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

1NestlawNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government \!\forks. 



§ 68-211-816. Sanctions, TN ST§ 68-211-816 
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§ 68-211-817. Exclusion of waste originating outside region, TN ST§ 68-211-817 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-817 

§ 68-211-817. Exclusion of waste originating outside region 

Currentness 

A publicly owned landfill or incinerator for disposal of municipal solid waste may exclude solid waste originating outside of 

the region if such exclusion is consistent with the region's plan submitted pursuant to§ 68-211-814. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451, § 15. 

Formerly § 68-31-817. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-817, TN ST§ 68-211-817 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document '{:: 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 

---------------------·---·-~--·------
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§§ 68-211-818 to 68·211-820. Reserved, TN ST§ 68-211-818 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-818 

§§ 68-211-818 to 68-211-820. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-818, TN ST§ 68-211-818 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

·i:; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original LJ.S. Govcmmclll Works. 
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§§ 68-211-818 to 68-211-820. Reserved, TN ST§ 68-211-820 
----------------·----------------------·-··-------------

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-820 

§§ 68-211-818 to 68-211-820. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-820, TN ST§ 68-211-820 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

{; 1015 Thomson Renters. No claim to original U.S. Govcmmcnl Works. 
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§ 68-211-821. Fund; transfer of functions, TN ST§ 68-211-821 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-821 

§ 68-211-821. Fund; transfer of functions 

Effective: August 5, 2013 
Currentness 

(a) There is established a general fund reserve to be allocated by the general appropriations act which shall be known as the 

"solid waste management fund." Moneys from the fund may be expended to fund activities authorized by this part. Any revenues 

deposited in this reserve shall remain in the reserve until expended for purposes consistent with this part, and shall not revert to 

the general fund on any June 30. Any excess revenues on interest earned by such revenues shall not revert on any June 30, but 

shall remain available for appropriation in subsequent fiscal years. Any appropriation from such reserve shall not revert to the 

general fund on any June 30, but shall remain available for expenditure in subsequent fiscal years. In addition to appropriations 

of solid waste management funds made by the annual appropriations act, at any time during the fiscal year, the commissioner 

of environment and conservation, subject to the approval of the commissioner of finance and administration, may use any 

additional funds available from the solid waste management fund to fund activities authorized by this part. 

(b) It is the legislative intent that all appropriations which are required for the implementation of this part and which are 

in addition to the funds available from the solid waste management fund established by this section shall be funded from 

appropriations which are otherwise available for solid waste management and related activities as appropriated in the general 

appropriations act. 

( c) The commissioner is directed to develop, with the input and advice of the underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal 

control board, comprehensive goals for the system of solid waste management programs throughout the state. These goals 

should address waste avoidance, waste reduction, recycling, composting, and household hazardous waste objectives and should 

incorporate a strategy of education, technical assistance, and incentives for assuring compliance by all solid waste regions. This 

program shall be put in place for grants given out after July 1, 2000; provided, that there is sufficient infom1ation available on 

the waste reduction and diversion activities of the counties at that time. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, §§ 53, 89; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. § 23. eff. July l, 1996; 1999 Pub.Acts, c. 384, § 8. eff. June 14, 1999; 

2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462, § 7, eff. July l, 2007. 

Formerly§ 68-31-821. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-821, TN ST§ 68-211-821 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End ol' Document ~; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original li.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-822. Grants; technical assistance, TN ST § 68-211-822 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-822 

§ 68-211-822. Grants; technical assistance 

Effective: July 1, 2011 
Currentness 

From available funds in the solid waste management fund established by§ 68-211-821, the department may award annual grants 

to the University of Tennessee county technical assistance service, the University of Tennessee municipal technical advisory 

service, the development districts and the department of economic and community development. Upon receiving such grant 

funds, these agencies shall render technical assistance to regions, counties and municipalities as needed in the development of 

the plan required by this part. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 45 L § 17; 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693, § 24; 2011 Pub.Acts, c. 509, § 4, eff. July l, 2011. 

Formerly§ 68-31-822. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-822, TN ST§ 68-211-822 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document {; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Gowrnmcnt Works. 

V\'~stla'NNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-823. Grants, TN ST § 68-211-823 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-823 

§ 68-211-823. Grants 

Currentness 

From available funds in the solid waste management fund established in§ 68-211-821, the department shall award: 

( 1) Annual plan maintenance grants to development districts in order to assist such districts in revising data, maintaining district 

needs assessments, and assisting counties within the district; and 

(2) Planning assistance grants to each county or solid waste region in order to assist such counties or regions in developing, 

revising and maintaining regional plans required by§ 68-211-814. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 19: 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693, § 24: 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. § 24. eff. July I. 1996. 

Formerly§ 68-31-823. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-823, TN ST§ 68-211-823 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ·~) 2015 Thomson Reuters. No daim 10 original U.S. Govcmmcnl Works. 
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§ 68-211-824. Matching grant assistance, TN ST § 68-211-824 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-824 

§ 68-211-824. Matching grant assistance 

Currentness 

From funds available in the solid waste management fund established by§ 68-2 I 1-821, the department shall offer matching grant 

assistance to counties for the purpose of establishing or upgrading convenience centers required by § 68-2 I 1-85 I. Such grant 

funds may be applied to expenses for land, paving, fencing, shelters for attendants, containers and basic equipment including, 

but not limited to, balers, crushers, grinders and fencing. Such funds may also be applied to expenditures for developing and 

printing of operating manuals, but such funds may not be used for regular operating expenses of a recurring nature. The local 

share of the match shall be determined by the department, using an economic index promulgated by the board based upon 

factors which include, but are not limited to, per capita income and property values of the county applicant. Counties falling 

within the lower one half ( Yi ) of the economic scale on the index shall be eligible for lower matching rates. The board shall 
promulgate regulations regarding the appropriate index and matching rates. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451, § 21; I 992 Pub.Acts. c. 693. § 24. 

Formerly§ 68-31-824. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-824, TN ST§ 68-211-824 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document L 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 

-------·-------
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§ 68-211-825. Matching grant program; rebates, TN ST§ 68-211-825 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-825 

§ 68-211-825. Matching grant program; rebates 

Effective: August 5, 2011 

Currentness 

(a) From funds available from the solid waste management fund established by§ 68-211-821, the department shall establish 

a matching grant program for the purchase of equipment needed to establish or upgrade recycling at a public or not-for-profit 

recycling collection site. Such equipment may include, but is not limited to, containers, balers, crushers and grinders. No grant 

shall be awarded for the purchase of mechanical processing equipment to be used at a public or not-for-profit recycling collection 

site if there is adequate mechanical processing equipment at privately owned facilities which serve the relevant geographical 

area, unless the grant applicant demonstrates to the department's satisfaction that the mechanical processing equipment is an 

indispensable component of an otherwise eligible grant project and will not be used to compete with a privately owned facility. 

The local share of the match shall be detem1ined by the department, using an economic index based upon factors which include, 

but are not limited to, per capita income and property values of the jurisdiction to be served. Areas falling within the lower 

economic scale on the index shall be eligible for lower matching rates. The department shall establish criteria under which 

applicants for such matching grants will receive preference if their program employs adults with a developmental disability, 

as defined in § 33-1-10 I, in such a manner that improves the recycling rate of the city or county and thereby contributes to 

progress towards meeting or exceeding its solid waste reduction and diversion goal under § 68-211-861. 

(b )(I) For the eleven ( 11) counties which generate the greatest amount of solid waste as recorded in the University of Tennessee's 

solid waste management report of February 1991 to the commissioner of environment and conservation, under a technical 

assistance contract pursuant to part 6 of this chapter, or as subsequently modified by data provided by subsequent annual reports 

required by § 68-21 1-87 I, the state shall grant a rebate against the amount due to the state under the state surcharge on the 

tipping fee imposed by this part. The state will rebate the amount of a county's credit to the county on an annual basis. The total 

amount of credits shall not exceed an amount equal to one hundred fifty percent (I 50%) of the funds allocated for recycling 

equipment grants. The rebate for any one ( l) of the eleven (11) counties shall be detem1ined pursuant to the following fommla: 

(tons of the county's solid waste) 

(total tons of solid waste collected from all eleven (11) counties) 

multiplied by 

150% of state funds allocated for recycling grants 

(2) Such rebate shall be in lieu ofrecycling equipment grants for these eleven (11) counties. Within a county, the rebate shall be 

allocated proportionately by population among the municipalities in the county which provide collection or disposal services 

and the county for the remaining population of the county. A county or municipality may only expend such rebate for recycling 

purposes and they must expend from local funds an amount equal to the amount of the rebate towards such purposes. 

-------------
V'/2stl.:;•NNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-825. Matching grant program; rebates, TN ST § 68-211-825 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 29; 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693. § 24; 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 50 l, § 3, eff. June 12. 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 

846. §§ 25, 26, eff. July l, 1996; 1997 Pub.Acts, c. 221. § 2. eff. May 15, 1997; 2003 Pub.Acts, c. 332. § l, eff. June 13, 2003; 

2005 Pub.Acts, c. 317, § J, eff. June 7, 2005. 

Formerly§ 68-31-825. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-825, TN ST§ 68-211-825 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document l~: 2015 Thomson Reuters. No daim to original U.S. Govcmmcnl Works. 

1//estl.:;wNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2 



§ 68-211-826. Office of cooperative marketing for recyclables, TN ST § 68-211-826 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-826 

§ 68-211-826. Office of cooperative marketing for recyclables 

Effective: July 1, 2007 

Currentness 

(a) From funds available from the solid waste management fund established by§ 68-211-821, the department of environment 

and conservation shall establish an office of cooperative marketing for recyclables. 

(b) The duties of the office of cooperative marketing for recyclables include: 

( 1) Preparing and maintaining a directory of regional buyers, which shall include current information on product specifications, 

markets and price ranges; 

(2) Preparing and maintaining a directory of public and private, for profit and nonprofit recycling programs; 

(3) Collecting infom1ation on the quantity and quality of materials offered for sale by recycling programs; 

(4) Assisting counties in contract negotiation; 

(5) Creating a data base for and operating an interactive infomiation clearinghouse and marketing service, which shall include 

pricing infomiation; and 

(6) Maintaining an inventory of available quantities, qualities and locations ofrecyclable materials in Tennessee, and marketing 

such sites to industries which can utilize available materials. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 30; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462, § 8, eff. July l, 2007. 

Formerly § 68-31-826. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-826, TN ST§ 68-211-826 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ("· 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original C.S. Government Works. 

~"/2stlc:}/1Ne:.::r © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-827. Repealed by 2002 Pub.Acts, c. 776, § 2, eff .... , TN ST§ 68-211-827 

.,. KeyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment 

KeyCite Red Flag Negative Treatment § 68-211-827. Repealed by 2002 Pub.Acts, c. 776, § 2, cff. July 1, 2002 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-827 

§ 68-211-827. Repealed by 2002 PubActs, c. 776, § 2, eff. July I, 2002 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-827, TN ST§ 68-211-827 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

K> 2015 Thomson Rcutcn,. No claim to original U.S. Govcmmcm Works. 
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\N2stl21NNexr© 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-828. Collection of household hazardous waste; ... , TN ST§ 68-211-828 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-828 

-----------------

§ 68-211-828. Collection of household hazardous waste; competitive grants 

Effective: July 1, 2007 

Currentness 

(a) From funds available from the solid waste management fund, the department shall award competitive grants for collection of 

household hazardous waste at a permanent site to municipalities with a population of one hundred thousand (100,000) or more 

in counties with a population of two hundred eighty-seven thousand seven hundred (287,700), or more, according to the 1980 

federal census or any subsequent federal census, and to the municipalities or counties that are determined by the depai1ment to be 

the next largest in terms of population or level of participation, or both, in mobile household hazardous waste collection events. 

(b) An eligible municipality or county may only receive one (1) grant for the establishment of a pem1anent household hazardous 

waste collection site; however, if funds are available from the solid waste management fund, the department may award a 

municipality or county that has established a permanent household hazardous waste collection site annual grants to assist the 

municipality or county in maintaining or operating, or both, the permanent household hazardous waste collection site. 

(c) A municipality or county that receives a grant pursuant to this section shall allow all residents of the county in which the 

site is located to use the site on the same basis. The mobile household hazardous waste collection service authorized by .§. 
68-211-829 shall not be provided in a county in which there is a pemmnent household hazardous waste collection site that was 

funded through a grant pursuant to this section. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 34; 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693, § 24; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 27, eff. July l, 1996; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 

462, § 9. eff. July L 2007. 

Formerly § 68-31-828. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-828, TN ST§ 68-211-828 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document C 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-829. Household hazardous wastes; collection; ... , TN ST§ 68-211-829 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-829 

§ 68-211-829. Household hazardous wastes; collection; designated days; service sites 

Currentness 

From funds available from the solid waste management fund established by § 68-211-821, except as provided in§ 68-211-828, 

the department shall, directly or by contract, provide for the collection of household hazardous wastes on designated days in 

each county. Each county, or solid waste authority under part 9 of this chapter, if such autho1ity has been created, shall provide 

a service site and shall advertise in newspapers of general circulation in the county the day or days and hours and location where 

the household hazardous wastes will be collected. The advertisements shall also identify examples of household hazardous 

wastes that the mobile unit will receive. The county or solid waste authority shall also furnish at least one ( 1) person to represent 

the county or solid waste authority at the service site on the days of collection, who will assist the persons operating the mobile 

collection unit. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 35: 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846. § 28. eff. July l, 1996. 

Formerly § 68-31-829. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-829, TN ST§ 68-211-829 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document '.C 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-830. New technology development; matching grants, TN ST§ 68-211-830 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-830 

§ 68-211-830. New technology development; matching grants 

Currentness 

From funds available from the solid waste management fund established by§ 68-211-82 l, the department may award matching 

grants to persons to promote the development of new technology for solid waste and recovered materials management, the use 

of solid waste as a fuel substitute, or innovative solid waste management infrastructure development. Such matching grants 

shall be made on a competitive basis with appropriate criteria for such competition to be established by the commissioner of 

environment and conservation. When the recipient is a local government, the local share of the match shall be determined 

by the department, using an economic index based upon factors which include, but are not limited to, per capita income and 

property values of the local government. Jurisdictions falling within the lower economic scale on the index shall be eligible 

for lower matching rates. 

Credits 
1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 29. eff. July l. 1996. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-830, TN ST§ 68-211-830 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document t; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Go\'crnmcnt Works. 
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§ 68-211-831. Clean-up of unpermitted waste disposal sites; ... , TN ST§ 68-211-831 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act ofl991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-831 

§ 68-211-831. Clean-up of unpermitted waste disposal sites; use and recovery of funds 

Currentness 

From funds available from the solid waste management fund, the department may, directly or by contract, provide for the 
investigation and clean-up of unpem1itted waste tire disposal sites and other unpe1mitted solid waste disposal sites. The 

department shall attempt to recover funds expended from the person responsible for the disposal of the waste tires or solid 
waste pursuant to § 68-211-117. 

Credits 
1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. § 30, eff April 30. 1996. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-831, TN ST§ 68-211-831 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ·C 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original U.S. Govcrnmcnl Works. 

--------··-------
VVestl.:;•NNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-832. Landfill corrective action; grants, TN ST§ 68-211-832 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-832 

§ 68-211-832. Landfill corrective action; grants 

Effective: July 9, 2012 

Currentness 

(a) From funds available in the solid waste management fund, the department may award a grant or grants to any county or 

municipality that operated a Class I landfill pe1mitted by the department that is now closed and does not have a composite 

liner system in place, if the department detem1ines that the landfill is causing ham1 to health or the environment through 

contamination of ground water. 

(b) The grant shall be used by the county or municipality for the purpose of investigation or corrective action at the landfill. The 

amount of the grant shall be set at an amount sufficient to reimburse a county or municipality for not more than fifty percent 

(50%) of the total cost of investigation and corrective action of the ground water contamination as of the date of application 

for the grant. 

(c) The underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal control board may promulgate rules it deems necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate this grant program. 

Credits 
2007 Pub.Acts. c. 462. § 10. eff. July l, 2007. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-832, TN ST§ 68-211-832 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

-------- --·-----
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§ 68-211-833. Use of funds for disposal of hazardous ... , TN ST§ 68-211-833 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-833 

§ 68-211-833. Use of funds for disposal of hazardous materials in public schools 

Effective: July 1, 2007 

Currentness 

Funds available in the solid waste management fund may be used by the department to provide for the proper disposal of 
hazardous waste or other materials, deemed by the department to pose a hazard to students or the environment, in public 
kindergarten through grade twelve (K-12) schools. 

Credits 
2007 Pub.Acts. c. 462. § 11. eff. July l, 2007. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-833, TN ST§ 68-211-833 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End or Document .;·~ 2015 Thomson lkutcrs. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 

V\lestlc:':,1Nexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-834. Reserved, TN ST § 68-211-834 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-834, TN ST§ 68-211-834 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-834 

§ 68-211-834. Reserved 

Effective: July 1, 2007 

Currentness 

End of Document C 2015 Thomson Reuters. Ko claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-835. Tipping fee; surcharge; solid waste disposal fee, TN ST § 68-211-835 
----------·----------

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-835 

§ 68-211-835. Tipping fee; surcharge; solid waste disposal fee 

Effective: June 25, 2009 
Currentness 

(a) Each county, municipality, or solid waste authority which owns a municipal solid waste disposal facility or incinerator may 

impose a tipping fee upon each ton of municipal solid waste or its volume equivalent received at such solid waste disposal 

facility or incinerator. Such a tipping fee shall be set by the governing body of the county or municipality, or by the board of 

directors of the solid waste authority. This tipping fee shall be collected by the operator of the publicly owned municipal solid 

waste disposal facility or incinerator and remitted to the owner. The fee imposed may be equal to, or a portion of, the estimated 

cost of providing solid waste management services on a per ton or volume equivalent. Such full cost shall be detern1ined pursuant 

to the uniform solid waste accounting system developed by the comptroller of the treasury. 

(b) Revenue from tipping fees at publicly owned solid waste disposal facilities and incinerators received by counties, 

municipalities and solid waste authorities shall be expended only for solid waste management purposes. 

(c) When a municipal solid waste disposal facility is operated as a joint venture by more than one (I) city or county, or 

combination thereof, or by an authority, the tipping fee authorized under this section shall be imposed by the joint operators 

or authority, and the tipping fee received shall be remitted to the participating local governments or authorities for expenditure 

for solid waste management purposes only. 

( d)( 1) In addition to any tipping fee imposed by any local government under this section, there shall also be imposed a surcharge 

of ninety cents ($0.90) on each ton of municipal solid waste received at all Class I solid waste disposal facilities or incinerators. 

(2) The operator of the municipal solid waste disposal facility or incinerator shall collect this surcharge and remit it to the state 

treasury, except that the operator shall be allowed a deduction of the surcharge due, repo1ted and paid to the department in the 

amount of one percent (I%) of the amount due on the report. No deduction from the fee shall be allowed ifthe report or payment 

of the surcharge is delinquent. Of the funds received from this surcharge, for a period of three (3) years starting July 1, 2009, the 

state shall credit an amount not to exceed two million six hundred thousand dollars ($2,600,000) to the general fund annually, if 

the annual general appropriations act so provides, and the remainder shall be credited to the solid waste management fund. On 

July 1, 2012, and thereafter, all of the funds received from this surcharge shall be credited to the solid waste management fund. 

(e) In order to encourage regional use of solid waste disposal facilities or incinerators, a county that is host to a solid waste 

disposal facility or incinerator used by other counties in the same region fornrnd pursuant to this part may impose a surcharge 

on municipal solid waste received at any such solid waste disposal facility or incinerator by resolution of its county legislative 

bodies in the region. The surcharge shall be imposed on each ton or volume equivalent of municipal solid waste so received. The 

-----·-----------------------------------------·----·---·-
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§ 68-211-835. Tipping fee; surcharge; solid waste disposal fee, TN ST§ 68-211-835 

revenue received by a county from the surcharge authorized by this subsection ( e) shall be expended for solid waste management 

purposes, or for purposes related to offsetting costs incurred and other impacts resulting from the county being host to the solid 

waste disposal facility or incinerator. If any municipality in the host county incurs costs as a result of such a municipal solid 

waste facility or incinerator, then the county shall appropriate funds derived from the surcharge revenue to the municipality 

which shall be used by the municipality to offset such costs. 

(f)(l) In addition to any fee authorized by title 5, and to any tipping fee imposed by any local government under this section, 

a county, municipality or solid waste authority is authorized to impose: 

(A) A surcharge on each ton of municipal solid waste received at a solid waste disposal facility or incinerator for expenditure 

for solid waste collection or disposal purposes consistent with this part; and/or 

(B) A solid waste disposal fee authorized by subsection (g). 

(2) The surcharge authorized to be imposed by a county by subdivision (f)(l)(A) shall not take effect until a regional solid 

waste plan is approved for such county. 

(g)(I) In addition to any power authorized by title 5, a county, municipality or solid waste authority is authorized to impose 

and collect a solid waste disposal fee. Funds generated from such fees may only be used to establish and maintain solid waste 

collection and disposal services, including, but not limited to, convenience centers. All residents of the county shall have access 

to these services. The amount of the fee shall bear a reasonable relationship to the cost of providing the solid waste disposal 

services. Such fees shall be segregated from the general fund and shall be used only for the purposes for which they were 

collected. 

(2) Subject to any other requirement of law, a county, municipality or solid waste authority may enter into an agreement with 

an electric utility to collect the solid waste disposal fee as a part of the utility's billing process. The agreement shall be approved 

by the governing body of the county or municipality entering into the agreement, or, in the case ofa solid waste authority, the 

agreement shall be approved by the authority's board of directors. 

(3) A solid waste disposal fee shall not be imposed on any generator of solid waste when the generator's solid waste is managed 

in a privately owned solid waste disposal system or resource recovery facility owned by the generator. 

( 4) In any county having a population ofnot less than nineteen thousand three hundred ( 19,300) nor more than nineteen thousand 

six hundred (19,600) or not less than twenty-two thousand two hundred (22,200) nor more than twenty-two thousand five 

hundred (22,500) or not less than twenty-three thousand three hundred (23,300) nor more than twenty-three thousand four 

hundred (23,400), according to the 1990 federal census or any subsequent federal census, the solid waste disposal fee authorized 

by this subsection (g) shall be subject to the same penalty and interest as delinquent property taxes if not paid within thirty 

(30) days after notice of such fee is mailed. The unpaid fees, penalty, interest and cost shall be a lien on the real estate and 

improvements thereon upon filing of a notice with the office of the register of deeds of the county in which the property lies. 

Such lien shall be in favor of the jurisdiction, second only to liens of the state, county and municipality for taxes, any lien of 

the municipality for special assessments, and any valid lien, right or interest in such property duly recorded or duly perfected 

by filing, prior to the filing of such notice. The notice shall identify the debtor, owner of record of the real property, contain 

the property address, describe the property sufficiently to identify it and recite the amount of the obligation secured by the lien. 

"iVestl.;::;•NNe:.::r © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to miginal U.S. Government Works. 2 



§ 68-211-835. Tipping fee; surcharge; solid waste disposal fee, TN ST§ 68-211-835 

No sale or transfer, including, but not limited to, a transfer to an heir-at-law, assignee or legatee of such real property may be 

legally closed and recorded until the lien has been satisfied. The same shall apply if the property is to be made the subject of a 

contract of sale. Upon the sale or transfer of the real property, the successor, successors or assigns shall be required to withhold 
a sufficient amount of the purchase money to cover the amount of the fees, interest, penalty and cost. The jurisdiction may 
collect the delinquent fees, penalty, interest and cost through an action for debt filed in any court of competent jurisdiction. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 54: 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 31. eff. July I, 1996; 1997 Pub.Acts, c. 343. § l, eff. May 30. 1997; 
1998 Pub.Acts, c. 817, §§ l to 3, eff. July l, 1998; 1999 Pub.Acts. c. 384. §§ 1. 2, eff. June 14. 1999; 2002 Pub.Acts, c. 720, 
§§ l, 2. eff. July l, 2002; 2004 Pub.Acts. c. 783, § 1. eff. May 28. 2004; 2007 Pub.Acts. c. 462, § 12. eff. July l. 2007; 2009 
Pub.Acts, c. 531, § 5, eff. June 25, 2009. 

Formerly§ 68-31-835. 

Notes of Decisions (17) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-835, TN ST§ 68-211-835 
CmTent through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document [·, 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to orig-inal U.S. Government Works. 
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§§ 68-211-836 to 68-211-840. Reserved, TN ST § 68-211-836 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 

Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 
Environmental Protection 

Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 
Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-836 

§§ 68-211-836 to 68-211-840. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-836, TN ST§ 68-211-836 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document 

Currentness 

f; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Gowrnmcnt Works. 
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§§ 68-211-836 to 68-211-840. Reserved, TN ST § 68-211-840 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-840 

§§ 68-211-836 to 68-211-840. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-840, TN ST§ 68-211-840 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

~·, 2015 Thomson Reuters. i\o claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68·211-841. Repealed by 2012 Pub.Acts, c. 986, § 33, eff .... , TN ST§ 68·211-841 

1llll KeyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment 

KeyCite Red Flag Negative Treatment § 68-211-841. Repealed by 2012 Pub.Acts, c. 986, § 33, eff. Oct. 1, 2012 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annas) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annas) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-841 

§ 68-211-841. Repealed by 2012 Pub.Acts, c. 986, § 33, eff. Oct. 1, 2012 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-841, TN ST§ 68-211-841 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Oocumcut 

Effective: October 1, 2012 
Currentness 

'(; 1015 Thomson Reuters. t\o claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-842. Education; guidelines, TN ST§ 68-211-842 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annas) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-842 

§ 68-211-842. Education; guidelines 

Currentness 

(a) The commissioner shall issue guidelines for the education program element of the municipal solid waste region plan. Each 

solid waste regional plan shall include an education program to assist adults and children to understand solid waste issues, 
management options and costs, and the value of waste reduction and recycling. 

(b) The adult education program shall be funded at a level no less than four percent (4%) of the waste disposal surcharge 

collected in fiscal year 1996-97; five percent (5%) of the waste disposal surcharge collected in fiscal year 1997-98; and six 
percent (6%) of the waste disposal surcharge collected in fiscal year 1998-99. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 38; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 501, § 3, eff. June 12, 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 50, eff. July l, 1996. 

Formerly § 68-31-842. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-842, TN ST§ 68-211-842 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document f) 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Gm•cmmcnl Works. 
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§ 68-211-843. Information clearinghouse, TN ST§ 68-211-843 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Cha}?.ter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-843 

§ 68-211-843. Information clearinghouse 

Currentness 

The commissioner shall establish an information clearinghouse to acquire, review, evaluate and distribute a catalog of materials 

on source reduction and recycling. The commissioner shall also organize and conduct statewide and regional workshops and 

conferences on solid waste management, source reduction and recycling. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 39: 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 501. § 3. eff. June 12, 1995. 

Formerly§ 68-31-843. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-843, TN ST§ 68-211-843 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document ~-· 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 

l/\12stl00,vNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-844. Information; educational and training programs, TN ST § 68-211-844 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annas) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-844 

§ 68-211-844. Information; educational and training programs 

Currentness 

The commissioner shall collect, prepare and disseminate information and conduct educational and training programs designed 
to assist in the implementation of solid waste management programs and inform the public of the relationship between 
an individual's consumption of goods and services and the generation of different types and quantities of solid waste. The 

commissioner, in consultation with the department of education, shall prepare the information and programs on a statewide 
basis for the following groups: 

(I) Municipal, county and state officials and employees; 

(2) Kindergarten through graduate students and teachers; 

(3) Businesses that use or could use recycled materials or that produce or could produce projects from recycled materials, and 
persons who provide support services to those businesses; and 

(4) The general public. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 40; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 501, § 3, eff. June 12, 1995. 

Formerly § 68-31-844. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-844, TN ST§ 68-211-844 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Docu mcnt /", 2015 Thomson Rcut..:rs. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-845. Education of children, TN ST § 68-211-845 
--------------------------------

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-845 

§ 68-211-845. Education of children 

Currentness 

In order to promote education of children in grades kindergarten through twelve (K-12) concerning solid waste management, 
source reduction and recycling, the University of Tennessee Waste Management Research and Education Institute, in 

conjunction with the commissioner of environment and conservation, shall: 

(I) Review, evaluate and publish a list of approved curriculum materials relative to solid waste management, source reduction 

and recycling; 

(2) Sponsor workshops on the curriculum materials for educators; 

(3) Provide in-service training for teachers on solid waste management, recycling and source reduction, environmental 

protection and conservation of materials; and 

(4) Establish peer assistance programs for teachers within a solid waste management region. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 45 I, § 41; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 50 I, § 3, eff. June 12, 1995; 1999 Pub.Acts, c. 384, § 4, eff. June 14, 1999. 

Formerly § 68-31-845. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-845, TN ST§ 68-211-845 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ~-_, 2015 Thomson Reuters_ No claim lO original lJ.S. Govcrnmc!ll Works. 
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§ 68-211-846. Awards; schools and school districts, TN ST§ 68-211-846 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-846 

§ 68-211-846. Awards; schools and school districts 

Currentness 

The commissioner shall establish an awards program for outstanding school-based solid waste, source reduction or recycling 
education programs. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451, § 42; 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 501, § 3, eff. June 12. 1995. 

Formerly§ 68-31-846. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-846, TN ST§ 68-211-846 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

-----------------

~-- 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 

V\lestl·'''/.Nexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. l\lo claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-847. Matching grants; education program component, TN ST§ 68-211-847 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annas) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annas) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-847 

·---·---·---·---

§ 68-211-847. Matching grants; education program component 

Currentness 

After a region's plan is approved, the department of environment and conservation may award matching grants for implementing 

the education program component of the plan from funds available in the solid waste management fund. The local share of the 

match shall be determined by the depmtment, using an economic index based upon factors which include, but are not limited 

to, per capita income and prope1ty values of the local government. Jurisdictions falling within the lower economic scale on the 

index shall be eligible for lower matching rates. 

Credits 
I 991 Pub.Acts. c. 45 L § 45: 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693, § 24: 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846, § 33, eff July l, 1996. 

Formerly§ 68-31-847. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-847, TN ST§ 68-211-847 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document t: 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Go,·cmmc11t Works. 
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§ 68-211-848. Awards; colleges and universities, TN ST§ 68-211-848 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-848 

§ 68-211-848. Awards; colleges and universities 

Currentness 

The commissioner shall develop an awards program for recognition of university and college programs concerning waste 

management, source reduction and recycling. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 46; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 501. § 3. eff. June 12. 1995. 

Formerly § 68-31-848. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-848, TN ST§ 68-211-848 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document <> :W 15 Thomson Reuters. No claim lO original U.S. Govcrnmc111 Works. 
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§ 68-211-849. Obsolete, TN ST § 68-211-849 

,. KeyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment 

KeyCite Red Flag Negative Treatment § 68-211-849. Obsolete 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-849, TN ST§ 68-211-849 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-849 

§ 68-211-849. Obsolete 

Effective:August5,2013 
Currentness 

f: 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-850. Reserved, TN ST § 68-211-850 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-850, TN ST§ 68-211-850 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

T. C. A. § 68-211-850 

§ 68-211-850. Reserved 

Currentness 

('; 2015 Thomson Rcutt:rs. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-851. Municipal solid waste collection and disposal ... , TN ST§ 68-211-851 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-851 

§ 68-211-851. Municipal solid waste collection and disposal centers; 

convenience centers; information; limitations on additional receptacles 

Effective:August5,2011 
Currentness 

(a) Each county shall assure that one ( l) or more municipal solid waste collection and disposal systems are available to meet the 

needs of the residents of the county. Such systems shall complement and supplement those provided by any municipality. The 

minimum level of service that the county shall assure is a system consisting of a network of convenience centers throughout the 

county. Unless a higher level of service, such as household garbage pickup, is available to the residents, a county shall provide 

directly, by contract, or through a solid waste authority, convenience centers which shall meet minimum design standards to be 

developed by the department and established by regulation. The department shall also develop regulations to be promulgated 

by the board for detem1ining the minimum requirements for and number of convenience centers or other forms of collection 

that a county shall maintain. Such regulations shall consider county population, area, distances to possible convenience center 

sites, and staffing requirements. 

(b) As part of the local plan required by§ 68-211-814, each county or multi-county municipal solid waste disposal region shall 

submit a plan for the adequate provision of collection services to the department. Such plan shall identify unmet needs and 

shall be updated annually. 

(c) If requested, the University of Tennessee county technical assistance service and municipal technical advisory service shall 

provide technical assistance to a county or region for siting, designing, constructing, upgrading and developing and maintaining 

a system of convenience centers which meets the minimum design standards which the department will establish by regulation. 

The county shall develop an operating manual, and the department shall offer training to operators and attendants. 

( d)( l) Not later than July l, 1997, each county which maintains and uses receptacles for the collection of municipal solid waste 

from the general public at sites separate from a convenience center for the needs of the residents of the county shall submit 

the following infomrntion to the department: 

(A) The number of receptacles in the county; 

(B) The location of all receptacles; 

(C) Collection times for such receptacles; 

V1'2stl.;:;wNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim io original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-851. Municipal solid waste collection and disposal ... , TN ST§ 68-211-851 

(D) Operation procedures and security measures adopted and enforced to maintain and service the receptacles and to ensure 

the protection of public health and safety; and 

(E) Such other infom1ation required by the department. 

(2) The board created pursuant to § 68-211-111 shall promulgate rules and regulations on the requirements for operation and 

use of such receptacles as it deems necessary to ensure the protection of public health and safety and to provide for the proper 

management of solid waste disposed in such receptacles. Any county which does not submit the information required by 

subdivision (d)(l) or which violates the rules and regulations of the board created pursuant to§ 68-211-111 shall not use such 

receptacles for such purposes. 

(3) This subsection (d) shall only apply to counties which had receptacles in use on Januaty I, 1996. A county which did not 

have receptacles in use on January 1, 1996, or which subsequent to such date discontinues use of any receptacle pem1itted under 

this section, shall be prohibited from installing or maintaining additional receptacles after July 1, 1996. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451, § 21: 1994 Pub.Acts. c. 591, § l, eff. March 7. 1994; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846, § 49. eff. July I, 1996. 

Formerly § 68-31-851. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-851, TN ST§ 68-211-851 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document '(; '.!O 15 Thomson Reuters. 1\o claim to original U.S. Government Wmh. 
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§ 68-211-852. Repealed by 1999 Pub.Acts, c. 384, § 5, eff .... , TN ST§ 68-211-852 
-----------·-------··--·-----

.,. KeyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment 

KeyCite Red Flag Negative Treatment § 68-211-852. Repealed by 1999 Pub.Acts, c. 384, § S, eff. June 14, 1999 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-852 

§ 68-211-852. Repealed by 1999 Pub.Acts, c. 384, § 5, eff. June 14, 1999 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-852, TN ST§ 68-211-852 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

I·: 2015 Thomson Rculcrs. No claim 10 original U.S. Govcn11nc111 Works. 
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§ 68-211-853. Certificates and certification, TN ST § 68-211-853 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-853 

§ 68-211-853. Certificates and certification 

Effective: August 5, 2013 

Currentness 

(a) By March 19, 1994, or any subsequently designated date for Tenn. Comp. R. & Regs. 1200-0l-07-.04(l)(b)(3)(ii) to take 

effect, the board shall, by rule, establish a program for the certification of operators, attendants and other persons participating 
in or responsible for the operation of any Class I landfill regulated by the department. The department shall: 

(I) Identify those persons or positions involved in the operation of a solid waste disposal facility who are required to obtain 
certification; 

(2) Establish the requirements for and term of initial certification and requirements for recertification upon expiration of that 
tem1. At a minimum, the department shall require applicants to complete a program of training and pass an examination in 
order to receive initial certification; 

(3) Establish different levels of certification and requirements for certification for different sizes or types of facilities, as the 
department detem1ines is appropriate; 

(4) Impose fees for the operator or attendant training and certification program; and 

(5) Require that there be one (I) or more certified attendants on the site of a Class I landfill at all times during the facility's 
hours of operation. 

(b) The training required under subdivision (a)(2) may be conducted by the department or by another person with the approval 
of the department. 

(c) The department may suspend or revoke the operating license of any landfill regulated by the department if persons at the 

facility fail to obtain certification required under subdivision (a)(l) or for failure to have a certified operator on the site as 
required under subdivision (a)(5). 

(d) The department may suspend or revoke an operator's certification for failure to comply with this part, rules promulgated 

under this part or conditions of operation made applicable to a solid waste disposal facility by the department. 

l/v'estla1,vNexr© 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-853. Certificates and certification, TN ST § 68-211-853 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 23; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, §§ 34. 35. eff. July I. 1996. 

Formerly§ 68-31-853. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-853, TN ST§ 68-211-853 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document .( :w 15 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original U.S. Govcn1111~11l \V orks. 
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§ 68-211-854. Contracts, TN ST§ 68-211-854 
----------------------------·-----·-------------·---

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-854 

§ 68-211-854. Contracts 

Currentness 

No provision of this part shall prohibit a county, municipality or solid waste authority from contracting with a private individual 

or entity for the provision of collection or recycling services in a county, municipality or solid waste authority. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 24. 

Formerly § 68-31-854. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-854, TN ST§ 68-211-854 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

-------------------------

·l:; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No daim to origin:d u.S. Government \Vorb. 
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§§ 68-211-855 to 68-211-860. Reserved, TN ST § 68-211-855 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-855 

§§ 68-211-855 to 68-211-860. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-855, TN ST§ 68-211-855 
CmTent through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

Currentness 

{; 2015 Thomson R\!utcrs. No claim to original U.S. Go\'cmmcnt Works. 
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§§ 68-211-855 to 68-211-860. Reserved, TN ST§ 68-211-860 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health. Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-860 

§§ 68-211-855 to 68-211-860. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-860, TN ST§ 68-211-860 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

------------------

Currentness 

~·, 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original L;.s. Go\'c1111ncnl Works. 
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§ 68-211-861. State waste reduction and diversion goal; credit; ... , TN ST§ 68-211-861 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 {Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-861 

§ 68-211-861. State waste reduction and diversion goal; credit; basis for goal; sanction for failure to meet goal 

Effective:May16,2013 
Currentness 

(a) The goal of the state is to reduce by twenty-five percent (25%) the amount of solid waste disposed of at Class I municipal 

solid waste disposal facilities and incinerators, measured on a per capita basis within Tennessee by weight. As an alternative to 

calculating the waste reduction and diversion goal on a per capita basis, regions shall have the option of calculating the goal on 

an economic growth basis using the method prescribed by the department and approved by the underground storage tanks and 

solid waste disposal control board. The goal shall also apply to each municipal solid waste region; provided, that the goal shall 

not apply to individual disposal facilities or incinerators. The base year from which reductions are to be measured is 1995, unless 

a region can demonstrate that 1995 data is clearly in error. The method of calculating goals based on economic growth using 

the method prescribed by the department and approved by the underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal control board 

shall be promulgated as a rule in accordance with the Uniform Administrative Procedures Act, compiled in title 4, chapter 5. 

(b) If a region does not meet the twenty-five percent (25%) waste reduction and diversion goal, then the department will 

objectively assess the activities and expenditures of the region and the local governments in the region to detem1ine whether 

the region's program is qualitatively equivalent to other regions that meet the goal and whether the failure is due to factors 

beyond the control of the region. This qualitative assessment method shall be developed by the department and approved by 

the underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal control board. The qualitative assessment method prescribed by the 

department and approved by the underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal control board shall be promulgated as a 

rule in accordance with the Unifom1 Administrative Procedures Act. 

(c)(l) A county or region may receive credit toward the waste reduction and diversion goal established by this section for 

documented reductions from recycling and source reduction programs prior to 1995, but no earlier than 1985. 

(2)(A) As used in this subdivision (c)(2): 

(i) "Aluminum cans" means aluminum beverage cans, aluminum food cans, and aluminum bottles; and 

(ii) "Plastic bottles" means recyclable plastic beverage containers that have a neck smaller than the body of the container. 

(B) Any region shall be pem1itted to multiply by three (3) the gross weight of any aluminum cans and plastic bottles 

that are diverted from Class I municipal solid waste disposal facilities and incinerators located within the geographic area 

encompassed by the region for purposes of calculating the total percentage waste reduction and diversion that the region 

has achieved. 

'N2stlcW'/Nexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-861. State waste reduction and diversion goal; credit; ... , TN ST§ 68-211-861 

( d) The twenty-five percent (25%) goal pertains only to facilities which accept municipal solid waste for disposal or incineration. 

Measurements of waste are to be based on the amount of waste entering a disposal facility prior to combustion or landfilling. 

Measurements of waste disposed of shall not include materials that are recovered or collected for recycling. The department 

shall issue guidelines concerning, and promulgate by rule, a method for calculating source reduction and recycling. 

( e) Failure of the region either to meet the twenty-five percent (25%) waste reduction and diversion goal, or to receive a favorable 

qualitative assessment of its activities by the department pursuant to subsection (b ), may subject the offending counties and 

municipalities, including any solid waste authority created by such counties and municipalities, to sanctions in the same manner 

as a region may receive sanctions pursuant to § 68-211-816. In the event the failure of a region to meet its waste reduction and 

diversion goals is due to the failure ofless than all of the constituent counties or municipalities of the region, the commissioner 

may apply sanctions only to the counties, municipalities or solid waste authorities that have caused the failure. 

(f) A county or region has the flexibility to design its own plan and methods which take into account local conditions for 

attaining the waste reduction and diversion goal set by this section. This plan shall be included as a part of the county or regional 

plan required by§ 68-211-814. 

(g) The general assembly recognizes that the ways in which solid waste is generated and managed are very dynamic. 

The opportunities for recycling and for reduction of waste generated change with both market factors and technological 

developments. These in tum, affect the costs of solid waste management and recycling. Also, there are many factors that change 

the feasibility of different approaches among the counties. In addition to population and amount of commercial and industrial 

activity, these include proximity to markets for recyclable materials and the solid waste activities of municipalities. In order 

to better address all of these changing circumstances, the underground storage tanks and solid waste disposal control board is 

authorized to adopt a rule promoting recycling and waste reduction. In so doing, the board shall consider the use of incentives, 

disincentives, public education, costs and benefits of recycling, and the widely varying circumstances of the different solid 

waste regions. Upon the effective date of the rule, subsections (a)-(f) shall be repealed and of no further force and effect and 

the rule shall be enforceable according to its tem1s and in accordance with§ 68-211-816. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 25; 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 501. § 3. eff. June 12. 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846. § 36. eff July 1. 1996; 

1999 Pub.Acts, c. 384. § 6. eff. June 14, 1999; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462. § 13, eff. July l, 2007; 2013 Pub.Acts, c. 421. § l, eff. 

May 16. 2013. 

Formerly § 68-31-861. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-861, TN ST§ 68-211-861 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ,<:·, 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. GoYernmcnt Worb. 
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§ 68-211-862. Records of origin and amount of solid waste ... , TN ST § 68-211-862 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-862 

§ 68-211-862. Records of origin and amount of solid waste received at transfer stations, 

disposal facilities, and incinerators; exclusion; measurement of amount of solid waste received 

Currentness 

(a) The owner or operator of each Class I municipal solid waste disposal facility or incinerator or transfer station required to 

remit a surcharge under § 68-2 l l-835(d) shall be responsible for keeping an accurate written record of all amounts and county 

of origin of solid waste, measured in tons, received at the facility. This information shall be submitted to the department. 

(b) Measurement in tons of solid waste received shall be accomplished by one (I) or more of the following methods: 

( l) The provision of stationary or portable scales at the disposal facility or incinerator or transfer station for weighing incoming 

waste; or 

(2) Implementation of contractual or other arrangements for the use of scales at a location other than the disposal facility, 

incinerator, or transfer station for weighing all waste destined for disposal at the facility. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, §-22.;. 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693, § 24; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, §§ 37. 38. eff. July 1, 1996; 1999 Pub.Acts. 

c. 384. § 7. eff. June 14, 1999. 

Formerly § 68-31-862. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-862, TN ST§ 68-211-862 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

l~nd of Document •.<) 2015 Thomson R~ut.:rs. i\o claim to original U.S. Governm.:nt Works. 
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§ 68-211-863. Recycling, TN ST § 68-211-863 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-863 

§ 68-211-863. Recycling 

Currentness 

Effective January 1, 1996, each county shall provide directly, by contract or through a solid waste authority, one (1) or more 
sites for collection of recyclable materials within the county, unless an adequate site for collection of recyclable materials is 
otherwise available to the residents of the county. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 27; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 501. § 3, eff. June 12. 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 39. eff. July I, 1996. 

Formerly§ 68-31-863. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-863, TN ST§ 68-211-863 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document \'; 2015 Thomson Rclllcrs. No claim to original U.S. Government \V orks. 
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§ 68-211-864. Technical assistance, TN ST§ 68-211-864 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act 0£1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-864 

§ 68-211-864. Technical assistance 

Currentness 

The institute for public service of the University of Tennessee shall provide technical assistance in the design and management 

of a recycling program to each county, municipality, authority or region which requests assistance. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 28. 

Formerly§ 68-31-864. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-864, TN ST§ 68-211-864 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document C 1015 Thomson Reuters. No daim w original L.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-865. Powers and duties, TN ST§ 68-211-865 

KeyCite Yellow Flag- Negative Treatment 

Proposed Legislation 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

(a) The department of general services shall: 

T. C. A. § 68-211-865 

§ 68-211-865. Powers and duties 

Effective: May 8, 2015 

Currentness 

(I) Recycle surplus state property to the maximum extent practicable, under the program authorized by this part and under.§. 

12-2-404, that cannot be sold for reuse, notwithstanding the existence of any other law, rules or regulations to the contrary; 

(2) Revise product specifications to require, to the extent economically feasible, the procurement of recycled products or 

products with recycled content; 

(3) Encourage all departments of state government to purchase products with recycled content or recyclable products from 

state contracts; 

(4) Encourage county governments to purchase materials with recycled content from state contracts in transactions under title 

12, chapter 3, part 10; and 

(5) Effect procurement contracts that are subject to competitive bidding using specifications revised according to subdivision 

(a)(2). 

(b) The department of environment and conservation shall: 

(1) Expand to the maximum extent practicable the department's state recycling program for paper, aluminum cans and bottles; 

(2) Expand the department's state recycling program to the maximum extent practicable to include other kinds of recyclable 

materials, including, but not limited to, newsprint, plastic bottles, mixed paper and steel cans; 

(3) Demonstrate new uses of recovered materials; and 

\;V2stl.:1wNexr@ 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-865. Powers and duties, TN ST § 68-211-865 
·-----------

( 4) Encourage all state facilities to offer recycling opportunities where practicable, including, but not limited to, increasing the 

availability of recycling receptacles and conducting employee education. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 32; 2007 Pub.Acts. c. 462. § 14. eff. July 1, 2007; 2015 Pub.Acts. c. 407, § 1, eff. May 8. 2015. 

Formerly § 68-31-865. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-865, TN ST§ 68-211-865 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document -\:; 2015 Tho111so11 Reuters. No claim 10 original U.S. Gowrn111clll Works. 
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§ 68-211-866. Whole waste tires; lead acid batteries; used oil, TN ST§ 68-211-866 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-866 

§ 68-211-866. Whole waste tires; lead acid batteries; used oil 

Currentness 

(a) No municipal solid waste disposal facility or incinerator shall accept for disposal any whole waste tires, lead-acid batteries 

or used oil when an operator or attendant either knew, or should have known, of the presence of such prohibited materials; 

provided, that, subject to other applicable law and regulations, whole waste tires may be incinerated. 

(b) Each county shall provide directly, by contract or through a solid waste authority at least one (1) site to receive and store 

waste tires, used automotive oils and fluids, and lead-acid batteries, if adequate sites are not otherwise available in the county 

for the use of the residents of the county. A single site need not receive all of the items for which collection is required by this 

section, but all items listed above shall have at least one (I) site for reception and storage in the county. The operatorofany such 

sites provided by a county shall sell and/or cause the transfer of the recyclable materials stored at these sites to a commercial 

recycler or a regional receiving facility for such wastes as often as is practicable. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 33. 

Formerly § 68-31-866. 

Notes of Decisions ( l) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-866, TN ST § 68-211-866 

CurTent through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document ~·; 2015 Thomson Reuter,;. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 68-211-867. Waste tire program, TN ST§ 68-211-867 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-867 

§ 68-211-867. Waste tire program 

Effective: August 5, 2011 
Currentness 

(a) The department of environment and conservation is directed to develop a program to manage the waste tire program for 

beneficial end use. 

(b) For the purposes of this section, "beneficial end use" includes the following: 

(1) Cement manufacturing; 

(2) Burning of tire-derived fuel in contained industrial boilers for the capture of energy; 

(3) Production of tire-derived fuel, provided the department approves the planned use of the processed tire material; 

( 4) The crumbling or pyrolysis of tire material, provided the processor provides for the planned use of the processed tire material 

under such requirements established by the department; 

(5) Recreational applications, including, but not limited to, playgrounds, running tracks, and walking paths; or 

(6) Any use otherwise deemed appropriate by the department of environment and conservation and for which either the board 

has promulgated rules or the department has developed and published policies; provided, that this section shall not be construed 

to require or mandate the use of products or materials resulting from waste tires. The board shall not promulgate any rules, 

and the department shall not establish any policies mandating the use of products or materials resulting from waste tires. It is 

the specific intent of the general assembly that any use of products resulting from the waste tire program is entirely voluntary 

on the part of the end user. 

(c)(l) The department is authorized to use funds available from the solid waste management fund to contract directly with an 

approved beneficial end user or its designated agent for recycling of waste tires. Each beneficial end user or agent awarded such 

a contract shall demonstrate to the department's satisfaction the ability to provide collection, management and transportation 

to its facility of all eligible and available waste tires generated within the area or county specified by the department. Any 

such contract shall be subject to approval by the county legislative body of each county in whose ten-itory the contract shall be 

V·/~stl.::;1NNexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 68-211-867. Waste tire program, TN ST§ 68·211-867 

operative. Any such contract shall also require an appropriate perfomrnnce bond from any entity producing tire-derived fuel or 

crumbling or pyrolysis of tire material to ensure proper storage, transportation and ultimate sale or disposal of such materials. 

(2) From funds available from the solid waste management fund, the department may provide grants to assist counties in 

locating, collecting and appropriately disposing of waste tires. Any county receiving a grant under this subdivision (c)(2) after 

July I, 2000, shall not assess a tipping fee on the waste tires received at a county waste tire collection site so long as the amount 
of the grant covers the cost of the county's waste tire management program. 

(3) From funds available from the solid waste management fund, the department may provide grants to local education agencies, 

municipalities or counties to utilize recycled shredded tires for recreational applications. 

(4) Any county or entity requesting or applying for a grant or entering a contract with the department shall submit, prior to 

being approved for a grant or contract, a workplan and budget to reflect the expenditures of the grant or contract. The grants or 

contracts are to fulfill the objective of recycling waste tires and to assure that all expenditures of the contracts, grants, or any 

additional local tipping fees are not exceeding the cost of the county's waste tire management program. 

(d)(l) A landfill shall not accept whole, unshredded waste tires for disposal. Landfill operators shall segregate whole, 

unshredded waste tires at landfills and provide a temporary storage area for such tires until transported to an appropriate facility 

to be used for an approved beneficial end use as defined in this section, or the tires are shredded and disposed of pursuant to 

subdivision (d)(2) and regulations promulgated by the board. 

(2) A county may not dispose of shredded waste tires in a landfill after July l, 2002, if the county's net cost for shredding, 

transporting and disposing of waste tires exceeds the cost of an available beneficial end use. Nothing in this subsection ( d) shall 

prohibit a county from electing to participate in a beneficial end use for waste tires at a cost that exceeds the county's net cost 

for shredding, transporting and disposing of waste tires in a landfill. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts. c. 451. § 36; 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 693, § 24; 1996 Pub.Acts. c. 846 § 40, eff. July 1. 1996; 1998 Pub.Acts, c. 587. 

§ l, eff. March 11. 1998; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462. §§ 15 to 17. 19. eff. July I. 2007. 

Formerly § 68-31-867. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-867, TN ST§ 68-211-867 

Cun-ent through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document D 2015 Thomson Reuters. No daim to original U.S. Gll\·cmmcnt Works. 
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§§ 68-211-868 to 68-211-870. Reserved, TN ST§ 68-211-868 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-868 

§§ 68-211-868 to 68-211-870. Reserved 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-868, TN ST§ 68-211-868 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

---·------ ·------

Currentness 
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West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-870 

§§ 68-211-868 to 68-211-870. Reserved 

T. C. A. § 68-211-870, TN ST § 68-211-870 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End or Document 

Currentness 
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§ 68-211-871. Reports; injunctions, TN ST§ 68-211-871 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-871 

§ 68-211-871. Reports; injunctions 

Effective: August 5, 2011 
Currentness 

(a) The department shall make available on its web site, by Janua1y 1 of each year, the fom1s and infom1ation to be used by 

the regions to file an annual progress report. Each region shall submit the annual report to the commissioner by March 31 for 

the immediately preceding calendar year, in a fommt to be determined by the commissioner, which will include data on the 

following: 

(1) Collection; 

(2) Recycling; 

(3) Transportation; 

(4) Disposal; 

(5) Public costs; and 

(6) Any other infom1ation that the board, by mle, deems relevant to solid waste planning and management. 

(b) After approval of the plan required by§ 68-211-814, the commissioner shall require that a region submit an annual progress 

report on implementation of such plan in conjunction with the annual report required by this section. 

( c) The region may require each person actively and regularly engaged in the collection, transportation and disposal of municipal 

solid waste, or the recovery or recycling of materials, in the county or counties constituting the region to provide any information 

necessary for the region to comply with the reporting requirements of this section. 

(d) The region may bring an action for mandat01y injunction in the chancery court against any person failing to properly report 

in accordance with this section in order to compel compliance. The region shall be entitled to recover all costs and attorney's 

fees from any person failing to comply with the reporting requirements of this section. 
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(e) Any person operating a recovered materials processing facility shall report annually the quantities ofrecovered materials 

processed at that facility, by type of material, directly to the department or its designee, in a manner approved by the department. 

The department may enter into agreements with private recycling organizations to facilitate the gathering of such information. 

Such infommtion shall be treated as proprietary infom1ation but may be compiled and reported in cumulative statewide totals, 

by type of recovered material. Such infom1ation may not be released to the public in such a manner as to identify it with 

an individual recovered materials processing facility. A recovered materials processing facility which fully complies with the 

reporting requirements of this subsection ( e) shall not be subject to the reporting requirements of subsection ( c ), for information 

solely related to the operation of the recovered materials processing facility. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 49; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 50 l, § 3, eff. June 12, 1995; 1996 Pub.Acts, c. 846, § 41, eff. July l, 1996; 

2007 Pub.Acts, c. 462, § 18, eff. July l, 2007. 

Formerly§ 68-31-871. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-871, TN ST§ 68-211-871 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

1£ncl of Document t• 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim 10 original U.S. Govcmmcnt Works. 
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§ 68-211-872. Data base, TN ST§ 68-211-872 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-872 

§ 68-211-872. Data base 

Currentness 

The commissioner shall establish and maintain a statewide solid waste planning and management data base which can aggregate 

and analyze county reports on waste generation, collection, recycling, transportation, disposal and costs. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 50; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 501, § 3. eff June 12. 1995. 

Formerly § 68-31-872. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-872, TN ST§ 68-211-872 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document .f', 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Gowrnrncnl Worb. 
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KeyCite Yellow Flag- Negative Treatment 

Proposed Legislation 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs & Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (Refs & Annos) 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-873 

§ 68-211-873. Reports 

Currentness 

The department shall prepare an annual report to the governor and general assembly on the state's solid waste management 
system. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451. § 51; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 501. § 3, eff. June 12. 1995. 

Formerly§ 68-31-873. 

T. C. A.§ 68-211-873, TN ST§ 68-211-873 

CmTent through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document 

------------------~---

\·; 2015 Thomson R~utcrs. No claim to original U.S. Gowrnment Work>. 
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West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 68. Health, Safety and Environmental Protection 

Environmental Protection 
Chapter 211. Solid Waste Disposal (Refs &Annos) 

Part 8. Solid Waste Management Act of1991 (Refs &Annos) 

T. C. A. § 68-211-874 

§ 68-211-874. Accounts and accounting 

Effective: March 26, 2013 
Currentness 

(a) Each county, solid waste authority and municipality shall account for financial activities related to the management of solid 

waste in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The activities related to the management of solid 

waste must be accounted for in either a special revenue or enterprise fund, unless explicitly prohibited by GAAP. Where GAAP 

prohibits the use of a special revenue or enterprise fund, the solid waste financial activities may be individually accounted for 

in the general fund, as a separate department, program or function and sufficient detail shall be reported in the annual financial 

report to identify all applicable revenues and expenditures related to the management of solid waste. Any county, solid waste 

authority or municipality that operates a landfill and/or incinerator shall account for financial activities related specifically to 

that landfill and/or incinerator in an enterprise fund. Each county, solid waste authority and municipality shall use a uniform 

solid waste financial accounting system and chart of accounts developed by the comptroller of the treasury. 

(b) The comptroller of the treasury is directed to develop a uniform financial accounting system conforming to generally 

accepted accounting principles for use as required by this section. 

(c) Such uniform accounting system shall be subject to the approval of the commissioner of finance and administration. Upon 

such approval, each county shall establish and maintain the unifonn solid waste financial accounting system. 

( d) No state funds for solid waste management shall be released to a county, solid waste authority or municipality unless financial 

activities related to the management of solid waste are accounted for in accordance with GAAP. The activities related to the 

management of solid waste must be accounted for in either a special revenue or enterprise fund unless explicitly prohibited 

by GAAP. Where GAAP prohibits the use of a special revenue or enterprise fund, the solid waste financial activities may 

be individually accounted for in the general fund as a separate department, program or function and sufficient detail shall be 

reported in the annual financial report to identify all applicable revenues and expenditures related to the management of solid 

waste. No state funds for solid waste management shall be released to a county, solid waste authority or municipality that 

operates a landfill and/or incinerator unless financial activities related to that landfill and/or incinerator are accounted for in 

an enterprise fund. 

Credits 
1991 Pub.Acts, c. 451, § 52; 1992 Pub.Acts, c. 759, §§I, 2; 2013 Pub.Acts, c. 49. §§ !, 2, eff. March 26, 2013. 

Formerly § 68-31-874. 

·---~···-··------
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-----·------·------------·-----

T. C. A.§ 68-211-874, TN ST§ 68-211-874 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document t'· 2015 Thomson Rcuccr>. No claim lo original U.S. Gown11nc111 Works. 
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§ 5-14-101. Short title, TN ST§ 5-14-101 
---------·------· 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-101 

§ 5-14-101. Short title 

Currentness 

This part shall be known and may be cited as the "County Purchasing Law of 1957." 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § I. 

Formerly§ 5-1401. 

Notes of Decisions (l) 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-101, TN ST§ 5-14-101 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document !" 2015 Thom>on Remer:<. No claim to original U.S. Go\'crnmc111 \Vorks. 
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§ 5-14-102. County election, TN ST§ 5-14-102 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

-------------

T. C. A. § 5-14-102 

§ 5-14-102. County election 

Currentness 

(a) This part shall be local in effect and shall become effective in a particular county upon the contingency of a two-thirds ( #) 

vote of the county legislative body or other governing body of the county approving this law, or upon the contingency of the 

majority of the voters casting votes in any election held for this purpose approving this Jaw. 

(b )( l) The procedure for elections held for the purpose of approving this Jaw shall be that the county election commission shall 

call and conduct an election within thirty (30) days after receiving a petition signed by ten percent ( l 0%) of the qualified voters 

of the county, stating that they favor this Jaw and requesting that an election be held in the county on the subject. 

(2) The number of qualified voters in the county is deemed to be the total number of votes cast for all candidates for governor 

in the last general election, or upon a resolution of the county legislative body, or other governing body, duly certified to the 

election commission, requesting such an election. 

(3) In such an election, the propositions to be voted upon shall be stated on the ballot on separate lines in the following manner: 

"For the County Purchasing Law of 1957" and "Against the County Purchasing Law of 1957." 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 2. 

Formerly§ 5-1402. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-102, TN ST§ 5-14-102 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End or Document ~,, 2015 Thomson Reuters. No daim to original U.S. Ci0\wn111clli Works. 
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§ 5-14-103. Purchasing agent, TN ST§ 5·14-103 
----·-·----------·~·-----·----

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-103 

§ 5-14-103. Purchasing agent 

Effective: July 10, 2015 
Currentness 

(a) The county mayor of any county that has adopted this part shall appoint, with the approval of the county legislative body 
or other governing body, a purchasing agent who shall be a county employee. 

(b) A purchasing agent shall be qualified by training and experience to perfom1 the purchasing agent's duties in a proficient 

manner and in accordance with generally recognized principles of governmental purchasing and in accordance with this part. 

(c)(l) Before assuming the purchasing agent's duties, a purchasing agent shall execute a corporate surety bond, the amount of 

which shall be established by the county mayor at not less than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000). 

(2) The bond shall be prepared in accordance with title 8, chapter 19, approved by the county legislative body, recorded in the 

office of the county register of deeds and transmitted to the office of the county clerk for safekeeping. 

(3) The premium for such bond shall be paid from the county general fund. 

( d) The compensation of the purchasing agent, which shall not be in excess of compensation allowed county officials in 

accordance with§§ 8-24-101 and 8-24-102, shall be set annually by the county legislative body or other governing body; and 

the amount of such compensation, the compensation of such clerks and assistants as may be needed, and the other necessary 

expenses of this office shall be provided for by annual appropriation made by the county legislative body or other governing 

body from the county general fund. 

(e) The purchasing agent has the power, in accordance with such regulations as may be established by the county mayor, to 

appoint and remove the purchasing agent's assistants, to prescribe their duties, and to fix their salaries within the limits of the 

annual appropriation made therefor. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 3; 1998 Pub.Acts, c. 677, § 4, eff July l, 1998; 2013 Pub.Acts, c. 315. §§ 13, 14. eff. April 29. 2013. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-103, TN ST§ 5-14-103 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

-----~----------
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End of Document ·l:. 2015 Tho111>011 R<:Ul<:r>. No claim 10 original U.S. Govcrnm<:lll Works. 
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§ 5-14-104. Purchasing agent; office, TN ST§ 5-14-104 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

-·------·--·-~--------·---

T. C. A. § 5-14-104 

§ 5-14-104. Purchasing agent; office 

Currentness 

(a) Necessary office space and equipment for the use of the purchasing agent shall be provided and maintained at the county 

seat of such county. 

(b) Such office shall be open for business during the usual hours observed by other officials of the county government. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 14. 

Formerly§ 5-1404. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-104, TN ST§ 5-14-104 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

l•:nd of Document '·" 2015 Thomson Rcull:rs. No claim co original U.S. Government Works. 
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§ 5-14-105. Purchasing agent; powers and duties, TN ST§ 5-14-105 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-105 

§ 5-14-105. Purchasing agent; powers and duties 

Currentness 

The county purchasing agent has exclusive power and it is the purchasing agent's duty to: 

(1) Contract for and purchase all supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services required by each and every official, 

agency, office, department or employee of the county government, or that is supported by, or under control of, the county 

government and that expends or encumbers any of the county's funds. No other official, employee or agent of the county or 

of any of its departments or agencies shall be authorized to contract for or purchase any such materials, supplies, equipment 

or contractual services; 

(2) Arrange for the rental of machinery, buildings or equipment when the rents are to be paid out of funds belonging to the 

county or any department, institution or agency thereof; and no other official, employee or agent of the county shall have the 

right or power to make any contract for such rental; 

(3) Transfer materials, supplies and equipment to or between county departments and agencies as may be needed for the proper 

and efficient administration of the county government; and 

( 4) Have charge of any central storeroom or central mailing room or similar services that may hereafter be established for the 

efficient and economical handling of the county's business. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 4. 

Formerly§ 5-1405. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-105, TN ST§ 5-14-105 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

l~nd of Document r· 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original L.S. Go\Wnmenl Works. 
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§ 5-14-106. Purchasing commission, TN ST§ 5-14-106 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-106 

§ 5-14-106. Purchasing commission 

Currentness 

(a) A county purchasing commission is hereby created. 

(b)(l) The commission shall consist of five (5) members, one (1) of whom shall be the county mayor; the remaining four (4) 
shall be appointed by the county mayor with the approval of the county governing body. 

(2) The members of the commission need not be members of the county governing body. 

(c) Such commission shall elect its own chair and shall meet from time to time as it may deem necessary for the discharge 
of its duties. 

( d) It is the duty of the commission to assist the purchasing agent in the detern1ination of overall purchasing policies and in 
the establishment and promulgation, in accordance with this part, of rules, regulations and procedures to be followed in the 
making of purchases and contracts for purchase for the county. The actual administration of such activity shall be the sole 
responsibility of the purchasing agent. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 5. 

Formerly § 5-1406. 

Notes of Decisions (2) 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-106, TN ST§ 5-14-106 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document (·: 2015 Tho111son R~ut~r>- t\o daim to original U.S. Govcrn111~nt Works. 
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§ 5-14-107. Rules and regulations, TN ST§ 5-14-107 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-107 

§ 5-14-107. Rules and regulations 

Effective: July 10, 2015 
Currentness 

The county purchasing agent, with the assistance of the county purchasing commission, shall adopt, promulgate, and may 

from time to time amend, rules and regulations for the purchase of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services and 

specifically for the following purposes: 

(1) Authorizing in writing any department, official or agency of the county government to make purchases in the open market 

for immediate delivery in emergencies, defining such emergencies, desc1ibing the manner in which such emergency purchases 

shall be made and promptly afterward rep01ted to the county purchasing agent; 

(2) Prescribing the manner in which supplies, materials and equipment shall be requisitioned, purchased, delivered, stored and 

distributed, and providing that such shall be conducted in accordance with this part; 

(3) Prescribing the dates for submitting requisitions and estimates, the future period they are to cover, the form in which they 

are to be submitted, the manner of their authentication, and their revision by the county purchasing agent; 

( 4) Prescribing the manner of inspecting all deliveries of supplies, materials and equipment, and of making or procuring chemical 

and physical tests of samples submitted with bids and samples of deliveries to deten11ine compliance with specifications; 

(5) Requiring periodical and special repo1ts by county departments, agencies, and employees of stocks of surplus, unusable or 

obsolete supplies and equipment on hand and prescribing the form of such reports; 

(6) Providing for the transfer to or between county departments and agencies of supplies and equipment on hand, that are surplus 

with one (1) department or agency, but that may be needed by another or others, and for the disposal by sale, after receipt of 

competitive bids, of supplies, materials and equipment that are obsolete or unusable; 

(7) Dete1mining whether a deposit or bond is to be submitted with a bid on a purchase contract or sale, and ifrequired, prescribing 

the amount and form thereof, and providing that such surety shall be forfeited if the successful bidder refuses to enter into 

contract ten ( 10) days after the award; 

(8) Prescribing the manner in which invoices for supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services delivered to any and 

all departments, agencies and offices of the county shall be submitted, examined and approved; 

"/'i2stl.0•.-;Nexr © 2015 Thomson Reuters. f\lo claim to original U.S. Government \f\iorks. 



§ 5·14-107. Rules and regulations, TN ST§ 5-14-107 
·----·-~~----~-----------· 

(9) Providing for all other such matters as may be necessary to give effect to the foregoing rules and to this part; and 

( 10) Prescribing the manner in which public auctions for the sale of county-owned property, real or personal, that has become 

surplus, obsolete or unusable shall be conducted. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 4; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 647, §I. 

Formerly§ 5-1405. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-107, TN ST§ 5-14-107 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document C 2015 Thomson R"lll<:rs. No dai111 to original L.S. Governm<'nt Works. 
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§ 5-14-108. Bidding, TN ST§ 5-14-108 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 

Title s. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-108 

§ 5-14-108. Bidding 

Effective: July 10, 2015 
Currentness 

(a)( I) All purchases of and contracts for purchases of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services, and all contracts 

for the lease or rental of equipment, and all sales of county-owned property that has become surplus, obsolete or unusable, shall 

be based wherever possible on competitive bids. 

(2) Contracts for legal services, auditing services by certified public accountants, and similar services by professional persons 

or groups of high ethical standards shall not be based upon competitive bids but shall be awarded on the basis of recognized 

competence and integrity. 

(3) Bids need not be required for services for which the rate or price is fixed by a public authority authorized by law to fix 

such rates or prices. 

(4) The prohibition in this subsection (a) against competitive bidding shall not prohibit the county from interviewing eligible 

persons or groups to determine the capabilities of such persons or groups. 

(b) The county may purchase materials, supplies, commodities and equipment from any federal, state or local governmental 

unit or agency, without confom1ing to the competitive bidding requirements of this part. 

(c)(l) If the amount of the expenditure or sale is estimated to exceed five hundred dollars ($500), sealed bids shall be solicited, 

unless the county legislative body by resolution establishes a higher amount not to exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000). 

(2) The county legislative body by resolution may exempt perishable commodities from the requirements of sealed or 

competitive bidding when such items are purchased in the open market. 

(3) The county purchasing agent shall solicit sealed bids by public notice inserted at least once in a newspaper of county-wide 

circulation, five (5) days prior to the final date for submitting bids or by posting notices on a public bulletin board in the county 

courthouse. 

(4) The county purchasing agent shall also, when deemed necessary or desirable, solicit sealed bids by sending requests by 

mail to prospective suppliers. 

1/i2sil<0•,vNexr © 20·1 s Thomson Reuters. l\Jo claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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( 5) All such notices shall include a general description of the commodities or contractual services to be purchased or property 

to be sold, and shall state where bid blanks and specifications may be obtained and the time and place of opening bids. 

(d)(l) All purchases or sales in amounts that do not require bid solicitation pursuant to subsection (c) may be made by the 

county purchasing agent in the open market without newspaper notice, but shall whenever possible be based upon at least three 
(3) competitive bids. 

(2) Requisitions for items estimated to cost an amount such as to require public newspaper notice shall not be subdivided in 

order to circumvent the requirement for public newspaper notice as herein provided. 

(3) All sales by the purchasing agent shall be made to the highest responsible bidder. 

( e) Bids on purchases shall in all cases be based on such standards as may be adopted and promulgated by the county purchasing 

agent and approved by the county purchasing commission. 

(f) All open market purchase orders or contracts made by the county purchasing agent or in extreme emergencies by any county 

department or agency shall be awarded to the lowest and best bidder, taking into consideration the qualities of the articles to be 

supplied, their conformity with specifications, their suitability to the requirements of the county government, and the delivery 

tem1s. Any or all bids may be rejected for good cause. 

(g) All bids taken under the requirements of this part, and all other documents, including purchase orders, pe1iaining to the 

award of contracts on such bids, shall be preserved for a period of five (5) years. 

(h) If all bids received on a pending contract are for the same unit price or total amount, the county purchasing agent shall 

have authority to reject all bids and to purchase the required supplies, materials, equipment or contractual services in the open 

market; provided, that the price paid in the open market does not exceed the bid price. 

(i) All sealed bids received shall be opened publicly at the time and place fixed in the advertisement. Each bid, with the name 

and address of the bidder, shall be entered on a record, and each record with the names of the bidders, the amounts of their bids, 

and the name of the successful bidder indicated thereon, shall, after the award or contract or order, be open to public inspection. 

(j) All contracts shall be approved as to form by the county attorney, and the original copy of each long-term contract shall 

be filed with the county clerk. 

(k) No purchase shall be made or purchase order or contract of purchase issued but in consequence of a written requisition 

for the supplies, materials, equipment or contractual services required, which requisition shall be signed by the head of the 

department, office or agency of the county requiring such articles or services. Original copies of all such requisitions shall be 

kept on file in the office of the county purchasing agent. 

--------·------------------~-----·---------·----·--···-----·-----·-·-----·--------
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----------·--------

(!) No purchase shall be made or purchase order or contract of purchase issued for tangible personal property or services by 

county officials or employees, acting in their official capacity, from any firm or individual whose business tax or license is 

delinquent. 

(m)(l) The county purchasing agent is authorized to purchase and contract to purchase materials, supplies, equipment and 

contractual services on a fiscal year basis, but no commitment shall be made that extends beyond the end of the current fiscal 

year for which appropriations have been made by the county legislative body, except such commitments as are authorized by 

resolution of the county legislative body. 

(2) In the determination of the county's annual needs of certain commodities or services, or both, the county purchasing agent 

may request the various departments, offices and agencies of the county government to anticipate their needs for the remainder 

of the fiscal year and to issue their requisitions based upon such estimates. 

(n)(l) Perishable commodities, at the election of the local governing body, may be exempted from the requirements of public 

advertisements and competitive bidding when such items are purchased in the open market. 

(2) A record of all such purchases shall be made by the purchasing agent and shall specify the amount paid, the items purchased, 

and from whom the purchase was made. 

(3) A report of such purchases shall be made to the county mayor and the governing body of the county at frequencies specified 

by the governing body. 

( 4) Fuel and fuel products may be purchased in the open market without public newspaper notice, but shall whenever possible 

be based on at least three (3) competitive bids. Fuel and fuel products may be purchased from the department of general services' 

contract where available. 

(5) This subsection (n) shall apply to any county having a population of not less than seventy-seven thousand seven hundred 

(77, 700) nor more than seventy-seven thousand eight hundred (77 ,800), according to the 1980 federal census or any subsequent 

census, if it is approved by a two-thirds ( #) vote of the county legislative body of any county to which it may apply. 

(o)(l) All sales of county-owned property, real or personal in nature, that has become surplus, obsolete or unusable shall be 

made by public auction or by sealed bid under this section, in the discretion of the purchasing agent or responsible official. 

"Public auction" includes sale by Internet auction. 

(2) The county purchasing agent shall give public notice of such auction by inserting at least once in a newspaper of county­

wide circulation or by posting on a public bulletin board in the county courthouse at least five (5) days prior to the date of such 

auction, a notice specifying the auction date, time, place, property to be sold and terms of such auction. 

(3) This subsection (o) does not apply to any books, recordings, or other material previously in general circulation at a county 

public library; provided, however, that the county public libra1y shall conduct a public sale of surplus, obsolete or otherwise 

unusable books, recordings or other materials previously in general circulation at the county public library and shall give public 
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notice of such sale by inserting at least once in a newspaper of county-wide circulation, by posting such sale on a web site 

maintained by the county, or by posting on a public bulletin board in the county courthouse and at the county public library at 

least five (5) days prior to the date of such sale, a notice specifying generally that such a sale shall occur, including the dates, 

times, places, and terms of such sale. 

(4) Notwithstanding any other law, a procedure may be established upon approval by resolution or ordinance, by a two-thirds 

( # ) majority vote of the county legislative body, to provide the purchasing agent, upon request of the county mayor, the 

authority to declare county owned personal property with an accumulative estimated value of one thousand dollars ($1,000) or 

less surplus, obsolete, or unusable personal property and to dispose of the personal property, at the purchasing agent's discretion, 

by selling the personal property on the open market or by gift, trade, or barter to a nonprofit or charitable organization properly 

incorporated under the laws of this state and in which no part of the net earnings of the organization inures or may lawfully 

inure to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual and that it provides services benefiting the general welfare of the 

residents of the county. Items having an accumulative estimated value that exceeds one thousand dollars ($1,000) shall not be 

subdivided in order to circumvent the requirement for public notice or receipt of sealed bids or selling the property through 

public or Internet auction. The purchasing agent shall keep all records of transactions of the disposal of personal property under 

this subdivision (o)(4) for a minimum of five (5) years. 

(p) In any county having a population of not less than one hundred seven thousand one hundred (107,100) nor more than one 

hundred seven thousand two hundred (107,200), according to the 2000 federal census or any subsequent federal census, the 

county may purchase and enter into contracts for group health insurance for county employees and officials without conforming 

to the competitive bidding requirements of this part. This subsection (p) shall only be implemented in any county to which this 

subsection (p) applies upon the adoption of a resolution by a two-thirds ( #) vote of the county legislative body of such county. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 7; 1963 Pub.Acts, c. 367, § 1; 1975 Pub.Acts, c. 53, § 1; 1977 Pub.Acts, c. 119, §§ 1, 2; 1977 Pub.Acts, 

c. 288, § l; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 604, § l; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 647, §§ 2 to 5; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 822, § l; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 895, 

§§ 1, 2; 1988 Pub.Acts, c. 770, §§ 1, 2; 1995 Pub.Acts. c. 179. § 1. eff. July l, 1995; 2004 Pub.Acts, c. 500. § l, eff. April 12, 

2004; 2006 Pub.Acts. c. 509. § 1, eff. March 24. 2006; 2007 Pub.Acts. c. 122. § l, eff. May 10, 2007; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 135, 

§ 1. eff. May 10. 2007; 2007 Pub.Acts. c. 415. § I, eff. June l l, 2007; 2009 Pub.Acts, c. 173. §§ l, 2, eff. May 7, 2009; 2010 

Pub.Acts, c. 974. § l, eff. July l, 2010; 2013 Pub.Acts, c. 162. § 1, eff. April 16. 2013. 

Formerly§ 5-1408. 

Notes of Decisions (4) 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-108, TN ST§ 5-14-108 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document C 2015 Thomson Reuters. No daim w original L.S. Government Works. 

"iVest!.::,•.vNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 4 



§ 5-14-109. Certification, TN ST§ 5-14-109 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-109 

§ 5-14-109. Certification 

Currentness 

Except in emergencies, no order for delivery on a contract or open market order for supplies, materials, equipment or contractual 

services for any county department or agency shall be awarded unless it shall be first certified by the director of accounts and 

budgets, or other county official or employee in charge of the central accounting records of the county that the unencumbered 

balance in the appropriation chargeable with such purchase in excess of all unpaid obligations, is sufficient to defray the entire 

cost of such order or contract. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 8. 

Formerly§ 5-1409. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-109, TN ST§ 5-14-109 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document ·t·; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original l!.S. Government Work:-. 

-------------~·--~------~----·-------

V\lestl.;;• ... .1Nexr © 20'15 Thomson Reuters. i\lo claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 5-14-110. Emergency purchases, TN ST§ 5-14-110 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-110 

§ 5-14-110. Emergency purchases 

Currentness 

(a) The county purchasing agent may authorize any department or agency of the county government to purchase in the open 

market, without filing requisition or estimate, any supplies, materials or equipment for immediate delivery in actual emergencies 

arising from unforeseen causes, including delays by contractors, delays in transportation, and unanticipated volume of work; 

but such emergencies shall not include conditions arising from neglect or indifference in anticipating normal needs. 

(b )( 1) Such direct emergency purchases, however, may only be made by department or agency heads at times when the office 

of the county purchasing agent is closed. 

(2) At all other times, only the county purchasing agent shall make these purchases. 

(3) A report of such emergency purchase, when made by a department or agency head, together with a record of the competitive 
bids secured and upon which it was based, shall be submitted in writing to the county purchasing agent before the close of the 

next working day following the date of such purchase, by the head of the county department or agency concerned, together with 

a full and complete account of the circumstances of such emergency. 

(4) Such report shall be kept on file and shall be open to public inspection. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 9. 

Formerly§ 5-1410. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-110, TN ST§ 5-14-110 

Cu1Tent through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document \·; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim lo original U.S. Government Works. 

"/'/c:stl.;:;•,vNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 5-14-111. Written orders, TN ST§ 5-14-111 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-111 

§ 5-14-111. Written orders 

Effective: July 10, 2015 

Currentness 

-------------

(a) Each purchase order or contract issued or executed pursuant to this chapter shall be evidenced by a written order signed by 

the county purchasing agent, which shall give all significant details respecting such order or contract. 

(b) A copy of such order shall be furnished the vendor, one ( 1) copy shall be furnished to the county accounting department, 

and at least two (2) copies shall be retained in the office of the county purchasing agent, one ( 1) of such copies to be filed in 

numerical order and the other alphabetically. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 11. 

Formerly § 5-1411. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-111, TN ST§ 5-14-111 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Docu mcnt '/:'.; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Govern men I Works. 

\/v'::stl.:;•,\Ne:<r © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 5-14-112. Standards, TN ST§ 5-14-112 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-112 

§ 5-14-112. Standards 

Currentness 

(a) It is the duty of the county purchasing agent to: 

(1) Classify the requirements of the county government for supplies, materials and equipment; 

(2) Adopt as standards the smallest number of quantities, sizes and varieties of such supplies, materials and equipment consistent 
with the successful operation of the county government; and 

(3) Prepare, adopt and promulgate written specifications describing such standards. 

(b)(l) In the preparation and revision of such standards, the county purchasing agent shall seek the advice, assistance and 
cooperation of the county departments and agencies concerned, to ascertain their precise requirements. 

(2) Each specification adopted for any commodity shall, insofar as possible, satisfy the requirements of the majority of the 

county departments and agencies that use the same. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 12. 

Formerly§ 5-1412. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-112, TN ST§ 5-14-112 
Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

[ncl of Document l'; 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. GO\·cnuncnl Works. 

-----·----~--·--~-----·------·--

\f·t~stlc:},\!Nexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to originai U.S. Government Works. 



§ 5-14-113. County's liability, TN ST§ 5-14-113 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-113 

§ 5-14-113. County's liability 

Effective: July 10, 2015 
Currentness 

The county shall be liable for the payment of all purchases of supplies, mate1ials, equipment and contractual service made in 

accordance with this chapter, but shall not be liable for the payment of such purchases made contrary to its provisions. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 13. 

Formerly§ 5-1413. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-113, TN ST§ 5-14-113 

Current through end of the 20 l 5 First Reg. Sess. 

1£ncl or Document r;0 :w15 Thum,;on Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Gowrnment Works. 

VV,;:stl.;;',VNexr@ 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government \/\forks. 



§ 5-14-114. Conflict of interest, TN ST§ 5-14-114 

1fl KeyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment 

Unconstitutional or Preempted Held Unconstitutional by State v. Whitehead. Tenn.Crim.App., Sep. 26, 2000 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 

Title 5. Counties 
Chapter 14. County Purchasing 

Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-114 

§ 5-14-114. Conflict of interest 

Currentness 

(a) Neither the county purchasing agent, nor members of the county purchasing commission, nor members of the county 
legislative body, nor other officials of the county, shall be financially interested, or have any personal beneficial interest, either 
directly or indirectly, in any contract or purchase order for any supplies, materials, equipment or contractual services used by 

or furnished to any department or agency of the county government. 

(b) Nor shall any such persons accept or receive, directly or indirectly, from any person, firn1 or corporation to which any 
contract or purchase order may be awarded, by rebate, gift or otherwise, any money or anything of value whatsoever, or any 
promise, obligation or contract for future reward or compensation. 

(c) A violation of this section is a Class D felony. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 10; 1989 Pub.Acts, c. 591, § 18. 

Formerly§ 5-1414. 

Editors' Notes 

VALIDITY 

<For validity of this section, see State v. Whitehead, 2000. 43 S.W.3d 921. > 

Notes of Decisions (7) 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-114, TN ST§ 5-14-114 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

l~nd of Document C, 2015 Thomson Reuter,;. 1-<o daim to original U.S. Government Works. 

"iVestla'NNexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. f\Jo claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 5-14-115. Application to education, TN ST§ 5-14-115 

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title s. Counties 

Chapter 14. Coun!y Purchasing 
Part 1. Coun!y Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-115 

§ 5-14-115. Application to education 

Effective: July 10, 2015 
Currentness 

(a) This part shall not apply to county school funds for any purpose, the county board of education and the county director of 

schools, unless approved by the commissioner of education. 

(b) Upon request by a majority vote of the local board of education and with the approval of the commissioner of education, 

applicability of this part as it applies to county school funds shall cease to be effective. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 14a; 1982 Pub.Acts, c. 809, § 1. 

Formerly§ 5-1415. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-115, TN ST§ 5-14-115 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

End of Document t·· 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Govcmmcm Works. 

'/'/2stl.:''/·1Ne:<.r © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 



§ 5-14-116. Effect on other law, TN ST§ 5-14-116 
·---------·--·-·----··---·--------

West's Tennessee Code Annotated 
Title 5. Counties 

Chapter 14. County Purchasing 
Part 1. County Purchasing Law of 1957 

T. C. A. § 5-14-116 

§ 5-14-116. Effect on other law 

Currentness 

This part is not exclusive and shall not prevent the adoption of amendments to existing special or local purchasing laws, or the 

enactment of special or local purchasing acts. 

Credits 
1957 Pub.Acts, c. 312, § 15. 

Formerly§ 5-1416. 

T. C. A.§ 5-14-116, TN ST§ 5-14-116 

Current through end of the 2015 First Reg. Sess. 

Encl of Document !·· 2015 Thomson Rcll!crs. No claim lO original u.S. Go\'cn1111c11l Works. 

____________ , ..... _ .............. --·--·--·--·------------------------·-------... --
"Nestlav;Nexr © 20·15 Thomson Reuters. f\lo claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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PURCHASING PROCEDURES 

CITY OF LENOIR CITY, TENNESSEE 

Adopted: November 11, 1991 
Amended: September 23, 1996 
Amended: February 24, 1997 
Amended: August 25, 1997 
Amended: June 14, 1999 
Amended: March 26, 2001 
Amended: March 14, 2011 
Amended: October 26, 2015 



PURCHASING PROCEDURES 

CITY OF LENOIR CITY, TENNESSEE 

The City Administrator shall act as Purchasing Agent for the City of Lenoir 
City, Tennessee, with power, except as set out in these procedures, to purchase 
materials, supplies, equipment; secure leases and lease-purchases; and dispose of 
and transfer surplus property for the proper conduct of the City business. All 
contracts, leases, and lease-purchase agreements extending beyond the end of any 
fiscal year must have prior approval of the governing body. If there is no City 
Administrator, the Recorder/Treasurer shall act as Purchasing Agent. 

The Purchasing Agent shall have the authority to make purchases, leases, and 
lease purchases of less than Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) singly or 
in the aggregate during any fiscal year, and except as otherwise provided herein, 
shall require three (3) competitive bids or quotations, either verbal or written, 
whenever possible prior to each purchase. Competitive bids of quotations for the 
purchase of items which cost less than One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) are 
desirable but not mandatory. All competitive bids or quotations received shall be 
recorded and maintained in the office of the Purchasing Agent for a minimum of 
Two (2) years after audit. When quotations received shall be listed upon that 
document prior to the issuance of the purchase order. Awards shall be made to the 
lowest responsible bidder. 

Purchases amounting to Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) or more, 
which do (not) require public advertising and sealed bids of proposals, may be 
allowed only under the following circumstances and, except as otherwise provided 
herein, when such purchases are approved by the governing body: 

(1.) Sole source of supply or proprietary products as determined after 
complete search by using department and the Purchasing Agent, with City 
Council approval. 

(2.) Emergency expenditures with subsequent approval of the Purchasing 
Agent. 



(3.) Investments in or purchases from the pooled investment fund established 
pursuant to TCA- 9-17-105 (State Investment Pool). 

(4.) Purchases from instrumentalities created by two (2) or more cooperating 
governments. 

(5.) Purchases from non-profit corporations whose purpose or one of whose 
purposes is to provide goods or services specifically to municipalities. 

(6.) Purchases, leases, or lease-purchases of real property. 
(7.) Purchases, leases, or lease-purchases, from any federal, state, or local 

governmental unit or agency, of second-hand articles or equipment or 
other materials, supplies, commodities, and equipment. 

(8.) Purchases through other unite of governments as authorized by the 
Municipal Purchase law of 1983. 

(9.) Purchases directed through or in conjunction with the State Department of 
General Services. 

(10.) Purchases from Tennessee state Industries. 
(11.) Professional Service Contracts as provided in TCA 12-4-407. 
(12.) Tort Liability Insurance as provided in TCA 12-4-407. 
(13.) Purchases of fuels, fuel projects, or perishable commodities. 

The Purchasing Agent shall be responsible for compliance with these procedures 
and the Municipal Purchasing Law of 1983, as amended, including required 
records and reports, as if they were set out herein and made a part hereof and 
within definitions of words and phrases from the law as herein defined. 

RELATIONS OF OTHER DEPARTMENTS 

WITH THE PURCHASING DEPARTMENT 

The Purchasing Department is a service agency for all other departments of 
City. The purchasing function is a service, and the mutual benefits derived, for 
the good of city, depend upon cooperation of each depaiiment with the others. 
This manual is a guide to help the departments do their part and point out their 
responsibility in purchasing. 



Purchasing Department's Responsibility 

(1.) To aid and cooperate with all depaiiments in meeting their needs for 
operating supplies, equipment, and services. 

(2.) To process all requisitions with the least possible delay. 

(3.) To procure a product that will meet the depaiiment's requirements at the 
least cost to city. 

(4.) To know the source and availability of needed products and services and 
maintain current vendor files. 

(5.) To obtain prices on comparable materials after receipt of departmental 
requisition. 

(6.) To select vendors, prepare purchase orders, and process and maintain 
order and requisition files. 

(7.) To search for new and improved sources of supplies and services. 
(8.) To assist in preparation of specifications and to maintain specification 

and historical performance files. 
(9.) To prepare and advertise request for bids and maintain bid files. 
(10.) To keep items in stores in sufficient quantities to meet normal 

requirements of city for a reasonable length of time within space 

availability. 

(11.) To investigate and document complaints about merchandise and services 
for future reference. 

(12.) To transfer or dispose of surplus property. 

Using Department's Responsibility 

(1.) To allow ample lead time for the Purchasing Department to process the 

requisition and issue the purchase order, while permitting the supplier 
time to deliver the needed items. 

(2.) To prepare a complete and accurate description of materials to be 

purchased. 

(3.) To assist the Purchasing Depa1iment by suggesting sources of supply. 

(4.) To plan purchases in order to eliminate avoidable emergencies. 

(5.) To initiate specification preparation as items to be bid. 



(6.) To inspect merchandise upon receipt, and complete a receiving report 
noting any discrepancies in types, numbers, condition, or quality of 
goods. 

(7.) To advise Purchasing Department of defective merchandise or 
dissatisfaction with vendor performance. 

(8.) To advise Purchasing Department of surplus property. 

Purpose 

PURCHASING FORMS AND METHODS 

PURCHASE REQUISITION 

The purchase requisition serves to inform the Purchasing Department of the needs 
of the using department and to correctly define the material or service requested. 
A requisition is required for purchases, requesting price information, initiating a 
bid request, and for requesting governing body approval on major expenditures. 

When Prepared 

Requisitions shall be prepared far enough in advance to enable the Purchasing 
Department to obtain competitive prices and to allow sufficient time for the vendor 
to make delivery. If the requisition is $500.00 or more, a purchase order is 
required. 

Who Prepares the Requisition 

Requisitions shall originate in the using department and be signed by the 
requisitioner and department head. The department head shall file with the 
Purchasing Department a certified memorandum listing those who are authorized 
to sign a requisition. 

How to Prepare 

A properly processed purchase requisition must contain the following information: 

(a.) Date issued- the date the requisition is prepared. 



(b.) Date Wanted- state a definite delivery date. "AT ONCE, ASAP, AND 
RUSH" are vague instructions and do not give the Purchasing 
Department sufficient information. Prepare far enough in advance to 
avoid emergencies. 

(c.) Requisition Numbers- place the sequential number in this area if your 
department keeps a numerical requisition file. 

(d.) Department- the complete name of the using department. 
( e.) Requisitioner- signature of the person initiating the purchase request. 
( f.) Department head- signature of the department head. 
(g.) Suggested Vendors- ifthere are more than four (4) suggested vendors, 

the department head should list on a separate sheet. 
(h.) To be delivered to- Be specific. If vague or indefinite, confusion may 

result in costly delays. 
(i.) Item No. - Numerical order of items listed. 
G.) Quantity- the number required. 
(le) Unit- dozen, lineal fee, gallons, etc. 
(1.) Description- Give a clear description of the items desired as to size, 

color, type, etc. If the purchase is of a technical nature, specification 
should be attached to the requisition. If the item cannot be described 
without a great amount of detail, a brief description should be given, 
followed by a trade name and model number of an acceptable item "or 
approved equal". Requisitions must not give specifications that will 
favor one supplier to the exclusion of any others. 

Note: Inco1nplete infonnation in this area will result in the 
requisition being returned to the using department for 
clarification. 

(m.) Account to be Charged- complete budgetary code. 
(n.) Unit Price- price for each individual item. 
(o.) Amount- a total of quantity times unit price. 

Routing of Requisitions 



Prepare three copies of the purchase requisition. Send the original and one copy to 
the Purchasing Department and retain the third copy in departmental files. After 
the Purchasing Department has received least three (3) quotations or bids and 
determined total cost of the merchandise, the cost will be listed on the original and 
one copy of the requisition: these copies shall be forwarded to the finance officer. 
The finance officer shall certify, by signature, that the proper account has been 
charged and the availability of budgetary and cash funds. The original requestor 
shall then be returned to the Purchasing Department and the copy filed in the office 
of the finance officer. 

General Information 

A requisition must be completed before a purchase is made, except as otherwise 
provided herein. The Purchasing Department will obtain prices for any needed 
item after receipt of a departmental requisition. All requests for prices will be 
processed in this manner. 

Suggested vendors will be of great assistance to the Purchasing Department and 
will be given full consideration. This information will allow the Purchasing 
Department to process the requisition more rapidly. 

Approximate cost of items will enable Purchasing to determine if bids are required. 

If a requisition is incomplete or improperly prepared, the Purchasing Department 
shall return it to the using department for completion. An incomplete requisition 
could cause unnecessary delays. 

The requisitioner shall not split orders to circumvent any provision of the 
charter, this manual or any policy established by City nor shall requisitions be 
submitted for the sole purpose of using up budgetary balances. 

Expediting Orders 

If a company is awaiting a purchase order to process a rush order, the words 
EXPEDITE IMMEDIATELY must be placed in the body of the requisition. The 



Purchasing Department will then contact the vendor and supply a purchase order 
number. This process will be the exception rather than the rule. 

Insufficient Funds 

If it is determined by the finance officer that the account lacks a sufficient budget, 
it will be referred to the Purchasing Agent, who will notify the Department Head. 

Purchase Order 

Purpose 

A purchase order authorizes the seller to ship and invoice the materials and 
services as specified. Purchase orders shall be written to that they are clear, 
concise, and complete. This will prevent misunderstanding and unnecessary 
correspondence with suppliers. 

When Prepared 

Purchase orders are issued only after an acceptable requisition has been submitted 
and after approval of the Purchasing Agent and the finance officer. No purchase 
order will be issued until the finance officer has certified adequate budgetary and 
cash balances to make the purchase, except as otherwise provided herein. If the 

requisition is $250.00 or more, a purchase order is required. 

Amended by City Council March 14, 2011: PO $150.00 to $250.00 

Who Issues the Purchase Order 

The Purchasing Department only shall issue purchase orders, except as otherwise 
provided herein. The using department will not enter into negotiations with 
suppliers for the purchase of equipment, supplies, materials, services, and other 
items, except under the emergency purchase procedures and as otherwise provided 
herein. 

How Purchase Orders are Handled 



The Purchase Order is made from the approved Requisition and is prepared in Two 
(2) pink copies. 

a. One copy is sent to the Finance Officer and the proper account encumbered by 
the amount of the Purchase order. 

b. One copy is retained by the Purchasing Agent and put in a completed file in 
numerical order. 

Cancellations 

The Purchasing Depa1iment must initiate all cancellations and will issue a purchase 
order to the next best vendor or renew the purchasing process. 

MATERIAL RECEIVING REPORT 

Purpose 

The material receiving report form is designed to notify the Purchasing Agent and 
the Finance Officer that item of particular order has been received. 

When Prepared 

This form is completed immediately upon receipt of materials, supplies, or 

services. 

Who Prepares 

The person receiving the merchandise. 

How to Prepare 

A properly prepared material receiving report must contain the following 

information: 

a. Purchase order number- the number from the purchase order on which the 

items were ordered. 

b. From- name of vendor. 

c. Material received by- person receiving the items. 



d. Date received- date the goods are received. 

e. Quantity- number of items received. 

f. Description- brief statement describing items. 

g. Price- unit price from the purchase order. 

h. Per- unit measure foot, lb., etc. 

i. Amount- amount equal to quantity times unit cost. 

j. Freight Charge- amount (if any} charged for delivery. 

When any item(s} is not in satisfactory condition, a statement to the condition of 

the item(s} shall be made in the description column. No statement as to 

condition in this column shall certify that the item(s} is in satisfactory condition. 

Departmental Purchase Orders 

Purpose 

Departmental Purchase Orders allow the using department to handle small 

purchases without processing a requisition through the Purchasing Department. 

When Used 

Departmental Purchase Orders are to be used for the purchase of items which 

cost $4,000.00 or less. 

Who Prepares the Departmental Order 

The department head may fill out a Departmental Purchase Order. The 

Purchasing Department shall keep a list of persons who are authorized to sign a 

Departmental Purchase Order for a department head. 

How to Prepare 

A properly prepared Departmental Purchase Order will contain the following 

information: 

a. Number No.- Assigned by the Purchasing Department 



b. Date- the date the order was prepared. 

c. Dept.- ordering department. 

d. Vendor- firm or person from who purchase is being made. 

e. Vendor's Address- address of vendor. 

f. Quantity- the amount ordered of each item described. 

g. Description- brief description of item'(s) to be purchases. 

h. Account to be Charged- complete budgetary code of using department. 

i. Price- amount equal to quantity times unit cost. 

j. Purchase Authorized By- signature and title of department head. 

k. Articles or Service Received- signature of person receiving articles or service 

and date receive 

Routing 

A Department Purchase Order is a two-part form consisting of the following: 

a. One Copy is sent to the finance officer and the proper account encumbered 

by the amount of the Purchase Order. 

b. One Copy is retained by the Purchasing Agent and filed in numerical order. 

General Information 

The department head shall be responsible for holding expenditures within 

budgetary appropriations and attempt to secure at least three (3) quotations for 

those items which cost $5,000.00 or less. 

These purchase orders will be numbered and issued to the using department by 

the Purchasing Department. 

It is the responsibility of the department head, considering price and quality, to 

determine the best source of supply. All local sources should be considered 

before a purchase is made. The Purchasing Department will assist in vendor 

selection upon request. 



Under no circumstances may multiple forms be used. If the purchase is over the 

dollar limit, in an effort to avoid filling out a purchase requisition. 

Request for Bids 

The request for bid form shall be used when deemed necessary by the Purchasing 

agent. The bid number(#) shall be that number assigned to the firm or individual 

to which the Request for Bid is forwarded. 

Summary of Bids 

The summary of bids form shall be used by the form Purchasing Department to 

record quotations. This form shall contain the bids for each purchase and be 

attached to the pink copy of the purchase order when filled. 

Emergency Purchases 

Purpose 

Emergency purchases are to be made by departments only when normal 

functions and operations of the department would be hampered by submitting a 

requisition in the regular manner, or where property, equipment, or life are 

endangered through unexpected circumstances and materials, services, etc., and 

are needed immediately. 

By whom made 

Emergency purchases, either verbal or written, may be made directly by the using 

department without competitive bids, provided sufficient appropriation has been 

made to cover such occasions and necessary approvals have been secured. 

Who authorizes 

The department head may authorize an emergency purchase. 

How to make 

After determining that a true emergency exists, the following procedure should 

be used: 



a. Notify the Purchasing Department of the need and nature of the 

emergency. The Purchasing Department will give verbal approval and issue 

a purchase order number. This number will be referenced on the 

requisition referred to in Step (d-1). 

b. Using department shall at all times use sound judgment in making 

emergency purchases of materials and supplies and for Labor on 

equipment at the best possible price. Orders should be placed with 

vendors with whom the using department has had previous satisfactory 

experience. 

c. Suppliers shall furnish sales tickets, delivery slips, invoices, etc., for the 

supplies or services rendered. Terms of the transactions indicating price 

and other date, shall be shown. 

d. Upon completion of the purchase, on the same or following business day, 

the using department shall perform the following: 

(1.) Present to the Purchasing Department a completed requisition 

stating a description of the emergency and approval by the 

department head. The words "Confirming Emergency Purchase' shall 

be marked plainly on the requisition, along with the purchase order 

number used. 

(2.) The sales ticket, delivery slips, invoices, and material receiving report 

confirming the purchase must be attached to the emergency 

requisition form. 

(3.) The Purchasing Department will issue the vendor a purchase order 

marked "Confirmation". 

e. If an emergency should occur during a time when the Purchasing 

Department normally is closed, the using department will follow the above 

procedure with the exception of Step (a) the evidence of purchase, such as 

sales slip, counter receipt, delivery slip, invoice, etc., which the supplier 

normally furnishes, shall be attached to the completed and approved 

requisition form and be forwarded to the Purchasing Department, along 

with a Material Receiving Report. 



f. The person authorizing the emergency purchase shall prepare a report to 

the chief executive officer and governing body, as soon as possible, 

specifying the amount paid, the item(s) purchased, from who the 

purchase(s) was made, and nature of the emergency. 

General Information 

EMERGENCY PURCHASES ARE COSTLY AND SHOULD BE KEPT TO 
MINIMUM. AVOIDING EMERGENCY ORDERS WILL ULTIMATELY SAVE CITY 
MONEY. 

Sealed Bids of Proposals 

Sealed bids are required on purchases of $25,000.00 or more. Advertisement of 
bids in a local newspaper of general circulation must be not less than five (5) days 
before bid opening date. 

Purchasing Department's Responsibility 

1. Prepare bid requests. 
2. Establish date and time for bid opening. 
3. Select possible sources of supply. 
4. Prepare specifications (unless of a technical nature; i.e., architectural, 

engineering, etc.,)using department's input and assistance. 
5. Mail bid requests and advertise as appropriate. If hand delivered, an 

appropriate receipt of the bid request should be signed by the vendor. 
6. Receive and open bids. 
7. Evaluate bids using department's assistance. 
8. Prepare bids and make recommendation on award to governing body for 

approval. 
9. Process purchase order after governing body approval. 
10. Maintain all specification and bid data files. 



Using Department's Responsibility 

1. Prepare requisition to initiate bid process. This should contain specific 
information about items needed; i.e., quantity, size, brand preferred, 
performance requirements, etc. 

2. Submit requisition to initiate bid request to the Purchasing Department 
in evaluation of bid prior to the date the bids are to be opened. 

3. Assist in specification preparation if needed. 
4. Assist in evaluation of bid results. 

The following policies shall apply to sealed bids: 

1. Bid or Proposal opening- Bids will be opened at the time and date specified 

on the bid request. All bids are opened publicly and read aloud, with 

tabulation provided to all vendors participating. Proposals for extensive 

systems, complicated equipment, or construction projects, with prior 

approval of the governing body, may be opened privately in cases where 

the disclosure of the contents of the proposal could not be readily 

evaluated and would have a negative impact on both the vendor and city. 

2. Late bids- No bids received after closing time will be accepted. All late bids 

will be returned unopened to the vendor. Bids postmarked on the bid 

opening date but received after the specified time will be considered late 

and will be returned unopened. 

3. Bid opening Schedule- The Purchasing Department is responsible for setting 

bid opening dates and times. 

4. Telephone Bids- The Purchasing Department will not accept any bid by 

telephone. 

5. Bid Form- The Purchasing Department sends duplicate copies of bid request 

forms to each bidder, thereby enabling the bidder to return one and 

maintain a file copy. Bids will not be accepted on any vendor letterhead, 

vendor bid form or other substitutions unless special permission is granted 

by the Purchasing Department. 



6. Unsigned Bids- Failure of a vendor representative to sign a bid proposal 

removes that bid from consideration. A typed official's name will not be 

acceptable without that person's written signature. 

7. Acceptance of Bids- City reserves the right to reject any or all bids, to waive 

any irregularities in a bid, to make awards to more than one bidder, to 

accept any of or all of the bid, or accept that bid or bids which in the 

judgment of the governing body is in the best interest of city. 

8. Shipping Charges- Bids are to include all shipping charges to the point of 

delivery. Bids will only be considered on the basis of delivered price, except 

as otherwise authorized by the governing body. 

9. Sample Product Policy- The Purchasing Department may request a sample 

product as a part of a bid. If this is stated on the bid proposal form, the 

vendor is required to comply with this request or have the bid removed 

from consideration. 

10. Approved Equal Policy- Specifications furnished in the request for bid are 

intended to establish a desires quality or performance level or other 

minimum requirements which will provide the City with the best product 

available at the lowest possible price. 

When a brand name and/or model are designated, it signifies the minimum 

quality acceptable. If an alternate is offered, the bidder must include the 

brand name or model to be furnished, along with complete specifications 

and descriptive literature, and, if requested a sample for testing. Other 

than designated brands and /or models approved as "equal to" designated 

products shall receive equal consideration. 

11. Alternate Bids- Should it be found, after bids have been opened, that a 

product has been offered with alternate specification and that this product 

would prove to be satisfactory and more economical for the city to use, all 

bids for that item may be rejected and specifications re-drawn to allow all 

bidders an equal opportunity to submit bids on the alternate item. 

12. Vendor Identification- Potential suppliers are selected from existing vendor 

files, using department's suggestions and any and all sources available to 

locate vendors related to a specific product or service. New suppliers are 

added to the bid list as they are identified. 



13.Tie Bids- A tie bid is one in which two or more vendors bid identical items at 

the same unit cost. 

Tie bids may be determined by one of the following factors: 

{1) Discount allowed 

{2) Delivery schedule 

{3) Previous vendor performance 

{4) Vendor location 

{5) Trade-in value offered 

14. Cancellation of Invitation for bid or request for proposal- An invitation for 

bid, a request for proposal, or other solicitations may be canceled, or any or 

all bids or proposals may be rejected in part as may be specified in the 

solicitation when it is in the best interest of city. He reasons therefore shall 

be made a part of the bid or proposal file. 

15. Public Advertisement- In addition to publication in a newspaper of general 

circulation as required by law, the Purchasing Agent may make any other 

efforts deemed appropriate to notify all prospective bidders of the 

invitation to bid. This may be accomplished by delivery, verbally, by mail, 

or by posting the Invitation to Bid in a public place. It is not required that 

specifications be included in the Invitation to Bid; however, this notice 

should state clearly the purchase that is to be made. 

Sealed Bids and Sealed Proposals 

{1) Although the formal sealed bid process should remain a standard in 

public purchasing, there is a place for competitive negotiation. {State 

and Local Government Purchasing, The Council of State Governments 

{1975) at 2.2). Competitive sealed bidding, as defined in this code, is the 

preferred method of procurement. The competitive sealed proposal 

method (similar use when competitive negotiation) is available for use 

when competitive sealed bidding is not practicable. 

"Both methods utilize price and product competition, but to different 

degrees and in different manners. The use of functional or performance 

specifications is allowed under both methods to facilitate consideration 

of alternative means of meeting {State) needs, with evaluation, where 



appropriate, on the basis of total or life cycle costs. The methodology 

and the ranking or relative importance of the criteria to be used in the 

evaluation process under either method must be fully disclosed in the 

solicitation. Only criteria disclosed in the solicitation may be used to 

evaluate the items bid or proposed. 

"The two methods of source selection differ in the following ways" 

(a) Under competitive sealed bidding, subjective factors may be used only to 

determine if the supply, service, or construction item bid meets the 

purchase description. Under competitive sealed proposals, subjective 

factors may be used to determine not only if the items being offered meet 

the purchase description but may also be used to evaluate competing 

proposals. The effect of this different use of subject evaluation is that 

under competitive sealed bidding, once the subject evaluation is 

completed, award is made on a purely objective basis to the lowest 

responsive and responsible bidder. Under competitive sealed proposals, 

the quality of competing products may be compared and tradeoffs made 

between price and quality of the items offered (all as set forth in the 

solicitation). Award under competitive sealed proposals is then made to 

the responsible offer or whose proposal is most advantageous to the 

(State) needs. 

(b) Competitive sealed bidding and competitive sealed proposals also differ in 

that, under competitive sealed bidding, no change in bids is allowed once 

they have been opened, except for correction of errors in limited 

circumstances. The competitive sealed proposal method, on the other 

hand, permits discussions after proposals have been opened to allow 

clarification and changes in proposals provided that adequate precautions 

are taken to treat each offer or fairly and to ensure the information gleaned 

from competing proposal not disclosed to other offerors. 



(Source: A model procurement code for state and Local governments­

coordinating committee's tentative draft. American Bar Association, July, 1978. 

Pages 54 & 55). 

Other Aspects To Be Considered In Bid Award 

In addition to price, the following aspects also will be considered in the award of a 

bid: 

(1) The ability of the bidder to perform the contract or provide the material or 

service required. 

(2) Whether the bidder can perform the contract or provide the material or 

service promptly or within the time specified, without delay or 

interference. 

(3) The character, integrity, reputation, experience, and efficiency of the 

bidder. 

(4) The previous and existing compliance, by the bidder, with laws and 

ordinances relating to the contract or service. 

(5) The ability of the bidder to provide future maintenance and service for the 

use of the subject contract. 

(6) Terms and conditions stated in bid. 

(7) Compliance with specifications or request for proposal. 

Non-Performance Policy 

Failure of a bidder to complete a contract, bid, or purchase order in the 

specified time agree upon, or failure to provide the service, materials, or 

supplies required by such contract, bid or purchase order, or failure to 

honor a quoted price on services, materials, or supplies on a contract, bid, 

or purchase order may result in one or more of the following actions: 

(a) Removal of a vendor from bid list for a period to be determined by the 

governing body. 



(b) Allowing the vendor to find the needed item for the city from another 

supplier at no additional cost to the City. 

(c) Allowing the city to purchase the needed service, materials, or supplies 

from another source and charge the vendor for any difference in cost 

resulting from this purchase. 

(d) Allowing monetary settlement. 

Sale of Surplus Property 

When a department head determines that there is surplus equipment or 

material within the department, he or she shall notify the Purchasing 

Agent in writing of any such equipment or materials. The Purchasing 

Agent will determine the best method of disposal of those items with an 

estimated value of less than One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) or more 

shall be advertised and bids received by the Purchasing Agent after 

approval by the governing body. Such equipment or material shall be 

sold to the highest bidder. However, the Purchasing Agent may transfer 

surplus equipment or material from one department to another. The 

finance officer shall be notified of any such transfer or sales. With 

approval of the governing body, equipment or material may be sold at 

public auction or sold at wholesale auto. 

Delinquent Delivery 

Once the Purchasing Department has issued a purchase order, no 

follow-up work is done unless the using department advises the item 

has not been received. Upon this notification, the Purchasing 

Department will initiate action, either written or verbal as time allows, 

to investigate the delay. The using department will be advised of any 

further problems or a revised delivery date. 

Contractual Purchases 



Such materials, supplies, or services which are constantly needed for city 

operations will be taken on a formal bid and will be awarded by the 

governing body for a contract period determined to be in the best 

interest of city. This procedure shall be used in cases where the amount 

of the purchase of said materials, supplies, or services will be $20,000 or 

more with the fiscal year. For amounts below $20,000 the award will be 

made by the Purchasing Agent. 

Items Covered By Warranty or Guarantee 

The City acquires many items which have a warranty or guarantee for 

certain length of time, such as tires, batteries, water heaters, roofs, and 

equipment. Before the items are repaired or replaced, the Purchasing 

Agent should be consulted to see if the item is covered by such warranty 

or guarantee. 

The Purchasing Agent shall maintain an active current file with complete 

information on such warranties or guarantees. All warranties must be 

remitted to the Purchasing Agent with the invoice indicating date of 

receipt. 

Signatures 

Contracts, applications for title, tax exemption certificates, agreements, 

and contracts for the City shall not be signed by any city employee 

unless authorized in writing by the Purchasing Agent or by action of the 

governing body. 

Trade-Ins 



List of equipment to be used as trade-in shall accompany the request 

and specifications. The list includes the model, year, serial numbers, 

and other pertinent data. 

Inspection and Testing 

When deemed necessary, the Purchasing Agent may cause to be 

inspected all deliveries of supplies, materials, equipment, or contractual 

services to determine their performance with the specifications set forth 

in an order or contract. 

The Purchasing Agent may require chemical and physical test of 

materials submitted with bids and delivered samples, or after products 

have been delivered, to determine their quality in conformance with 

specifications. In the performance of such tests, the Purchasing agent 

may make use of laboratory facilities of any outside laboratory. 

General Information 

1. Preference to local dealers. In the purchasing of supplies, materials, 

equipment, and services for city's requirements, preference shall be given 

to those dealers having stores or warehouses within Lenoir City: price, 

quality, delivery and service being equal. 

2. Federal excise tax. City is exempt from the payment of excise taxes 

imposed by the federal government, and suppliers should be requested to 

deduct the amount of such taxes from their bids, quotations, and invoices. 

3. Standardization Requirements- Important economies can be effected 

through standardizing supplies and materials that can be purchased in large 

amounts. Thus, department heads should adopt as standards the minimum 

number of quantities, sizes, and the minimum number of quantities, sizes, 

and varieties of commodities consistent with successful operation. Where 

practical, materials and supplies should be purchased on the basis of 

requirements for a six-month period. 



4. Inspection of deliveries. No invoices for supplies, materials, or equipment 

shall be accepted for payment until such supplies, materials, etc., have 

been received and inspected by the department head. 

5. Correspondence with suppliers. Copies of any correspondence with 

suppliers concerning prices, adjustments, and defective merchandise shall 

be forwarded to the Purchasing Agent. All invoices, bills of lading, delivery 

tickets, and other papers pertaining to purchases shall be sent to the 

Purchasing Agent. 

6. Claims. The Purchasing Agent shall prosecute all claims for shortages, 

breakages, or other complaints against either shipper or carrier in 

connection with shipments. 

7. Public inspection of records. The Purchasing Agent shall keep a complete 

record of all quotations, bids, and purchase orders. Such records shall be 

open to public inspection. 

8. Prohibition of contracts with municipal officers. State laws governing doing 

business with officers of City are: 

TCA 6-54-107. Interest of officer in municipal contracts prohibited. (a) No 

person holding office under any municipal corporation shall, during the 

time for which he was elected or appointed, be capable of contracting with 

such corporation for the performance of any work which is to be paid for 

out of the treasury. Nor shall such person be capable of holding or having 

any other direct interest in such a contract. "Direct interest" means any 

contract with any business in which the official is the sole proprietor, a 

partner, or the person having the controlling interest. "Controlling 

Interest" shall include the individual with the ownership or control of the 

largest number of outstanding shares owned by any single individual or 

corporation. 

No Officer in a municipality shall be indirectly interested in any contract to 

which the municipality is a party unless the officer publicly acknowledges 

his interest and recuses himself from any of his duties which include the 

consideration of, voting on, or overseeing the particular contract. 

"Indirectly interested" means any contract in which the officer is interested 



but not directly so, but includes contracts where the officer is directly 

interested but is the sole supplier of goods of services in a municipality. 

(See TCA 6-54-108 for penalty). 

TCA 12-4-101. Personal interest of officer prohibited. (a) It shall not be 

lawful for any officer, committee member, director, or other person whose 

duty it is to vote for, let out, overlook, or contract in which any municipal 

corporation, county, state, development districts, utility districts, human 

resource agencies, and other political subdivision created by statute shall or 

may be interested, to be directly interested in any such contract. "Directly 

interested" means any contract with the official himself or with any 

business in which the official is the sole proprietor, a partner, or the person 

having the controlling interest. "Controlling interest" shall include the 

individual with the ownership or control of the largest number of 

outstanding shares owned by any single individual or corporation. 

(c) It shall not be lawful for any officer, Committee member, director, or other 

person whose duty it is to vote for, let out, overlook, or in any manner to 

superintend any work or any contract in which any municipal corporation, 

county, state, development districts, utility districts, human resource 

agencies, and other political subdivisions created by statute shall or may be 

interested, to be indirectly interested in any such contract unless the officer 

publicly acknowledges his interest. "Indirectly interested" means any 

contract in which the officer is interested but not directly so, but includes 

contracts where the officer is directly interested but is the sole supplier of 

goods or services in a municipality or county. (See TCA 12-4-102 for 

penalty). 

9. Designee. When a position such as Purchasing Agent, Finance Officer, or 

Department Head is mentioned herein, their assistants or designees are 

included as if they also were written thereafter; provided that persons 

holding these positions have designated others to carry out such duties. 

10. Definitions (Municipal Purchasing Law of 1983 as Amended. 



A. Customarily purchased- That which is regularly purchased under specific 

circumstances which would be considered reasonable and appropriate. 

( Example: after two (2) consecutive years: then, not attaining the total 

amount of $5,000). 

B. Like Items- Those items that are similar and may be purchased at the 

lowest common denominator, such as size, color, etc. 

C. Lot- A single grouping of like items to be purchased at one time. 

D. Single Source of Supply- The availability of only one vendor for a product 

or service within a reasonable marketable distance of the City. 

E. Proprietary Product- A brand-name product made and marketed by one 

having the exclusive right to manufacture and sell. 

F. Within the limits of the approved budget- Purchases must be held within 

appropriation limits in those funds requiring budgets either by law, 

regulation, or policy. Appropriation limits do not apply to those 

nonexpendable funds not requiring budgets; such as enterprise funds, 

intergovernmental service funds, and nonexpendable trust funds. 

11. Performance and Bid Bonds. Performance and bid bonds as may be 

deemed appropriate by the Purchasing Agent or the governing body. 

Purchasing Committee 

There is hereby created a city purchasing committee consisting of five (5) 

members. Three (3) council (voting) members, City Administrator and City 

Treasurer (non-Voting) Administrator and Treasurer shall serve as 

committee advisers. 

Purpose 

The purchasing committee is responsible for approval/disapproval of all 

purchases in the amount of $1,000.00 (one Thousand) or more (goods and 

services). 



Schedule of Meetings 

The committee shall set the time, place and frequency of meetings as it 

deems necessary for conducting city business in a timely manner. 

(Meetings shall be appropriately advertised). 

General Information 

The purchasing committee has been established by the City Council (3-26-

01) in order to promote the best possible fiscal responsibility for city 

purchasing. 

The purchasing committee is charged with following responsibility (s): 

(1.) Assist city departments in their purchasing needs consistent with 

established purchasing procedures and sound fiscal management of city 

funds. 

(2.) Shall call for bids/proposals where appropriate and make 

recommendations to city council for consideration. 

(3.) Shall work to expedite departmental purchasing needs as it deems 

necessary. 

(4.) It is the responsibility of the using department (department head) to 

anticipate and plan their respective purchases far enough in advance in 

order for committee to receive the request, review the proposed purchase 

and make appropriate recommendations for disposition. 
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CHARTER FOR THE CITY OF LOUDON, TENNESSEE 

CHAPTER NO. 741 

House Bill No. 1040 
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Substituted for: Senate Bill No. 1186 

By Koella 
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AN ACT to amend the Charter of the City of Loudon, Tennessee, the same 
being Chapter 229, Private Acts of 1927, as amended. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF 
TENNESSEE THAT: 

SECTION 1. The Charter of the City of Loudon, Tennessee, the same 
being Chapter 229, Private Acts of 1927, as amended, is hereby amended in its 
entirety to read as follows: 
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1Chapter 229, Private Acts of Tennessee for 1927, as amended, is the 
Charter of the City of Loudon. However, the Charter, as amended, was 
completely rewritten by Chapter 74, Private Acts of 1975, which is the act set 
out here as amended through the 2014 Session of the Tennessee General 
Assembly. No changes have been made in the 1975 act as set out here except 
that a table of contents has been added and its amendments have been 
incorporated. 
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ARTICLE I 

CORPORATE CAP A CITY 

SECTION 
1. Incorporation, name, and general powers. 
2. Boundaries. 

SECTION 1. Incorporation, name, and general powers. The City of 
Loudon, in the County of Loudon, and the inhabitants thereof, are hereby 
constituted a body politic and corporate by the style and the name of the "City 
of Loudon" and shall have perpetual succession by the corporate name; may sue 
and be sued, plead and be impleaded, grant, receive, purchase and hold real, 
mixed and personal property, and dispose of the same for the benefit of said 
City, and may have and use a corporate seal and change it at its pleasure. 

SECTION 2. Boundaries. The boundaries of the City shall be as fixed by 
Chapter No. 229 of the Private Acts of the General Assembly of the State of 
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Tennessee for 1927, as amended by Chapter No. 1 of the Private Acts of 1945, 
and as further amended pursuant to general law .1 

ARTICLE II 

POWERS 

SECTION 
1. Powers enumerated. 

SECTION 1. Powers enumerated. The City shall have power: (1) To 
assess, levy, and collect taxes for all general and special purposes on all subjects 
or objects of taxation, polls and privileges taxable by law for State, County or 
City purposes. 

(2) To adopt such classifications of the subjects and objects of taxation 
as may not be contrary to law. 

(3) To contract and be contracted with. 
( 4) To expend the money of the City for all lawful purposes. 
(5) To acquire or receive and hold, maintain, improve, sell, lease, 

mortgage, pledge, or otherwise dispose of property, real or personal, and any 
estate, or interest therein, within or without the City or State. 

(6) To condemn property, real or personal or any interest, or estate or 
use therein, either within or without the City, for present or future defined 
public use; to condemn property for easements for public uses including, but not 
limited to, public utilities, roadways and railway lines and spur tracts serving 
industrial parks or industrial buildings; such condemnations to be made and 
effected in accordance with the procedures and provisions of Chapter 14 of Title 
23 TCA, or in such other manner as may be provided by general law. 

(7) To take and hold property within or without the City or State upon 
trust; and to administer trusts for the public benefit. 

1The corporate boundaries have been amended pursuant to general law 
by the following ordinances of record in the recorder's office. Two (2) of the 
ordinances are dated November 13, 1961, and two (2) are dated December 11, 
1961. The others are numbered as 462, 463, 503, 512, 530, 545, 550, 569, 582, 
583, 595, 600, 605, 611, 623, 638, 639, 645, 652, 655, 659, 663, 665, 669,674, 
682, 683, 684, 692, 697, 698, 706, 727, 733, 735, 738, 746, 749, 1988-6, 1989-6, 
1989-10, 1990-4, 1990-14, 1990-15, 1991-2, 1991-12, 1995-11, 1996-7, 1996-9, 
1997-1, 1997-10, 1997-13, 1998-03, 1998-08, 1999-15, 2000-09, 2000-11, 
2000-12, 2000-13, 2000-14, 2001-01, 2001-18, 2001-19, 2002-06, 2002-07, 
2002-17, 2002-18, 2003-08, 2003-09, 2004-01, 2004-08, 2004-09, 2005-03, 
2005-08, 2005-10, 2006-07, 2006-09, 2006-12, 2006-17, 2006-18, 2007-01, and 
2010-13. 
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(8) To acquire, construct, own, operate, and maintain, or sell, lease, 
mortgage, pledge, or otherwise dispose of public utilities or any estate or interest 
therein, or any other utility of service to the City, its inhabitants, or any part 
thereof. 

(9) To grant to any person, firm, association, or corporation franchises 
for public utilities and public services to be furnished the City and those therein. 
Such power to grant franchises shall embrace the power hereby expressly 
conferred, to grant exclusive franchises, and whenever an exclusive franchise is 
granted, it shall be exclusive against any other person, firm, association, or 
corporation. Franchises may be granted for the period of twenty-five (25) years 
or less, but not longer. The City Council may prescribe in each grant of a 
franchise, to public utilities not regulated by the Tennessee Public Service 
Commission, the rates, fares, charges, and regulations that may be made by the 
grantee of the franchise. Franchises may by their terms apply to the territory 
within the corporate limits of the City at the date of the franchises, and as said 
corporate limits thereafter may be enlarged; and to the then existing streets, 
alleys, and other thoroughfares that thereafter may be opened. 

(10) To make contracts with any person, firm, association or 
corporation, for public utilities and public services to be furnished the City and 
those therein. Such power to make contracts shall embrace the power, expressly 
conferred, to make exclusive contracts; and when an exclusive contract is 
entered into, it shall be exclusive against any other person, firm, association, or 
corporation. Such contracts may be entered into for the period of twenty-five 
(25) years or less, but not longer. The City Council may prescribe in each such 
contract with public utilities not regulated by the Tennessee Public Service 
Commission entered into, the rates, fares, charges, and regulations that may be 
made by the person, firm, association, or corporation with whom the contract is 
made. Such contracts may by their terms apply to the territory within the 
corporate limits of the City at the date of the contract, and as said corporate 
limits thereafter may be enlarged; and to the then existing streets, alleys, and 
thoroughfares and to any other streets, alleys, and other thoroughfares that 
thereafter may be opened. 

(11) To prescribe reasonable regulations regarding the construction, 
maintenance, equipment, operation and service of public utilities and compel, 
from time to time reasonable extensions of facilities for such services. 

(12) To establish, open, relocate, vacate, alter, widen, extend, grade, 
improve, repair, construct, reconstruct, maintain, light, sprinkle, and clean 
public highways, streets, boulevards, parkways, sidewalks, alleys, parks, public 
grounds and squares, bridges, viaducts, subways, tunnels, sewers, and drains 
within or without the corporate limits, and to regulate the use thereof within the 
corporate limits, and to take and appropriate property for the aforementioned 
uses under the provisions of Sections 6-1007--6-1011 and 23-1414, TCA, or in 
such other manner as may be provided by general law. 
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(13) To construct, improve, reconstruct, and reimprove by opening, 
extending, widening, grading, curbing, guttering, paving, graveling, 
macadamizing, draining, or otherwise improving any streets, highways, 
avenues, alleys or other public places within the corporate limits. 

(14) To acquire, purchase, provide for, construct, regulate, maintain and 
do all things relating to all market places, public buildings, bridges, sewers and 
other structures, works and improvements. 

(15) To collect and dispose of drainage, sewage, offal, ashes, garbage 
and refuse, and to impose a compulsory service charge for such, or to license and 
regulate such collection and disposal. 

(16) To license and regulate all persons, firms, corporations, companies, 
and associations engaged in any business, occupation, calling, profession, or 
trade not forbidden by law or inconsistent with State licensing procedures. 

(17) To impose a license tax upon any animal, thing, business, vocation, 
pursuit, privilege, or calling not prohibited by law. 

(18) To define, prohibit, abate, suppress, prevent, and regulate all acts, 
practices, conduct, business, occupations, callings, trades, uses of property and 
all other things whatsoever detrimental, or liable to be detrimental, to the 
health, morals, comfort, safety, convenience, or welfare of the inhabitants of the 
City, and to exercise general police powers. 

(19) To prescribe limits within which business occupations and practices 
liable to be nuisances or detrimental to the health, morals, security or general 
welfare of the people may lawfully be established, conducted or maintained. 

(20) To inspect, test, measure, and weigh any article for consumption 
or use within the City, and to charge reasonable fees therefor; and to provide 
standards of weights, tests, and measures. 

(21) To establish, regulate, license, and inspect weights and measures. 
(22) To regulate the location, bullc, occupancy, area, lot, location, height, 

construction and materials of all buildings and structures, and to inspect all 
buildings, lands and places as to their condition for health, cleanliness and 
safety, and when necessary, prevent the use thereof and require any alteration 
or changes necessary to make them healthful, clean, or safe. 

(23) To provide and maintain charitable, educational, recreative, 
curative, corrective, detentive, or penal institutions, departments, functions, 
facilities, instrumentalities, conveniences, and services. 

(24) To purchase or construct, maintain, and establish a workhouse or 
farm colony, for the confinement and detention of any person convicted in the 
City court of offenses against the laws and ordinances of the City who fails to 
secure the fine and costs imposed upon him, or to contract with the County to 
keep said persons in the workhouse of said County and to provide by said 
contract and by ordinance for the commitment of such persons to the workhouse 
so provided, until such fine shall be fully paid. 

(25) To enforce any ordinance, by means of fines, forfeitures and 
penalties and to impose costs as a part thereof. 
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(26) To establish schools, determine the necessary boards, officers, and 
teachers required therefor, and fix their compensation, to purchase or otherwise 
acquire land for schoolhouses, playgrounds and other purposes connected with 
the schools; to purchase or erect all necessary buildings and to do all other acts 
necessary to establish, maintain, and operate a complete educational system 
within the City. 

(27) To regulate, tax, license or suppress the keeping or going at large 
of animals within the City; to impound the same and in default of redemption 
to sell or kill the same. 

(28) To establish, maintain and operate Civil Service Systems, group 
insurance plans, and retirement systems for City employees, and to appropriate, 
expend and use the money of the City therefor. 

(29) Under the police power, to make all necessary and proper rules and 
regulations regarding the use and operation of taxi cabs and contract carriers, 
and the operations thereof, within the corporate limits of the City of Loudon. 

(30) To do all things necessary to provide the City sufficient and safe 
water; to provide for the regulation, construction and maintenance of water 
works, settling basins, pumping stations, water pipes and mains and 
rights-of-ways for the same, reservoirs and all appurtenances, whether within 
or without the corporate limits of the City; to provide for rates and assessments 
for water service, and to provide and fix liens or penalties and withdrawal of 
service for refusal or failure of the party served to pay for same. 

(31) To provide for the establishment and operation of all offices, 
boards, divisions and departments, not herein enumerated, which may be 
deemed necessary or expedient in the interest of the City. 

(32) To provide for and establish a City Planning Commission and a 
Board of Zoning Appeals pursuant to and consistent with the general law; and 
to invest such bodies with all the powers conferred by general law; and to act 
upon the plans, plats, decisions and recommendations made by such bodies, 
respectively, as in the general law provided. 

(33) To call, regulate, provide for and control all municipal elections not 
provided by general law or this Charter. 

(34) To provide for the control of the growth of grass, weeds and 
vegetation and the accumulation of trash, rubbish and other deleterious or 
noxious matter upon any property within the City; to require the owner or those 
in possession of said property to keep the same free from the accumulation 
thereof; to charge such owner or those in possession of said property with the 
cost of removal of same and to impress a lien upon such property to defray the 
costs thereof. 

(35) Purchase, acquire, construct, own, operate, maintain, extend, 
improve, repair, equip and dispose of community antenna television systems or 
microwave multi-point distribution systems, or both, for the benefit of the 
citizens of the City. The City may operate any such system as a department or 
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part of a department of the City or place its operation in a separate board of in 
an existing electric or utility board, as provided by ordinance. 

(36) Borrow money to purchase, acquire, construct, extend, improve, 
repair or equip any such system and issue its bonds or notes therefor, including 
refunding bonds, in such form and upon such terms as it may determine. Any 
such bonds or notes shall be issued pursuant to the procedures set forth in and 
shall be governed by the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 9, 
Chapter 21, including provisions dealing with covenants permitted in bond 
resolutions, security and remedies of bondholders, and the system hereinabove 
described shall be deemed to be a "public works project", as that is defined in 
Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 9, Chapter 21. 

(37) To have and exercise all powers which now or hereafter it would be 
competent for this Charter specifically to enumerate, as fully and completely as 
though said powers were specifically enumerated herein. [As amended by Pvt. 
Acts 1976, ch. 234, and Pvt. Acts 1991, ch. 26] 

ARTICLE III 

ELECTIONS 

SECTION 
1. Date of general city election. 
2. General election laws apply. 
3. Voter qualification requirements. 
4. Election offenses. 

SECTION 1. Date of general city election. A general City Election shall 
be held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November every fourth 
year beginning in November, 2010. [As replaced by Pvt. Acts 1988, ch. 184; and 
Pvt. Acts 2008, ch. 86, § 1] 

SECTION 2. General election laws apply. All elections shall be 
conducted by the Commissioners of Elections of Loudon County in accordance 
with the general election laws and this Charter. [As replaced by Pvt. Acts 1988, 
ch. 184] 

SECTION 3. Voter qualification requirements. Any person eighteen (18) 
years of age or older who is a resident of the City of Loudon and qualified to vote 
for members of the General Assembly and other civil officers for Loudon County 
shall be entitled to vote in elections for Mayor and Councilmen. The same 
qualifications for voting in all other City elections or referenda shall apply 
unless otherwise provided by law. 

The Mayor and Councilmen whose terms of office expire in June of 2009 
shall have their terms of office extended until the voters elect a Mayor and four 
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( 4) Councilmen at the state general election to be held on the first Tuesday after 
the first Monday in November, 2010. Thereafter, every four (4) years the 
Commissioners of Elections for Loudon County, Tennessee shall hold an election 
by the qualified voters of the City of Loudon at-large, at which time there shall 
be elected a Mayor and four Councilmen, whose terms of office shall be for four 
( 4) years and until their successors are elected and qualified. The Mayor and 
Councilmen elected hereunder as herein provided for shall assume office on the 
first Monday in December following their election. [As replaced by Pvt. Acts 
1988, ch. 184; and amended by Pvt. Acts 2008, ch. 86, § 2] 

SECTION 4. Election offenses. Every act or deed, whether of omission 
or commission, denounced by law as an offense in the case of the regular state 
elections, is hereby denounced and declared to be a like offense in this case or 
any regular or special election, held under this Act, and to be punishable in like 
form and manner. [As replaced by Pvt. Acts 1988, ch. 184] 

ARTICLE IV 

CITY COUNCIL 

SECTION 
1. Composition, election, term of office, re-election, and ties. 
2. Qualifications for office. 
3. Salaries. 
4. Time and place of meetings. 
5. The office of mayor. 
6. Vacancies. 
7. Appointment of vice-mayor and his duties. 
8. Oath of office. 
9. Quorum, attendance, and adjournment. 
10. Proceedings. 
11. Removal of mayor or councilman from office. 
12. Procedure for adopting ordinances. 
13. Legislative action which must be exercised by ordinance. 

SECTION 1. Composition, election, term of office, re-election, and ties. 
The governing body of the City shall consist of a Mayor and four ( 4) Councilmen 
to be known officially as the "City Council" or "Council." At the general election 
held on the first Saturday in June, 1975, there shall be elected by the qualified 
voters of the City a Mayor and four (4) Councilmen. The mayoral candidate and 
the four (4) candidates for Council receiving the largest number of votes shall 
be declared elected. The term of the Mayor and each councilman shall begin on 
the first Monday of July next following the election at which said Council is 
elected. 



C-9 

Any councilman shall be eligible for re-election. In the event that two (2) 
or more candidates receive the same number of votes at any election for 
Councilmen, the outgoing Council shall, at a general or special meeting held 
prior to the beginning of the term of the newly elected Councilman or 
Councilmen, determine by lot which of said candidates shall take office. 

SECTION 2. Qualifications for office. Councilmen shall be qualified 
electors of the City and shall hold no other public office except as a Notary 
Public or member of the National Guard or Military Reserve. No person shall 
be eligible to the office of councilman unless he has been a citizen and resident 
of the City of Loudon for one (1) year immediately preceding his election. If a 
councilman shall cease to possess any of these qualifications, or shall be 
convicted of any crime involving moral turpitude, his office shall immediately 
become vacant. No person shall be eligible to serve as a councilman who has 
been convicted of malfeasance in office, bribery or other corrupt practice or 
crime. [As replaced by Pvt. Acts 1987, ch. 89] 

SECTION 3. Salaries. The salaries of the Mayor and City Council shall 
be set by ordinance. 

SECTION 4. Time and place of meetings. The Council shall, by 
ordinance, fix the time and place at which the regular meetings of the Council 
shall be held. Until otherwise provided by Ordinance, the regular meeting of the 
Council shall be held at 7:30 P.M. on the third Monday of each month. When 
such day falls on a legal holiday, the meeting shall be on the next following day 
unless otherwise prescribed by Council. 

Whenever in the opinion of the Mayor or of any three (3) Councilmen, the 
welfare of the City demands it, the Recorder shall call a special meeting of the 
Council. 

SECTION 5. The office of mayor. The Mayor shall preside at all 
meetings of the Council at which he is present, and in his absence, the 
Vice-Mayor shall preside, and in the absence of the Mayor and Vice-Mayor, the 
Council may designate one of their number to preside. 

The Mayor shall be the ceremonial head of the City, and shall be the 
officer upon which process against the City may be served. He shall have a vote 
in City Council on all matters, but no veto power. 

SECTION 6. Vacancies. Any vacancy in the Council shall be filled by 
appointment made by the remaining members thereof, and the Councilman so 
appointed shall serve for the remainder of the unexpired term. Provided, 
however, that only one (1) vacancy shall be filled by appointment made by the 
Council; and, in the event of any additional vacancy after the first, the Council 
shall forthwith, by Resolution, call upon the Election Commissioners for Loudon 
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County to call a special election for the purpose of filling any such additional 
vacancy. The Election Commissioners for Loudon County, when thus called 
upon by the Council, shall immediately call such special election and appoint the 
necessary officers therefor, and said special election shall be held in the same 
manner as provided in this Charter for general City elections. The Councilman 
elected at such special election so held shall hold office for the remainder of the 
unexpired term; provided, however, that the foregoing provision with reference 
to filling any additional vacancy after the first by a special election shall not 
apply to any additional vacancy in the Council occurring less than ninety (90) 
days prior to any general City Election; and in the latter event, such additional 
vacancy occurring less than ninety (90) days prior to the next general City 
Election shall be filled by appointment made by the remaining members of the 
Council, and the Councilman so appointed shall serve until his successor elected 
at the next general election is qualified. 

In the event of the occurrence of any vacancy in the Council which may, 
under the provisions of this Section, be filled by appointment by the remaining 
Councilmen, and such remaining Councilmen shall fail or neglect to fill such 
vacancy within 20 days of its occurrence, it shall be the duty of the Election 
Commissioners of Loudon County, upon certification of such facts to them by 
any Councilman, to call and cause to be held, as hereinabove provided, a special 
election for the purpose of filling such vacancy, provided such certification be 
made to the Election Commissioners for Loudon County within sufficient time 
to permit the holding and completion of such special election at least 90 days 
prior to the next general City election. 

SECTION 7. Appointment of vice-mayor and his duties. At the first 
regular meeting of the Council in July after a general City election, the Mayor 
shall appoint a member of Council to the position of Vice-Mayor, and if the office 
of Mayor shall become vacant the Vice-Mayor shall become Mayor the remainder 
of the unexpired term; and in the latter event, as soon as the vacancy shall be 
filled, the Council shall elect another of its members to the office of Vice-Mayor 
to serve during the remainder of the unexpired term. 

SECTION 8. Oath of office. The Mayor and councilmen, before entering 
upon their duties, shall each take and subscribe and file with the Recorder an 
oath or affirmation that he will support the Constitution of the United States 
and of the State of Tennessee and the Charter and Ordinances of the City of 
Loudon, and that he will faithfully discharge the duties of his office. 

SECTION 9. Quorum, attendance, and adjournment. A majority of all 
the members of said Council shall constitute a quorum, but a smaller number 
may adjourn from day to day and may compel the attendance of the absentees 
in such manner and under such penalties as the Council may provide. 
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A regular meeting at which a quorum is present may be adjourned by a 
majority vote, either from day to day or from time to time; but no such 
adjournment shall be taken to a date beyond the day preceding the next regular 
meeting; and any adjourned meeting shall continue as a regular meeting 
throughout said adjournment. 

SECTION 10. Proceedings. Said Council may determine the rules of its 
proceedings, subject to this Charter. It shall have power to subpoena witnesses 
and order the production of books and papers relating to any subject within its 
jurisdiction; to call upon the Chief of Police to execute its process; and to arrest 
and punish by fine any person refusing to obey such subpoena or order. 

No fine for any one offense under this Section shall exceed fifty dollars. 
Its presiding officer or the chairman of any committee may administer 

oaths to witnesses. 
It shall keep a journal of its proceedings, and the vote on every question 

shall be entered thereon. 

SECTION 11. Removal of mayor or councilman from office. The Mayor 
or any councilman may be removed from office by the Council for crime or 
misdemeanor in office, for grave misconduct showing unfitness for public duty 
or for permanent disability, all other members of the Council voting for said 
removal. The proceedings for such removal shall be upon specific charges in 
writing, which, with a notice stating the time and place of the hearing, shall be 
served on the accused or published at least seven (7) days prior to said hearing 
in a newspaper of general circulation in the City. The hearing shall be made 
public and the accused shall have the right to appeal and defend in person and 
by counsel, and have process of the Council to compel the attendance of 
witnesses in his behalf. Such vote shall be determined by yeas and nays and the 
names of the members voting for or against such removal shall be entered in the 
journal. 

Immediately upon the vote for removal the term of the accused shall 
expire and his official status, power and authority cease without further action. 
Any one removed hereunder shall have the right of appeal, within ten days, to 
the Circuit Court of Loudon County. Upon any such appeal being taken, the 
Recorder shall make and certify to the clerk of said Circuit Court a complete 
transcript of the entire removal proceedings. The Judge of said Court shall hear 
and determine the cause solely upon transcript record, and no additional 
evidence shall be introduced. The City or the accused, if either be dissatisfied 
with the decree of the Court, may appeal to the Supreme Court as in other cases. 

SECTION 12. Procedure for adopting ordinances. All ordinances shall 
begin with the clause, "Be it ordained by the Council of the City of Loudon, 
Tennessee." An ordinance may be introduced by any member of the Council. 
The body of ordinances may be omitted from the minutes on first reading, but 
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reference therein shall be made to the ordinance by title and/or subject matter. 
Every ordinance shall be passed on two different days, at regular, special or 
adjourned meetings. Except in the ordinance adopting the budget, no material 
or substantial amendment may be made on final passage, unless such 
amendment be passed in the same manner as an amendment to an existing 
ordinance. Every ordinance shall be effective upon final passage unless by its 
terms the effective date is deferred. Every ordinance upon final passage shall 
be signed by the presiding officer of Council, and shall be immediately taken 
charge of by the Recorder and by him numbered, copied in an ordinance book 
and there authenticated by the signature of the Recorder, and filed and 
preserved in the Recorder's office. 

SECTION 13. Legislative action which must be exercised by ordinance. 
Except as otherwise provided by general law or this Charter, legislative action 
of the Council shall be by ordinance when granting, renewing or extending 
public franchises; creating, abolishing or combining departments or offices; 
authorizing the borrowing of money; regulating the rate charged for its services 
by a public utility; fixing fees, service charges and utility rates; exercising the 
police power; levying taxes; adopting the budget; providing a fine or other 
penalty or establishing a rule or regulation for violation of which a fine or other 
penalty is imposed; or amending or repealing an existing ordinance. 

ARTICLEV 

CITY MANAGER 

SECTION 
1. Appointment and compensation. 
2. Who to act in manager's absence. 
3. Powers and duties enumerated. 
4. Council not to interfere with personnel appointments exclusive to 

manager or his subordinates. 
5. Council to deal with personnel through manager generally. 

SECTION 1. Appointment and compensation. The Council shall appoint 
a City Manager to serve at the will of the Council. The Manager shall be 
appointed on the basis of his executive and administrative qualifications. The 
compensation of the Manager shall be fixed by Council. 

SECTION 2. Who to act in manager's absence. During the temporary 
absence or disability of the Manager the Mayor shall exercise the powers and 
perform the duties of City Manager. The Council may revoke such designation 
at any time and designate another officer of the City as acting Manager. 
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SECTION 3. Powers and duties enumerated. The Manager shall be the 
chief administrative officer of the City. He shall be responsible to the Council 
for the administration of all the City affairs placed in his charge by or under this 
Charter. He shall have the following powers and duties: 

(1) He shall appoint and, when he deems it necessary for the good of 
the City, suspend or remove all City employees and appointive administrative 
officers provided for by or under this Charter, except the City Judge, City 
Attorney and officers and employees under the jurisdiction and control of the 
Board of Public Utilities. He may authorize any administrative officer subject 
to his direction and supervision to exercise these powers with respect to 
subordinates in that officer's department, office or agency. 

(2) He shall direct and supervise the administration of all 
departments, offices and agencies of the City except the City Court and Board 
of Public Utilities. 

(3) He shall attend all Council meetings and shall have the right to 
take part in discussion but may not vote. 

( 4) He shall see that all laws, provisions of this Charter and acts of the 
Council, subject to enforcement by him or by officers subject to his direction and 
supervision, are faithfully executed. 

(5) He shall prepare and submit the annual budget to the Council. 
(6) He shall submit to the Council and make available to the public a 

complete report on the finances and administrative activities of the City as of 
the end of each fiscal year. 

(7) He shall make such other reports as the Council may require 
concerning the operations of City departments, offices and agencies subject to 
his direction and supervision. 

(8) He shall keep the Council fully advised as to the financial condition 
and future needs of the City and make such recommendations to the Council 
concerning the affairs of the City as he deems desirable. 

(9) He shall perform such other duties as are specified in this Charter 
or as may be required by the Council. 

SECTION 4. Council not to interfere with personnel appointments 
exclusive to manager or his subordinates. Neither the Council nor any of its 
members shall in any manner dictate the appointment or removal of any City 
administrative officers or employees whom the Manager or any of his 
subordinates are empowered to appoint, but the Council may express its views 
and fully and freely discuss with the Manager anything pertaining to 
appointment and removal of such officers and employees. 

SE CTI 0 N 5. Council to deal with personnel through manager generally. 
Except for the purpose of inquiries and investigation, the Council or its members 
shall deal with City officers and employees who are subject to the direction and 
supervision of the Manager solely through the Manager, and neither the Council 
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nor its members shall give orders to any such officer or employee, either publicly 
or privately. 

ARTICLE VI 

CITY ATTORNEY 

SECTION 
1. Qualifications. 
2. Appointment, duties, and compensation. 

SECTION 1. Qualifications. The City Attorney shall be an attorney at 
law entitled to practice in the courts of the State of Tennessee. 

SE CTI 0 N 2. Appointment, duties, and compensation. The City Attorney 
shall be appointed by the City Council and shall direct the management of all 
litigation in which the City is a party, including the function of prosecuting 
attorney in the City court; represent the City in all legal matters and pro­
ceedings in which the City is a party or interested, or in which any of its officers 
is officially interested; attend all meetings of the Council; advise the Council, 
and committees or members thereof, the City Manager, and the heads of all 
departments and divisions as to all legal questions affecting the city's interests; 
and approve as to form all contracts, deeds, bonds, ordinances, resolutions and 
other documents to be signed in the name of or made by or with the City. His 
compensation shall be as fixed by the Council and he shall serve at the will of 
City Council. 

ARTICLE VII 

RECORDER 
SECTION 
1. Appointment, compensation, and specific requirements, powers, and 

duties of office. 
2. Shall keep minutes. 
3. Shall be custodian of public records, bonds, etc. 
4. Shall provide and certify copies of records, papers, etc. 
5. Shall generally supervise and keep records of fiscal affairs. 
6. Shall be treasurer. 
7. Shall perform any other duties imposed. 
8. Appointment of recorder pro tempore. 

SECTION 1. Appointment, compensation, and specific requirements. 
powers, and duties of office. The Recorder shall be appointed by the City 
Manager subject to confirmation by City Council, and shall be the head of the 
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department of finance. He shall receive a salary to be fixed by the Council; give 
such bond to the City for not less than ten thousand dollars, as may be provided 
by ordinance. He shall have a seat and a voice, but no vote, in the Council. 
When required he shall by his signature and the City seal, attest instruments 
signed in the name of the City and official acts of the Mayor. He shall have 
power to administer oaths. 

SECTION 2. Shall keep minutes. It shall be the duty of the Recorder to 
be present at all meetings of the Council and to keep a full and accurate record 
of all business transacted by the same, to be preserved in permanent book form. 

SECTION 3. Shall be custodian of public records, bonds, etc. The 
Recorder shall have custody of and preserve in his office, the City seal, the 
public records, ordinance books, minutes of the Council, contracts, bonds, title 
deeds, certificates and papers, all official indemnity or security bonds (except his 
own bond, which shall be in the custody of the Mayor), and all other bonds, 
oaths and affirmations, and all other records, papers and documents not 
required by this Charter or by ordinance to be deposited elsewhere, and register 
them by numbers, dates and contents, and keep an accurate and modern index 
thereof. 

SECTION 4. Shall provide and certify copies of records, papers, etc. The 
Recorder shall provide, and,when required by any officer or person, certify 
copies ofrecords, papers and documents in his office and charge therefor, for the 
use of the City, such fees as may be provided by ordinance; cause copies of 
ordinances to be printed, as may be directed by the Council, and kept in his 
office for distribution. 

SECTION 5. Shall generally supervise and keep records of fiscal affairs. 
The Recorder as the head of the department of finance, shall exercise a general 
supervision over the fiscal affairs of the City, and general accounting 
supervision over all the City's property, assets and claims. He shall be the 
general accountant and auditor of the City; shall have custody of all papers, 
records and vouchers relating to the fiscal affairs of the City, and the records in 
his office shall show the financial operations and condition, property, assets, 
claims and liability of the City, all expenditures authorized and all contracts in 
which the City is interested. 

SECTION 6. Shall be treasurer. The Recorder shall be the Treasurer of 
the City; as such it shall be his duty to collect, receive and receipt for the taxes 
and all other revenues and bonds of the City, and the proceeds of its bond issues, 
and to disburse the same. 
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SECTION 7. Shall perform any other duties imposed. The Recorder shall 
also perform any other duties imposed upon him by this Charter or by 
ordinance. 

SECTION 8. Appointment of recorder pro tempore. In event of the 
temporary absence or disability of the Recorder, the City Manager may by an 
instrument in writing appoint a Recorder pro tempore subject to confirmation 
of City Council who shall have and exercise all the powers of the regular 
Recorder. 

ARTICLE VIII 

ADMINISTRATION 

SECTION 
1. Departments, offices, and agencies generally. 
2. Direction and supervision of departments, offices, and agencies. 
3. Personnel rules. 
4. Officers, employees, etc., who handle money shall be bonded. 
5. Oath of office required. 

SECTION 1. Departments, offices, and agencies generally. The Council 
may establish City departments, offices or agencies in addition to those created 
by this Charter, and may prescribe the functions of all departments, offices and 
agencies not inconsistent with this Charter. Departments, offices and agencies 
created by the Council may be abolished or combined. 

SECTION 2. Direction and supervision of departments, offices, or 
agencies. All Departments, Offices and Agencies under the direction and 
supervision of the Manager shall be administered by an officer appointed by and 
subject to the direction and supervision of the Manager. The Manager may 
serve as the head of one or more such departments, offices or agencies or may 
appoint one person as the head of two or more of them. 

SECTION 3. Personnel rules. The Council shall adopt personnel rules 
which shall include but not be limited to: 

(1) 
(2) 

A job classification plan; 
A pay plan; 

(3) The hours of work, attendance regulations and provisions for sick 
and vacation leave. 

SECTION 4. Officers. employees, etc., who handle money shall be 
bonded. The City Manager and every officer, agent and employee having duties 
embracing the receipt, disbursement, custody, or handling of money shall, before 
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entering upon his duties, execute a surety bond with some surety company 
authorized to do business in the State of Tennessee, as surety, in such amount 
as shall be prescribed by ordinance or this Charter. All such bonds and sureties 
shall be subject to the approval of the Council, and the Council may provide for 
blanket bonds. The cost of all bonds shall be an expense of the City. 

SECTION 5. Oath of office required. The Manager and every appointive 
officer shall before taking office take and subscribe to the same oath of office 
required of the Mayor and Councilmen. 

ARTICLE IX 

FINANCE 

SECTION 
1. Fiscal year. 
2. Annual departmental budgets required. 
3. Manager required to prepare and submit annual budget and explanatory 

message. 
4. Required content and organization of budget. 
5. Amendments to budget, when budget must be adopted, and effect of 

adoption. 
6. Supplemental appropriations. 
7. Emergency appropriations. 
8. Deficits. 
9. Transfer of unencumbered appropriations. 
10. Lapsing of appropriations. 
11. Incurrence and discharge of obligations. 
12. Borrowing. 
13. Accounting records and audits. 
14. Competitive bidding and purchasing procedures. 

SECTION 1. Fiscal year. The fiscal year of the City shall begin on the 
first day of July and end on the last day of June. 

SECTION 2. Annual departmental budgets required. The adoption of an 
annual budget for all departments except the board of utilities shall be a 
prerequisite to the appropriation of money for municipal purposes and the levy 
of property taxes. 

SECTION 3. Manager required to prepare and submit annual budget and 
explanatory message. At least 60 days before the beginning of the fiscal year the 
Manager shall prepare and submit to the Council a budget for the ensuing fiscal 
year and an accompanying message. The Manager's message shall explain the 
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budget both in fiscal terms and in term of work programs. It shall outline the 
proposed financial policies of the City for the ensuing fiscal year, describe the 
important features of the budget, indicate any major changes from the current 
year in financial policies, expenditures, and revenues together with the reasons 
for such changes, summarize the City's debt position and include such other 
material as the Manager deems desirable. 

SECTION 4. Required content and organization of budget. The budget 
shall provide a complete financial plan of all City funds and activities for the 
ensuing fiscal year, excepting funds of the board of utilities, and, except as 
required by law or this Charter, shall be in such form as the Manager deems 
desirable or the Council may require. 

SECTION 5. Amendments to budget, when budget must be adopted. and 
effect of adoption. After the first reading the Council may adopt the budget with 
or without amendment, but no amendment shall decrease expenditures required 
by law for debt service. The budget shall be adopted for the ensuing fiscal year 
before the end of the current fiscal year. Adoption of the budget shall constitute 
appropriations of the amounts specified therein as expenditures from the funds 
indicated and shall constitute a levy of the property tax therein proposed. 

SECTION 6. Supplemental appropriations. If during the fiscal year the 
Manager certifies that there are available for appropriation revenues in excess 
of those estimated in the budget, the Council by ordinance may make 
supplemental appropriations for the year up to the amount of such excess. 

SECTION 7. Emergency appropriations. Upon a declaration by the 
Council that there exists a public emergency affecting life, health, property or 
the public peace, the Council may make emergency appropriations by ordinance. 
To the extent that there are no available unappropriated revenues to meet such 
appropriations Council is authorized to borrow funds sufficient to meet said 
emergency by issuing negotiable notes. Provision shall be made in the budget 
for the succeeding fiscal year for the payment of such notes. 

SECTION 8. Deficits. If at any time during the fiscal year it appears 
probable to the Manager that the revenues available will be insufficient to meet 
the amount appropriated, he shall report to the Council without delay, 
indicating the estimated amount of the deficit, any remedial action taken by him 
and his recommendations as to any other steps to be taken. The Council shall 
then take such further action as it deems necessary to prevent or minimize any 
deficit and for that purpose it may by ordinance reduce appropriations. 

SECTION 9. Transfer of unencumbered appropriations. At any time 
during the fiscal year the Manager may transfer part or all of any 
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unencumbered appropriation balance among programs within a department, 
office or agency and, upon written request by the Manager, the Council may by 
resolution transfer part or all of any unencumbered appropriation balance from 
one Department, Office, or Agency to another. 

SECTION 10. Lapsing of appropriations. Every appropriation shall lapse 
at the end of the fiscal year to the extent that it has not been expended or 
encumbered. 

SECTION 11. Incurrence and discharge of obligations. No payment shall 
be made or obligation incurred against any appropriation unless the Manager 
or an officer designated by him first certifies that an appropriation has been 
made for that purpose and that there is unexpended and unencumbered in the 
appropriation for that purpose an amount sufficient to meet the obligation or to 
make the expenditure. However, except where prohibited by law, nothing 
herein shall be construed to prevent the making or authorizing of payments or 
making of contracts for capital improvements to be financed wholly or partly by 
the issuance of bonds or to prevent the making of any contract or lease providing 
for payments beyond the end of the fiscal year. 

SECTION 12. Borrowing. The Council, for the sole purpose of meeting 
the necessary expenses within appropriations, is authorized to borrow money in 
the amount not to exceed 50 per cent of the anticipated revenues for the current 
fiscal year. Such notes shall mature during the current fiscal year and shall be 
paid from budgeted revenues. 

SECTION 13. Accounting records and audits. There shall be installed 
and maintained adequate accounting records in accordance with generally 
accepted principles of municipal accounting. The same account titles shall be 
used throughout the accounting records, the budget and financial statements. 
Constant and comprehensive budgetary control shall be maintained. An audit 
of the financial affairs of the City shall be required by action of City Council and 
same be made after the end of each fiscal year by a public accountant skilled in 
such work. Any taxpayer may file a bill in chancery court to compel the Council 
to have the audit made if such accountant has not been employed within one 
month after the end of the fiscal year. 

SECTION 14. Competitive bidding and purchasing procedures. The 
Manager shall be responsible for all city purchasing, but he may delegate his 
duty to any subordinate appointed by him. Competitive prices for all purchases 
and public improvements shall be obtained whenever practicable and in 
accordance with regulations established by ordinance, and the purchases made 
from or the contract awarded to the lowest bidder, provided that the city shall 
have the power to reject any and all bids. 
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Formal sealed bids shall be obtained in all transactions involving the 
expenditure exceeding the amount set by the Mayor and Council by ordinance 
adopted pursuant to the requirements established in Tennessee Code 
Annotated, Section 6-56-302, and the transaction shall be submitted to and 
approved by the council; provided, that in cases where the council indicates by 
formal unanimous resolution of those present at the meeting, based upon the 
written recommendation of the Manager, that it is clearly to the advantage of 
the city not to contract with competitive bidding, it may authorize 
noncompetitive contracts. Purchasing and contract procedures not prescribed 
by this charter or other law may be established by ordinance. (As amended by 
Pvt. Acts 2008, ch. 86, § 3] 

ARTICLEX 

TAXATION 

SECTION 
1. Assessment and levy. 
2. Due and delinquent dates; penalties and interest. 
3. Collection of delinquent taxes. 
4. Publication of notice to taxpayers. 
5. Institution of suits to enforce tax liens. 
6. Statutory lien. 

SECTION 1. Assessment and levy. All property within the City not 
exempt by general law shall be assessed for taxation upon the same principles 
established in regard to state and county taxation. Assessments made by the 
county tax assessor may be adopted by the City. 

SE CTI ON 2. Due and delinquent dates; penalties and interest. Property 
taxes shall be payable on and after October 1 in the year for which assessed and 
shall become delinquent on March 1 following. The Council by ordinance shall 
fix penalties and interest on delinquent taxes. 

SECTION 3. Collection of delinquent taxes. All taxes delinquent for 30 
days may be collected by distress warrants and sale of personal property, and 
the delinquent tax list in the hands of the collector shall have the force and 
effect of a judgment and execution from a court of record. 

SECTION 4. Publication of notice to taxpayers. In February of each year 
there shall be published once a week for two consecutive weeks a notice to 
taxpayers informing them the date after which penalties and interest on 
property taxes will be due. 
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SECTION 5. Institution of suits to enforce tax liens. Before March 1 of 
the second year following the year for which assessed, the Recorder shall certify 
to the City Attorney the list of all real estate upon which municipal taxes 
remain due and unpaid, or which is liable for sale for other taxes and 
assessments, and said Attorney shall proceed at once to file suits in the 
Chancery Court for the collection of said taxes, assessments, penalties and 
interest and enforcement of tax liens. Upon the filing of suit an additional 
penalty of ten per cent shall accrue upon all delinquent taxes as attorneis fees. 
Suits may be filed, prosecuted and the land sold in the same manner as for the 
enforcement of tax liens for delinquent county taxes, or as otherwise provided 
by general law. 

SECTION 6. Statutory lien. All municipal taxes on real estate in the 
City of Loudon, and all penalties and cost accruing thereon are hereby declared 
to be a lien on said real estate from and after February 28 after the year for 
which the same are assessed. 

ARTICLE XI 

CITY COURT 

SECTION 
1. Appointment, oath, compensation, and restrictions on office of city judge. 
2. Absence or disability of city judge. 
3. Term of office of city judge may be provided by ordinance. 
4. Duties and powers of city judge. 
5. Imposition of bail, fines, costs, and sentences. 
6. Maintenance of docket and other court rules. 
7. Rehearings. 
8. City judge to be exclusive judge of law and facts. 

SECTION 1. Appointment, oath, compensation, and restrictions on office 
of city judge. A City Judge who shall constitute the City Court shall be 
appointed by the Council to serve at the will of the Council or for a term to be 
fixed by ordinance. He shall take the same oath required of the Mayor and 
Councilmen. He shall receive such compensation as may be provided by 
ordinance. Nothing herein is to be construed as prohibiting the City Judge from 
also serving in administrative duties under this Charter. 

SECTION 2. Absence or disability of citv judge. The Council shall 
designate a qualified person to serve in the absence or disability of the City 
Judge. 
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SECTION 3. Term of office of city judge mav be provided by ordinance. 
In the event a term of office is provided by ordinance, there shall also be 
provided the conditions which will create a vacancy in the office, how the 
vacancy shall be filled, and such other matters as the Council deems necessary. 

SECTION 4. Duties and powers of city judge. The City Judge shall try 
all persons charged with violation of the ordinances of the City. He shall have 
the power to levy fines, penalties and forfeitures not exceeding $50 for each 
offense and to impose such costs as the Council may by ordinance provide, to 
issue all necessary process, to administer oaths, and to punish for contempt by 
fine not exceeding $10. 

SECTION 5. Imposition of bail. fines, costs, and sentences. The bail of 
persons arrested and awaiting trial and persons appealing the decision of the 
City Judge shall be fixed by the City Judge and upon such security as in his 
discretion he deems necessary or as otherwise provided by ordinance. Cash bail 
of persons arrested may be accepted at such times and by officials other than the 
City Judge as provided by ordinance, but no officer shall accept cash bail unless 
the person arrested shall be given a receipt which shall explain the nature of the 
deposit. The receipt shall be in duplicate and a copy with the money deposited 
shall be filed with the City Judge. Fines and costs may be paid by installments 
to be fixed and security determined as provided by ordinance. Upon failure to 
pay fines or to furnish security, the City Judge shall commit the offender to the 
jail or workhouse until such fines have been paid. For each day's confinement 
there shall be credited $5.00 toward the fine. 

SECTION 6. Maintenance of docket and other court rules. The City 
Judge shall keep a docket. The Council may by ordinance require such other 
records, fix the time for holding court, and provide such other rules and 
regulations for the proper functioning of the court as deemed necessary. 

SE CTI 0 N 7. Rehearings. Whenever any person convicted of the violation 
of an ordinance of the City shall show to the satisfaction of the City Judge that 
new evidence of his innocence not available to him at the trial which evidence, 
if true, could result in acquittal, the City Judge may grant a rehearing if 
petitioned within nine days of the trial. 

SECTION 8. City judge to be exclusive judge of law and facts. The City 
Judge shall be the exclusive judge of the law and facts in every case before him, 
and no official or employee of the City shall attempt to influence his decision 
except through pertinent facts presented in court. 
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ARTICLE XII 

CIVIL SERVICE SYSTEM 

SECTION 
1. Composition, appointment, compensation and qualification of board 

members. 
2. Officers of the board. 
3. Employees covered by the civil service system. 
4. Hiring not to be a matter before the board. 
5. Duties and decisions of the board. 
6. Investigations, hearings and appeals of the board. 
7. Enforcement. 
8. Oath required. 
9. Violations punishable. 

SECTION 1. Composition, appointment, compensation and qualifications 
of board members. There is hereby created a civil service system for the City of 
Loudon, Tennessee. A civil service board, hereinafter referred to as "the board" 
to consist of three members is hereby created to administer the said civil service 
system. One member of the Board shall be elected by the governing body of the 
City of Loudon; one member shall be elected by the members or employees of the 
City of Loudon covered by the civil service system. These two members shall 
then elect a third person within ten days after their appointment and 
qualification, and the person agreed upon by the two members so appointed 
shall be and constitute the third member of the board. Provided, that ifthe two 
members appointed and selected shall fail to agree within ten days after their 
appointment then in that event the governing body of the City of Loudon shall 
appoint three citizens to meet and confer with three other citizens appointed by 
the employees of the City of Loudon and this joint committee of six shall meet, 
within ten days, and appoint a person not a member of the governing body of the 
City of Loudon, nor an employee of the City of Loudon, who shall constitute the 
third member of the board. 

These three members thus appointed to the board shall serve as the 
Commission until July 31, 1964, or until their successors are appointed and 
qualified. Thereafter and by the same process three members shall be elected 
to said Board, who may be re-appointed members or new members and the 
member selected by the governing body of the City of Loudon, Tennessee, shall 
serve for six years, commencing on August 1, 1964, and the member selected by 
the employees of the City of Loudon shall serve for a period of four years, 
commencing with August 1, 1964, and the member selected by the two 
representatives from the governing body of the City of Loudon and from the 
employees, or from the joint committee provided in the above paragraph shall 
serve for a period of two years from August 1, 1964, and thereafter prior to 
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August 1st of each even year the member of the board whose term expires shall 
be replaced or reappointed for a six year term by an appointment in the same 
manner provided for his original appointment. 

The members of this board shall receive for their services the sum of 
$100.00 per year, to be paid out of the General Fund of the City of Loudon. 

No person shall be appointed to the board who is not a citizen of the 
United States and a resident of the City of Loudon for at least one year 
preceding such appointment. No employee or Councilman of the City of Loudon, 
nor any elected official of the State of Tennessee, or the County of Loudon nor 
any other public office holder shall be a member of said board. 

Any member of the board may be removed from the office for 
incompetency, dereliction of duty, malfeasance in office or upon conviction of any 
crime involving moral turpitude. However, no member of the board shall be 
removed until charges shall have been preferred in writing, due notice thereof 
given to him and a full public hearing is given before the governing body of the 
City of Loudon. Any member so removed may, within ten days, appeal to the 
Chancery Court for Loudon County, Tennessee, which court shall thereupon 
proceed to hear such appeal. Such hearing shall be confined to the 
determination of whether the order of removal made by the governing body of 
the City of Loudon was or was not made in good faith for proper cause, and no 
appeal to such court shall be taken except upon such grounds and the decision 
of such court shall be final. 

Two members of this board shall be sufficient for the decision of all 
matters and the transaction of all business to be decided or transacted by the 
board. Provided that due notice of all meetings shall be given to all three board 
members at least forty-eight hours in advance by written notice of either the 
Chairman or Secretary of said Board. 

SECTION 2. Officers of the board. The board members shall elect one 
of three as the chairman who shall preside over all meetings, one as 
vice-chairman to serve in the absence of the chairman, and the third as 
secretary. It shall be the duty of the secretary to keep complete and accurate 
records of all proceedings held by the board in a minute book to be provided for 
that purpose. Said secretary shall likewise keep a complete and accurate record 
of employment lists provided for by the Loudon Utilities and the City of Loudon. 
It shall be the duty of the officials of the City of Loudon to make adequate finan­
cial provision for the performance of the duties of this board in carrying out this 
Article, including stenographic service to the secretary, but only for official 
business of the board. 

SECTION 3. Emplovees covered by the civil service system. All persons 
except the city manager and the manager of Loudon Utilities holding positions 
on a paid full-time basis in the service of the City of Loudon or Loudon Utilities 
are inducted into the civil service of the City of Loudon; provided, however, any 
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employee appointed to a position with the City of Loudon or Loudon Utilities 
whether by original appointment or promotion shall be subject to a probationary 
period as determined by the personnel rules and regulations of the respective 
governing body of the City of Loudon or Loudon Utilities. [As replaced by Pvt. 
Acts 1991, ch. 28, and further replaced by Pvt. Acts 1993, ch. 4] 

SECTION 4. Hiring not to be a matter before the board. All hiring and 
employing of various employees in the several departments of the City of Loudon 
and Loudon Utilities shall be governed by this Charter and such rules and 
regulations adopted by the respective governing bodies not inconsistent with 
this Charter, and such hiring shall not be a matter before this board. 

SECTION 5. Duties and decisions of the board. It shall be the duty of the 
board to: 

(a) 

(b) 

Investigate complaints and grievances of employees relative to 
suspensions, demotions, or discharges. 
Insure that all hearings and investigations before the board 
relative to suspensions, demotions or discharges shall be governed 
by the rules of practice and procedure adopted by the board, and 
subject to the provisions of this Charter and the City's personnel 
policy. The board shall not be bound by rules oflegal evidence. No 
informality in any procedure or hearing shall invalidate any order, 
decision, rule or regulation made or approved by the board; 
provided, however, that no decision shall be binding unless 
concurred in by at least two of the board members. 

SECTION 6. Investigations, hearings and appeals of the board. No 
person covered by this Article who shall have been permanently appointed to a 
full pay position and not under any probationary period shall be demoted, 
suspended or discharged except for cause. Any person so suspended, demoted 
or discharged may within twenty days from the time of his demotions 
suspension or discharge file with the board a written demand for an 
investigation, whereupon the board shall conduct such investigation. The 
investigation shall be confined to the determination of whether such demotion 
suspension or discharge was or was not made in good faith for cause. After the 
investigation the board may affirm the removal, demotion, or suspension or if 
it shall find that the action was not in good faith for cause it may order the 
immediate reinstatement or reemployment of such person in the office, place or 
position from which such person was demoted, discharged or suspended, which 
provisions may be retroactive, if the board so provides, entitling such person to 
pay or compensation at his regular rate prior to his demotion, suspension or 
discharge, from the time of such demotion, suspension, or discharge. 

The board in its discretion in lieu of affirming or reversing the demotion, 
suspension, or discharge, may modify the order by directing a suspension 
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without pay for a given period and subsequent restoration of duty, grade or pay; 
and the finding of the board shall be certified in writing to the City Manager and 
shall be forthwith enforced by him. 

All investigations made by the board and hearings pursuant to the 
provisions of this Article shall be made by public hearing, after reasonable notice 
to the accused of the time and place of such hearing, at which hearing the 
accused shall be afforded ail opportunity of appearing in person or by counsel 
and presenting his defense. At such hearing the substance of the testimony of 
all witnesses shall be preserved in writing and a record or account shall be kept 
of all proceedings. From any order adverse to the accused, the latter may appeal 
to the Chancery Court of Loudon County, Tennessee. Such appeal shall be 
taken by serving the board, within ten days after entry of such order, a written 
notice of appeal, stating the ground or grounds thereof, and demanding a 
certified transcript of the records of the hearing and all papers pertinent to said 
employee in said hearing, and on file with the officers or superiors under whom 
he worked, affecting or relating to such employment. The board within twenty 
days after such appeal shall file such records with the Court. The Chancery 
Court shall thereon proceed to hear and determine such appeal, provided, that 
such hearing shall be confined to the determination of whether the order of 
demotion, discharge or suspension approved by the board was or were made or 
not made in good faith and for cause, and no appeal to such Chancery Court 
shall be taken except upon such ground or grounds as set forth in said notice 
and the decision of said Chancery Court shall be final. 

Provided further, that a Court Reporter shall not be required in the 
proceeding before the board, that the substance of the testimony of any witness 
before the board will be kept by the secretary of said board for records of said 
hearing, or by a stenographer employed for that purpose. 

Provided further, that the board may retain counsel to represent the 
board and advise them at any and all hearings before the board but in no case 
shall such counsel be the City Attorney of the City of Loudon. 

SECTION 7. Enforcement. It shall be the duty of the board to begin and 
conduct all civil suits which may be necessary for the proper enforcement of this 
Article, and to defend all civil suits which may be brought against the board or 
appeals from its determination. The board shall be authorized to retain counsel 
for the purpose of prosecuting or defending such suits and the expenses thereof 
shall be borne by the City of Loudon. In no case shall the City Attorney of the 
City of Loudon represent the board. 

SECTION 8. Oath required. No person shall be discharged, suspended, 
or demoted from any position held by such employee, due to his political or 
religious opinions, but all employees covered hereby must take an oath to 
support the Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution 
of the State of Tennessee. 
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SECTION 9. Violations punishable. Failure on the part of the board, or 
any member thereof, or on the part of the City Manager or his employees or the 
governing body of the City of Loudon, or any member thereof, to comply with the 
terms of this Article shall be considered a violation of this Article and shall be 
punishable as such. 

ARTICLE XIII 

MISCELLANEOUS AND TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 

SECTION 
1. Corporate existence, existing ordinances and resolutions. 
2. Expiration of terms of elected officers. 
3. Legal effect of this act. 

SECTION 1. Corporate existence, existing ordinances and resolutions. 
The corporate existence of the City of Loudon is continued. All existing 
ordinances, resolutions or other actions of the Board of Commissioners not 
inconsistent with this Charter shall remain in full force and effect until 
amended or repealed in the manner herein provided. 

SECTION 2. Expiration of terms of elected officers. The Board of 
Commissioners in office when this Act is ratified shall continue in office as the 
Mayor and Councilmen until their successors are elected and qualified. 

SECTION 3. Legal effect of this act. This Act is declared to be a Public 
Act, and may be read in evidence in all courts oflaw and equity. All ordinances 
and resolutions and proceedings of the City Council created by this Charter may 
be proven by the seal of said Corporation, attested by the Recorder, and, when 
printed and published by the authority of said corporation and certified by the 
Recorder, shall be received in evidence in all courts and places without further 
proof. 

SECTION 2. 1 BE IT FURTHER ENACTED, That all Acts and parts of 
Acts in conflict with this Act be and the same are hereby repealed from and after 
the effective date of this Act as hereinafter provided. 

SECTION 3. BE IT FURTHER ENACTED, That if any Section or part 
of a Section of this Act shall be finally adjudged by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, the same shall not be held to 
invalidate or impair the validity, force or effect of any other Section or part of 

1Everything up to here is a part of section 1 which begins on page 1. 
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a Section of this Act, unless it clearly appears that such other Section or part of 
a Section is wholly or necessarily dependent for its operation upon the Section 
or part of a Section so held unconstitutional or invalid. 

SECTION 4. BE IT FURTHER ENACTED, That this Act shall become 
operative in accordance with its provisions upon approval by a two-thirds vote 
of the Board of Commissioners of the City of Loudon, Tennessee.1 

SECTION5. BEITFURTHERENACTED, ThatthisActshalltake effect 
upon its passage, the public welfare requiring it. 

PASSED: April 16, 1975 

s/N ed R. Mc Wherter 
SPEAKER OF THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

s/John S. Wilder 
SPEAKER OF THE SENATE 

APPROVED this 24th day of April 1975 

s/Ray Blanton 
GOVERNOR 

1Approved by ordinance No. 555 passed on final reading May 12, 1975. 
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1927 

1927 

1927 

1929 

1931 

1935 

1935 

1937 

1939 

1941 

1943 

1943 

1943 

1945 

1945 

1945 

C-29 

Private Acts Comprising the Charter of Loudon. Tennessee 

Chapter 

229 

689 

781 

642 

765 

61 

507 

325 

280 

109 

194 

196 

252 

1 

371 

372 

Subject 

Basic charter act. 

Amended subsection 8 of section 7 of the 
charter. 

Authorized annual tax for street purposes. 

Authorized $85,000.00 bond issue for water, 
sewers and fire hydrants and provided for 
operation of systems. 

Amended section 4 of the charter. 

Authorized $15,000.00 bond issue for 
outstanding debts. 

Authorized $15,000.00 bond issue for sewers. 

Amended sections 25 and 26 of the charter. 

Validated $25,000.00 bond issue for sewers 
and streets. 

Authorized $30,000.00 bond issue for streets. 

Amended sections 25 and 26 of the charter. 

Amended section 12 of the charter. 

Authorized $60,000.00 bond issue for 
outstanding debt. 

Amended section 2 of the charter. 

Amended section 12 of the charter. 

Validated $40,000.00 funding bond issue. 



Year Chapter 

1947 473 

1961 131 

1961 337 

1963 128 

1967 321 

1970 202 

1970 277 

1972 299 

1975 74 

1976 234 

1987 89 

1988 184 

1991 26 

1991 28 

1993 4 

2008 86 

C-30 

Subject 

Amended chapter 371, private acts of 1945. 

Amended sections 9, 18, and 28 of the charter. 

This act is same as chapter 131, private acts of 
1961. 

Civil service act. 

Amended sections 3 and 4 of the charter. 

Provided for use of payments in lieu of taxes 
from electric system. 

Amended chapter 202, private acts of 1970. 

Amended section 16 of the charter. 

Complete revision of charter. 

Amended article II, section 1 (6), of the 
charter. 

Amended article IV, section 2 of the charter. 

Amended article III of the charter. 

Amended article II, section 1 of the charter to 
add subsections 35 and 36. 

Amended article XII, section 3 of the charter. 

Replaced article XII, section 3 of the charter. 

Replaced article III, section 1, amended article 
III, section 3, and amended article IX, section 
14 of the charter. 



9 



LexisNexis{f) 
I of l 2 DOCUMENTS 

TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED 

© 201 l by The State of Tennessee 

All rights reserved 

***CURRENT THROUGH THE 20 IO REGULAR SESSION*** 

Page I 

*** ANNOTA TfONS CURRENT THROUGH MARCH 31, 201 l FOR THE TENNESSEE SUPREME COURT*** 

Title l 2 Public Property, Printing And Contracts 

Chapter 9 [nterlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHIVE DIRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-101 (2011) 

12-9-10 l. Short title. 

This chapter may be cited as the "[nterlocal Cooperation Act." 

HISTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, § 2; T.C.A., § 12-801. 

NOTES: Cross-References. 

Agreements with other states concerning medical laboratories,§§ 68-29-102, 68-29-133. 

Cooperation between departments of state government,§ 4-4-112. 

Garbage services, cooperation with county, title 5, ch. 19. 

Housing of convicted felons by counties,§ 41-8-106. 

lnterlocal cooperation, ambulance services,§ 7-61-104. 

lnterlocal cooperation, counties with contiguous counties,§ 5-1-114. 

[nterlocal cooperation, counties with municipalities,§ 5-1-11 3. 

lnterlocal cooperation, fire fighting, municipalities, title 6, ch. 54, part 6. 

lnterlocal cooperation. home mortgages, f 7-60-217. 

lnterlocal cooperation. joint building inspectors, municipalities not exceeding 25,000 population,§ 6-54-116. 

[nterlocal cooperation on transportation systems, title 7, chapter 56 .. 

Jomt educational facilities and services, title 49, ch. 2. part 13. 
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Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-101 

Joint municipal and county park and recreation systems,§ I 1-2 /-/ 12. 

Municipal police powers, mutual aid agreements,§ 6-54-307. 

Section to Section References. 

This chapter is referred to in§§ 5-16-103, 5-17-101, 6-56-302, 7-39-312, 7-39-319, 7-56-105, 7-86-105, l l-14-308, 

1/-21-/12, 29-20-107, 29-20-207, 29-20-401, 41-12-121, 50-6-701, 50-6-702, 50-6-705, 58-8-103, 64-7-/01, 

65-36-104, 65-36-107, 68-29-102, 68-29-133. 

This part is referred to in§§ 9-21-105, 42-3-/04, 58-8-112. 

Law Reviews. 

Selected Tennessee Legislation of 1986, 54 Tenn. L. Rev. 457 (1987). 

Attorney General Opinions. 

fnterlocal agreements under T.CA. §§ 12-9-101 et seq., OAG 06-08 l (511/06). 

Comparative Legislation. 

[nterlocal cooperation: 

Ark. Code§ 25-20-101 et seq. 

Ga. 0.C.G.A. § 36-69A-I et seq. 

Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 65. 2 I 0 et seq. 

Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1 J-1 et seq. 

N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 160A-460 et seq. 

NOTES TO OECfSIONS 
I. Legislative fntent. 

I. Legislative Intent. 

This chapter provides no substantive rights or obligations but is simply a procedural statute which enables political 

subdivisions to combine efforts to achieve common goals. The legislature's failure to include an exculpatory clause does 

not imply that the legislative branch 111tended to impose liability on political subdivisions which join together under this 

chapter. Foster Wheeler Energv Corp. v. 1\!fetropolitan Knox Solid Waste Authoritv. fnc.. 970 F2d 199. 1992 US App 

LEXIS 16712 (6rh Cir. Tenn. 1992). rehearing denied, 970 F.2d 199, 1992 US App. LEX!S 20940 (6th Cir. !992) 

Collateral References. 

Counties 20 et seq. 

Municipal Corporations 52 et seq. 
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Title 12 Public Property, Printing And Contracts 

Chapter 9 lnterlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHIVE DIRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-102 (2011) 

12-9-102. Purpose. 

It is the purpose of this chapter to pennit local governmental units the most efficient use of their powers by enabling 

them to cooperate with other localities on a basis of mutual advantage and thereby provide services and facilities in a 

manner and pursuant to forn1s of governmental organization that will accord best with geographic, economic, 

population, and other factors influencing the needs and development of local communities. 

HrSTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, ~ I; I.CA,~ 12-802. 
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Title 12 Public Property, Printing And Contracts 
Chapter 9 Interlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHIVE DIRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-103 (2011) 

12-9-103. Definitions. 

As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(l) "Local government entity" means any city, town, municipality, county, including any county having a 
metropolitan form of government, local education agency, development district, utility district, human resource agency 
or other political subdivision of this state; 

(2) "Local government joint venture entity" means any entity created pursuant to this chapter, including, but not 
limited to, a self-insurance pool, trust, joint venture, nonprofit organization, or any other type of organization that is 
sponsored, owned, operated, or governed by two (2) or more local government entities as a separate and speci tic 
activity; 

(J) "Public agency" means: 

(A) Any political subdivision of this state; 

(B) Any private incorporated fire department and industrial fire department not supported by public funds or 
which are only partially supported by public funds; 

(C) Any incorporated rescue squad that is not supported by public funds or that is only partially supported by 
public funds; 

(0) Any agency of the state government or of the United States: and 

(E) Any political subdivision of another state; and 

(4) "State" means a state of the United States 

HrSTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350. ~ 3: T.C A.,~ 12-803: Acts 1983, ch. 45, § 2; 1995, ch. 17, § I; 2006, ch. 923. ~ I. 
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NOTES: Section to Section References. 

This section is referred to in§ 7-39-312. 
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Chapter 9 Interlocal Cooperation 
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Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-9-!04 (20 l l) 

12-9-104. [nterlocal agreements. 

(a) (I) Any power or powers, privileges or authority exercised or capable of exercise by a public agency of this state, 

including those provided in § 6-54-307 or§ 68-2 21- I IOl(b), may be exercised and enjoyed 3ointly with any other 

public agency of this state having the power or powers, privilege or authority, and jointly with any public agency of any 

other state or the United States to the extent that laws of such other state or of the United States pennit such joint 

exercise or enjoyment. Any agency of the state government when acting jointly with any public agency may exercise 

and enjoy all of the powers, privileges and authority conferred by this chapter upon a public agency. The authority for 

joint or cooperative action of political subdivisions shall apply to powers, privileges or authority vested in, funded by, 

and/or under the control of their governing bodies and relative to which the governing bodies may make other types of 

contracts. No joint or cooperative agreement shall be entered into affecting or relating to the constitutional or statutory 

powers, privileges or authonty of officers of political subdivisions, or of agencies of political subdivisions with a 

separate governing board and having powers granted by statute independent of the governing body. Notwithstanding 

any provision of the law to the contrary, any municipality may enter into an agreement with the sheriff, court of general 

sessions, and the governing body of any county in which it is located to provide for the enforcement of the 

municipality's ordinances according to the provisions of§§ 8-8-20 I (34) and 16-15 -50 I. The agreement between the 

municipality and the county governing body shall be limited to provide that the cost of such enforcement wil I be borne 

by the municipality where the court costs paid over to the county, as provided by§ 16-15-50 I, are not adequate. 

(2) Agencies of political subdivisions that have governing boards separate from the governing bodies of the 

political subdivisions may make agreements for joint or cooperative action with other such agencies and with other 

public agencies. The power to make 3oint or cooperative agreements includes any power, privilege or authority 

exercised or that may be exercised by each of the agencies that is a party to the agreement. Agreements between 

agencies of political subdivisions that have separate governing boards and other such agencies and agreements between 

such agencies and public agencies shall substantially confom1 to the requirements of this chapter. The goveming bodies 

of such political subdivisions shall require agreements made by their agencies pursuant to this chapter to be submitted to 

the governing body for approval before the agreements take effect. 

(b) Any two (2) or more public agencies may enter into agreements with one another for _1oint or cooperative action 
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pursuant to the provisions of this chapter. Appropriate action of the governing bodies of the participating public 

agencies by resolution or otherwise pursuant to law shall be necessary before any such agreement may enter into force. 

(c) Any such agreement shall specify the following: 

(l) Its duration; 

(2) The precise organization, composition and nature of any separate legal or administrative entity or entities 

created thereby, which may include, but is not limited to, a corporation not for profit, together with the powers 

delegated to such a corporation; 

(3) Its purpose or purposes; 

( 4) The manner of financing the joint or cooperative undertaking and of establishing and maintaining a budget for 

such undertaking; 

(5) The permissible method or methods to be employed in accomplishing the partial or complete termination of 

the agreement and for disposing of property upon such partial or complete termination; and 

(6) Any other necessary and proper matters. 

(d) In the event that the agreement does not establish a separate legal entity or entities to conduct the joint or 

cooperative undertaking, the agreement shall, in addition to the requirements of subdivisions (c)( I )-(6), contain the 

following: 

(I) Provision for an administrator or a joint board responsible for administering the joint or cooperative 

undertaking. In the case of a joint board, public agencies party to the agreement shall be represented; and 

(2) The manner of acquiring, holding and disposing of real and personal property used in the joint or cooperative 

undertaking. 

(e) (I) No agreement made pursuant to this chapter shall relieve any pub! ic agency of any obi igation or 

responsibility imposed upon it by law, except that, to the extent of actual and timely performance thereof by a joint 

board or other legal or administrative entity or entities created by an agreement made hereunder, those perforn1ances 

may be offered in satisfaction of the obligation or responsibility. 

(2) (A) Notwithstanding the provisions of title 9, chapter 2 I, including§ 9-21-105 and§ 9-21-10 7 to the 

contrary, a separate legal or administrative entity, created by interlocal agreement between two (2) or more political 

subdivisions of the state acting pursuant to this chapter, is not empowered to: 

(i) Assess, levy, or collect ad valorem taxes; 

(ii) [ssue general obligation bonds; or 

(iii) Exercise the power of eminent domain. 

(R) However, to the extent that the participating political subdivisions possess such powers, the political 

subdivisions may exercise such powers on behalf and for the benefit of the separate legal or administrative entity. 

(f) Financing ofJ0111t projects by agreement shall be as provided by law. 

HISTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, § 4; 1973, ch. 88, § 3: 1973, ch. 355, § 3; T.C.A., § 12-804; Acts 1981, ch. 289, § 3. 

1982, ch. 930. § 2: 1984. ch. 890. §I: 1985. ch. 84. §§ 1-4; 1986, ch. 698, §I; 1990, ch. 921, § 2: 1991, ch. 91, §I: 
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1992, ch. 880, § 2; 1993, ch. 40 I, § I; 2004, ch. 849, § 2. 

NOTES: Cross-References. 

Mutual aid agreements,§ 6-54-307. 

Section to Section References. 

This section is referred to in§§ 6-54-118, 9-21-105, 7-39-312, 16-15-501, 29-20-401, 65-36-107. 

Law Reviews. 

Eminent Domain -- Moving Expense -- A Condemnor in Tennessee [s Required to Pay Moving Expense for 

Fixtures and Chattels Upon Condemnation, 2 Mem. St. U.l. Rev. 205. 

Attorney General Opinions. 

General sessions court judge acting as city court judge, OAG 98-0171 (8/28/98). 

County authority to provide crushed stone to entities outside county, OAG 99-058 (3/10/99). 
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Several utility districts may establish a not for profit corporation as part of an interlocal cooperative agreement for a 

joint exercise of their powers; whether a district is authorized to support the activities in which the corporation will 
engage depends on whether its support is necessary or requisite to its authority to own, operate, develop, and maintain a 

utility district, OAG 03-0 I 7 (2/19/03 ). 

Drug task forces are able to own real property in their own name as long as this is allowed by the particular 

interlocal agreement establishing the task force, OAG 05-038 (3/29/05). 

NOTES TO DECISIONS 
I. Legislative Intent. 2. Liability. 3. "Separate Legal Entity." 4. Director of Joint Undertaking. 

I. Legislative Intent 

This chapter provides no substantive rights or obligations but is simply a procedural statute which enables political 

subdivisions to combine efforts to achieve common goals. The legislature's failure to include an exculpatory clause does 

not imply that the legislative branch intended to impose liability on political subdivisions which JO in together under this 

chapter. Foster Wheeler Energy Corp. v. Metropolitan Knox Solid Waste Authority. lnc., 970 F.2d 199. 1992 U.S. App. 

LEXIS I 67 I 2 (6th Cir. Tenn. I 99 2). rehearing denied, 970 F.2d I 99. 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 20940 (6th Cir. 1992) 

2. Liability. 

This chapter prohibits counties or municipalities from shielding themselves from liability by interposing a 

cooperation agreement where there is a pre-existing legal obligation which arises from state law, imposing no new 

rights or obligations on counties or municipalities independent of other sources of state law. Foster Wheeler Energv 

Corp. v. /vfetropoliran Knox Solid Waste Authority. Inc .. 970 F.2d 199. 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 16712 (6th Cir. Tenn. 

1992). rehearing denied, 970 F.2d 199. 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 20940 (6th Cir. 1992) 

3. "Separate Legal Entity." 

Because the 19th judicial district drug task force was not a separate legal entity, but a .ioint undertaking of several 
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counties and cities, it was not a "person" amenable to suit under 42 USC§ 1983. Timberlake v. Benton. 786 F Supp. 
676, 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2549 (MD. Tenn. 1992). 

4. Director of Joint Undertaking. 

A suit nominally brought against an official as director of a joint undertaking is in fact a suit against the cities and 

counties comprising the joint undertaking if the official functions as a final policymaker for it. Timberlake v. Benton. 
786 F. Supp. 676. 1992 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2549 (MD. Tenn. 1992). 
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Chapter 9 lnterlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHCVE DIRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-105 (201 l) 

12-9-105. Status of agreements -- Parties to actions. 

Jn the event that an agreement entered into pursuant to this chapter is between or among one ( l) or more public 

agencies of this state and one (I) or more public agencies of another state or of the United States, the agreement shal I 

have the status of an interstate compact, but in any case or controversy involving performance or interpretation thereof 

or liability thereunder, the public agencies party thereto shall be real parties in interest and the state may maintain an 

action to recoup or otherwise make itself whole for any damages or liability which it may incur by reason of being 

_1oined as a party therein. Such action shall be maintainable against any public agency or agencies whose default, failure 

of perfomiance, or other conduct caused or contributed to the incurring of damage or liability by the state. 

HISTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, § 5; T.C.A., § 12-805: Acts 1984. ch. 890, § 2. 
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***ANNOTATIONS CURRENT THROUGH MARCH 31, 201 l FOR THE TENNESSEE SUPREME COURT*** 

Title 12 Public Property, Printing And Contracts 

Chapter 9 lnterlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHrVE DIRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-106 (2011) 

12-9-106. Approval or disapproval. 

fn the event that an agreement made pursuant to this chapter shall deal in whole or in part with the provision of 

services or facilities with regard to which an officer or agency of the state government has constitutional or statutory 

powers of control, the agreement shall, as a condition precedent to its entry into force, be submitted to the state officer 

or agency having such power of control and shall be approved or disapproved by such state officer or agency as to all 

matters within such officer's or agency's jurisdiction. 

HISTORY: Acts 1967. ch. 350, § 6; T.C.A., § 12-806; Acts 1984, ch. 890, § 3. 
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***ANNOTATIONS CURRENT THROUGH MARCH 31, 2011 FOR THE TENNESSEE SUPREME COURT*** 

Title 12 Public Property, Printing And Contracts 
Chapter 9 [nterlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHIVE OlRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-107 (2011) 

12-9-107. Appropriations -- Furnishing of property, personnel and service. 

Any public agency entering into an agreement pursuant to this chapter may appropriate funds and may sell, lease, give, 
or otherwise supply the administrative joint board or other legal or administrative entity created to operate the joint or 
cooperative undertaking by providing such personnel or services therefor as may be within its legal power to furnish. 

HISTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, § 7; T.C.A., § 12-807. 
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GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHlVE DlRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann§ 12-9-108 (201 l) 

12-9-108. r nterlocal contracts for performance of services. 

Any one (I) or more public agencies may contract with any one (I) or more public agencies to perfonn any 

governmental service, activity or undertaking which each public agency entering into the contract is authorized by law 

to perfonn; provided, that such contract shall be authorized by the governing body of each party to the contract. Such 

contract shall set forth fully the purposes, powers, rights, objectives, and responsibilities of the contracting parties. 

Contracts entered into pursuant to this section need not confom1 to the requirements set forth in this chapter for 

contracts for joint undertakings. 

HISTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, § 8; T.C.A., § 12-808; Acts 1984, ch. 890, § 4. 

NOTES: Section to Section References. 

This section is referred to in§ 7-39-312. 
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""*ANNOTATIONS CURRENT THROUGH MARCH 31, 2011 FOR THE TENNESSEE SUPREME COURT""* 

Title 12 Public Property, Printing And Contracts 

Chapter 9 Interlocal Cooperation 

GO TO THE TENNESSEE ANNOTATED STATUTES ARCHrVE DfRECTORY 

Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-109 (2011) 

12-9-109. Contracts under other laws unaffected. 

Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any public agency from contracting with other public agencies under the 

provisions of existing statutory or charter authority. 

HISTORY: Acts 1967, ch. 350, § 9; T.C.A., § 12-809. 
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Tenn. Code Ann. § I 2-9-1 /0 (20 l l) 

12-9-110. Contracts for conveyance of property. 

(a) Any one (I) or more public agencies may contract with any one (I) or more public agencies for the conveyance or 

transfer of property, real or personal, if: 

(I) The public agency or agencies receiving the conveyance or transfer utilizes the property for a pub I ic purpose; 

and 

(2) The governing body of each public agency that is a party to the contract authorizes such conveyance or 

transfer and detennines that the terms and conditions set forth are appropriate. 

(b) Any public agency utilizing the authority of this section shall not be required to declare such property surplus 

prior to the conveyance or transfer, and shall also be exempt from contrary requirements in any budget or purchasing 

act, public or private. 

HISTORY: Acts 2005, ch. 336, § l. 
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Tenn.CodeAnn.§12-9-111 (2011) 

12-9-11 l. Filing of interlocal agreements forming local government joint venture. 

Any interlocal agreement entered into by local government entities that creates a local government joint venture entity 

shall be filed in the office of the comptroller of the treasury within ninety (90) days of execution of the agreement. Any 
interlocal agreement entered into by local government entities of this state that created a local government joint venture 
entity that is in effect on June 20, 2006, shall be filed with the office of the comptroller of the treasury within one 
hundred twenty ( 120) days of June 20, 2006. 

HrSTORY: Acts 2006, ch. 923, ~ 2. 
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Tenn. Code Ann.§ 12-9-112 (2011) 

l 2-9-112. Annual statement on interlocal agreements that create local government joint venture entity. 

(a) Any local government joint venture entity shall, during the tem1 of the agreement, file an annual statement with the 

office of the comptroller of the treasury. The statement shall set forth the names of all parties to the agreement, the 

annual revenue and expenses of any entity created under the agreement and the other infom1ation required by the 

comptroller. 

(b) The comptroller of the treasury may develop guidelines in furtherance of the administration of this section. 

HISTORY: Acts 2006. ch. 923, ~ 2. 2007, ch. 207, ~ I 
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KEY STATUTORY REFERENCES 

1. Interlocal Cooperation Act (T.C.A. 12-9-101 et seq.) 

2. Solid Waste Management Act of 1991 (T.C.A. 68-211-801 et 
seq.) 

3. Tennessee Governmental Tort Liability Act (T.C.A. 29-20-101) 

4. Immunity from Suit of Members of Governmental Boards 
(T.C.A. 29-20-201) 

5. Open Meetings Law (T.C.A. 8-44-101 et seq.) 

6. Open Records Law (T.C.A. 10-7-503(a)/10-7-301(6) and 
10-7-504 (confidential records) 

7. Interest of Officers in Municipal Contracts Prohibited (T.C.A. 
6-54-107 and T.C.A. 12-4-101) 

8. Procurement Laws 

a) County Purchasing Law of 1957 (T.C.A. 5-14-101 et 
seq.) 

b) Municipal Purchasing Law of 1983 (T.C.A. 6-56-301) 
c) Exemptions of Professional Services from Competitive 

Bidding (T.C.A. 12-4-106(a) and 5-14-108(a)(2) 
d) No Bidding Required on Tort Liability Insurance (T.C.A. 

29-20-407) 
e) Payment and Performance Bond Requirements (T.C.A. 

62-6-119) 
f) Contractors Licensing Law Required to be Included in 

Bid Proposals (T.C.A. 62-6- l l 9(a) 
g) Bid Bond Requirements for Construction Managers 

(T.C.A. 62-6-129) 
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M:l-IMITCHELL EMERT & HILL, P.C. 
------------CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS' AUDIT REPORT 

Board of Commissioners 
Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission 
Loudon, Tennessee 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal 
Commission, which comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 2014, and the related statement 
of revenue, expenses, and change in net position, and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management's Responsibility for tlze Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating fhe overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission as of 
June 30, 2014, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Otlzer Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 4 to 6 be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain 
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opm10n on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's financial statements. The 
schedules of expenditures of state financial assistance and board of commissioners are presented for the 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. 

The schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of 
expenditures of state financial assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole. 

The schedule of board of commissioners has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on it. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 14, 
2015, on our consideration of Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not 
to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

April 14, 2015 
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Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2014 

Introduction 

This discussion and analysis is intended to be an introduction to the financial statements and notes that 
follow this section and should be read in conjunction with them. The Loudon County Solid Waste 
Disposal Commission ("LCSWDC") is a governmental agency created by Loudon County, the City of 
Lenoir City and the City of Loudon to operate and manage the Matlock Bend Landfill in Loudon, 
Tennessee. The Commission also serves as the Municipal Solid Waste Region Board for the Loudon 
County Solid Waste Region under the Solid Waste Management Act of 1991. 

Financial Statement Review 

The financial statements herein are comprised of the statement of net position, the statement of revenue, 
expenses and changes in net position, the statement of cash flows and the accompanying notes to the 
financial statements. 

Financial Highlights as o[June 30: 

The statement of net position presents information on all LCSWDC's assets and liabilities. Current 
assets as well as other assets and liabilities are reported in order of their liquidity. The table below 
presents the significant components of net position: 

Condensed statements of net position 

2014 2013 2012 2011 

Assets: 
Current and other $ 2,884,576 $ 2,625,388 $ 2,380,571 $ 2,440,755 
Capital assets 1,447,070 1,453,741 1,436,003 1,029,249 

Total assets $ 4,331!646 $ 4!019)29 $ 3,816!574 $ 3,470!004 
Liabilities: 

Current $ 5,853 $ 10,465 $ 23,231 $ 23,332 
Long-term 4,915,262 4,600,623 4,133,850 3,664,938 

Total liabilities 4,921,115 4,611,088 4,157,081 3,688,270 
Net position: 

Investment in capital assets 1,447,070 1,453,741 1,436,003 1,029,249 
Unrestricted (deficit) (2,036,539) (1,985, 700) (1,776,510) (1,247,515) 

Total net position (589,469) (531,959) (340,507) (218,266) 

Total liabilities and net position $ 4,331,646 $ 4,079,129 $ 3,816,574 $ 3!470,004 
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The statement of revenue, expenses and changes in net position presents LCSWDC's results of 
operations. The table below is a condensed statement of revenue and expenses: 

Condensed statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position 

2014 2013 2012 2011 

Operating revenue $ 384,602 $ 414,611 $ 439,547 $ 324,133 
Operating expenses (448,870) (615,441) (572,214) (571,914) 
Depreciation and amortization (6,671) (5,901) (5,831) (5,831) 

Net operating (loss) (70,939) (206,731) (138,498) (253,612) 
Non-operating income 13,390 15,278 16,258 25,492 

Change in net position $ (57.549) $ (191.453) $ (122.240) $ (228.120) 

Results of Operations 

LCSWDC shows operating revenue of $384,602, which represents a decrease of $30,009 below the 
previous year's operating revenue. At the same time, LCSWDC shows a decrease in operating expenses 
of $166,571 over the previous year's operating expenses. LCSWDC shows a negative change in net 
position due in part to an increase in the utilized capacity of the landfill, which in turn required an 
increased adjustment to the estimated future liability for closure and post closure costs from the previous 
year. The increased utilization of the landfill during the year resulted in a $314,679 increase to the 
estimated future liability for closure and post closure costs. Additionally, the yearly increase to the 
estimated future liability for closure and post closure costs increased by $71,345 from the previous 
year's estimated costs. As of June 30, 2014, the Commission completed its seventh full year of 
operations under its 20-year operations contract that commenced on October 1, 2007 and provides for 
the turn-key operation of Matlock Bend Landfill by the operator instead of the Commission. 

The Statement of Cash Flows in the accompanying financial statements is presented using the direct 
method. This method outlines the sources and uses of cash as it relates to operating income. In 
addition, included in the Statement of Cash Flows are classifications for non-capital related financing, 
capital related financing and investing activities. 

Capital Assets 

Capital asset levels stayed the same from the prior year. The commission did not purchase capital assets 
during the year ended June 30, 2014. 

Future Events 

LCSWDC is engaged in discussions with the Matlock Bend landfill operator to modify the existing 
contract to address an anticipated shortfall of funds to cover the estimated future liability for closure and 
post closure costs. 
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Request for Information 

Questions concerning this report or other requests for additional information should be directed to Steve 
Field, Chairman at (865) 576-1057 or at his office located at 100 River Road, #106, Loudon, Tennessee 
37774. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Steve Field, 
Chairman 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash 
Accounts receivable 
Grants receivable 
Interest receivable 
Prepaid expenses 

CAPITAL ASSETS 
Land 
Landfill facilities 

Accumulated depreciation 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 2014 

TOT AL CURRENT ASSETS 

TOT AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Estimated closure/postclosure care cost 

NET POSITION 
Investment in capital assets 
U mestri cted 

TOT AL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

$ 1,410,852 
125,016 

1,535,868 
(88,798) 

$ 1,447,070 
(2,036,539) 

$ 2,846,609 
25,968 

2,923 
425 

8,652 

2,884,576 

1,447,070 

$ 4,331.646 

$ 5,853 

4,915,262 

(589,469) 

$ 4.331.646 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES AND CHANGE IN NET POSITION 

Year Ended June 30, 2014 

OPERA TING REVENUE 
Surcharge-host agency 
Surcharge-closure/post closure security fees 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Salaries and wages: 

TOT AL OPERA TING REVENUE 

Board of Commissioners compensation 

Contracted services: 
Legal services 
Legal services-Poplar Springs Landfill 
Landfill operations review 
Accounting and auditing 
Property maintenance 

Landfill operations: 
Tire disposal 
Closure and postclosure care 

Supplies and materials: 
Office supplies 

Other expenses: 
Contributions to City of Loudon 

for debt service 
Insurance 
Trustee's commissions 
Advertising 
Travel 
Miscellaneous 

Depreciation 

TOT AL OPERA TING EXPENSES 

(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 

$ 53,486 
18,000 
15,104 
6,550 
5,000 

10,721 
314,679 

8,750 
4,276 
3,941 
2,194 
1,906 

598 

$ 151,386 
233,216 

384,602 

3,550 

98,140 

325,400 

115 

21,665 

6,671 

455,541 

(70,939) 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES AND CHANGE IN NET POSITION 
(continued) 

NONOPERATING REVENUE 
State grant - tire disposal 
Interest 

Year Ended June 30, 2014 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 

NET POSITION ATTHE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 

NET POSITION AT THE END OF THE YEAR 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

10,721 
2,669 13,390 

(57,549) 

(531,920) 

$ (589.469) 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Year Ended June 30, 2014 

CASH PROVIDED(USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash received from customers 
Cash paid to employees 
Cash paid to suppliers 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

CASH PROVIDED(USED) BY NONCAPITAL AND 
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

State grant - tire disposal 

CASH PROVIDED(USED) BY 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Interest received 

NET INCREASE IN CASH 

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 

$ 393,818 
(3,550) 

(137,435) 

252,833 

13,711 

2,669 

269,213 

2,579,590 

$ 2.848.803 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(continued) 

Year Ended June 30, 2014 

RECONCILIATION OF (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 
TO NET CASH PROVIDED(USED) 
BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

(Loss) from operations 
Adjustments to reconcile (loss) from operations to 

net cash provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation 

(Increase )decrease in: 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 

Increase(decrease)in: 
Accounts payable 
Estimated closure/postclosure care cost 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

$ 6,671 

9,216 
(4,376) 

(4,612) 
314,679 

$ (70,939) 

321,578 

$ 250,639 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2014 

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION 

Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission (the Commission) has been delegated the authority 
and responsibility for operating ·the Matlock Bend landfill (the Landfill) under the Amended and 
Restated Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Agreement dated March 1, 1993, as amended. This 
agreement was entered into pursuant to state laws requiring the creation of municipal solid waste 
regions. In addition to specific powers relative to the operation and management of the Landfill, the 
Commission is granted all the powers and duties of a municipal solid waste region board as set forth in 
T.C.A. 268-211-813, et seq. 

The Commission's seven member board is appointed by the Loudon County mayor (5 members) and the 
mayors of City of Loudon, Tennessee (1 member) and Lenoir City, Tennessee (1 member). 

The Commission has contracted with a company to operate the Landfill. The company is responsible 
for the operation of Phase II/IV of the Landfill and the closure and postclosure of Phases I and II/IV 
during the term of the contract, which expires on September 30, 2027 and is subject to two additional 
one-year extensions in favor of the Commission. Phase I of the Landfill was closed during the year 
ended June 30, 1996 and closure was approved by the State of Tennessee Department of Environment 
and Conservation during fiscal year ended June 30, 1998. Phase III was never developed. 

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of Accounting 

The Commission's financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or 
noncurrent) are included in the statement of net position. The statement of revenue, expenses and 
change in net position presents increases (revenue) and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under 
the accrual basis of accounting, revenue is recognized in the period in which it is earned while expenses 
are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. 

The Commission recognizes revenue when it is earned and measurable, and expenses are recognized 
when the liability is incurred. Surcharge revenue and revenue for closure and postclosure security fees 
are classified as operating revenue. All other revenue is reported as nonoperating revenue. Operating 
expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary operations. All other expenses are reported 
as nonoperating expenses. 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued) 

June 30, 2014 

The Commission prepares its financial statements in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, Basic 
Financial Statements-and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments 
GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial reporting for state and local 
governments and requires that resources be classified for accounting reporting purposes into the 
following three net position groups: 

Investment in capital assets 

This category includes capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal 
balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. The 
Commission had no debt as of June 30, 2014. Investment in capital assets at June 30, 2014 has been 
calculated as follows: 

Capital assets 
Accumulated depreciation 

$ 1,637,661 
(190,591) 

$ 1.447.070 

Restricted: This category includes net pos1t1on whose use is subject to externally imposed 
stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the Commission pursuant to those stipulations or that 
expire by the passage of time. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, 
it is the Commission's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted recourses as needed. 
The Commission had no restricted net positions as of June 30, 2014. 

Unrestricted This category includes net position that is not subject to externally imposed stipulations 
and that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "investment in capital assets". Unrestricted net 
position may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of 
Commissioners or may otherwise be limited by contractual agreements with outside parties. The 
Commission had a deficit of unrestricted net position of $2,036,539 as of June 30, 2014. The deficit 
was due to future liabilities exceeding assets, except for capital assets, at June 30, 2014. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable which are deemed uncollectible based upon a periodic review of the accounts are 
charged to revenue. At June 30, 2014 no allowance for uncollectible accounts was considered 
necessary. 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

Property and Equipment 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued) 

June 30, 2014 

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives, which range from five to thirty years. The Commission has not adopted 
a formal capitalization policy. 

NOTEC-CASH 

Cash represents money on deposit in various banks. The District considers all highly liquid investments 
with an original maturity date of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

State of Tennessee law authorizes the District to invest in obligations of the United States of America or 
its agencies, nonconvertible debt securities of certain federal agencies, other obligations guaranteed as to 
principal and interest by the United States of America or any of its agencies, secured certificates of 
deposit and other evidences of deposit in state and federal banks and savings and loan associations, and 
the Tennessee Department of Treasury Local Government Investment Pool (the LGIP). The LGIP 
contains investments in certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasury securities and repurchase agreements, 
backed by the U.S. Treasury securities. The Treasurer of the State of Tennessee administers the 
investment pool. 

All deposits with financial institutions in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limits 
are required to be secured by one of two methods. Excess funds can be deposited with a financial 
institution that participates in the State of Tennessee Bank Collateral Pool. For deposits with financial 
institutions that do not participate in the State of Tennessee Bank Collateral Pool, state statutes require 
that all deposits be collateralized with collateral whose market value is equal to 105 percent of the 
uninsured amount of the deposits. 

The Commission's cash and investments at June 30, 2014 are held by the Loudon County Trustee in the 
Commission's name and are entirely insured through the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the 
State of Tennessee Bank Collateral Pool. 

Cash received by the Commission for closure and postclosure security fees was $1,331,519 as of June 
30, 2014. Management intends to use this cash to partially satisfy the closure/post-closure costs 
described in Note G. 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued) 

June 30, 2014 

NOTED - CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2014 was as follows: 

Balance 
7/1/13 Additions Retirements 

CaQital assets not being de12reciated 
Land $ 1,410,852 $ 0 $ 0 

Ca12ital assets being de12reciated 
Landfill facilities 125,016 0 0 
Machinery and equipment 101,793 0 (101,793) 

226,809 0 (101,793) 

Accumulated de12reciation 
Landfill facilities (82,127) (6,671) 0 
Machinery and equipment (101,793) 0 (101,793) 

(183,920) (6,671) (101,793) 

$ 1.453.741 $ (6.671) $ 0 

NOTE E - RISK MANAGEMENT 

Balance 
6/30/14 

$ 1,410,852 

125,016 
0 

125,016 

(88,798) 
0 

(88,798) 

$ 1.447.070 

The Commission is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Landfill operator, on 
behalf of the Commission carries commercial insurance for various risks of loss, including general 
liability coverage. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance 
coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued) 

June 30, 2014 

NOTE F - COMMITMENTS 

The Commission has completed seven full years of operations under its operations contract with its 
operator dated as of July 1, 2007, which provides for the turnkey operations of the Landfill by the 
Commission's existing operator, Santek Environmental, Inc. (Santek), commencing on October 1, 2007. 
The prior operations agreement dated April 5, 1994 was amended on June 19, 2007 to provide for the 
termination of that contract effective September 30, 2007. The current operations agreement provides 
for a twenty-year term ending on September 30, 2027 and also grants the Commission the right, at its 
option, to extend the operations contract for two additional one-year extensions. Under the previous 
contract, the Commission received all tipping fee revenue and contracted with Santek to operate the 
Landfill. In accordance with the current agreement, Santek receives all revenue for tipping fees, pays 
operating costs of the Landfill, and pays a host fee and closure/postclosure fees to the Commission. 

NOTE G - CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COST 

State and federal laws and regulations require a final cover to be placed on the Landfill site when it stops 
accepting waste and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for a minimum 
of thirty years after closure. Phase I of the Landfill was closed during the year ended June 30, 1996. 
However, state certification of closure was not approved until the year ended June 30, 1998. 

Although closure and postclosure care costs will be paid only near or after the date that the Landfill 
stops accepting waste, the Commission reports a portion of these closure and postclosure care costs as 
an operating expense in each period based on Landfill capacity used as of the date of the statement of 
net assets. Landfill facilities operation expense reported in the accompanying financial statements 
consists of $314,679 for the current year increase in the estimated liability for closure and postclosure 
costs. 

At June 30, 2014, the estimated liabilities for closure and postclosure care costs were as follows: 

Phase I 
Phase II/IV 

$ 610,382 
4,304,880 

$ 4.915.262 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued) 

June 30, 2014 

The liabilities were estimated based on information provided by the State of Tennessee Department of 
Environment and Conservation when the corresponding cells of the Landfill were initially permitted. 
Closure and postclosure costs related to Phase I were recognized by the Commission in prior periods 
based on Landfill capacity as of the date of each statement of net position. The liability for Phase II/IV 
represents the estimated cumulative amount of closure and postclosure care costs reported to date based 
on the use of 59% of the estimated capacity of the Landfill for that phase. The Commission will 
recognize the remaining estimated cost of $2,991,527 as the remaining permitted capacity of the Landfill 
is filled. These amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure and postclosure care in 
2014. The Commission expects to close Phase II/IV of the Landfill in August of 2030 (assuming 80,000 
tons of waste per year). The Commission is seeking a permit modification which would extend the life 
of the landfill and result in a new phase. Actual costs of closure and postclosure may vary based on 
inflation, deflation, technology, or applicable laws and regulations. 

Loudon County, Tennessee (the County) has entered into a Contracts in Lieu of Performance Bond with 
the State of Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation for Phase I (dated February 24, 
1994) and for Phase II/IV (dated September 1, 1997), which are amended from time to time. In the 
event the County fails to perform closure and postclosure care requirements pursuant to all applicable 
laws, statutes, rules and regulations as such laws, rules, statutes and regulations may be amended, the 
contracts pledge future revenues of the County, disbursed from the State of Tennessee to the County, up 
to the amount of $7,296,407 (covering all phases of the Landfill) as of June 30, 2014, for closure and 
postclosure care. 

NOTE H - CONTRIBUTIONS TO CITY OF LOUDON, TENNESSEE 

The Commission makes contributions of $3,750 per quarter to City of Loudon, Tennessee to defray the 
cost associated with the retirement of debt incurred by City of Loudon, Tennessee to extend utility 
service lines to the Landfill. The timing of these payments vary so some years the total will not equal 
$15,000. The loan payments commenced in March 2002 and are expected to end in February 2022. 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

June 30, 2014 

Steve Field, Chairman 
John Watkins, Vice-Chairman 

Robert Harrison, Secretary/Treasurer 
Larry Jameson, Member 

Tom Paul, Member 
Brian Jenkins, Member 

Jim Akins, Member 

See the accompanying independent accountants' audit report. 

18 



_ _; 

LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

EXPENDITURES OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

June 30, 2014 

State Grantor CFDA# Contract Number Expenditures 

State Financial Assistance 

State of Tennessee Department of 
Environment and Conservation -
Tire Disposal Grant NIA 7-1-11 GG $ 10!721 

NOTE 1-BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

This schedule summarizes the expenditures of Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission under 
programs of the state government for the year ended June 30, 2014. This schedule is presented using the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. 

See the accompanying independent accountants' audit report. 

19 



INTERNAL CONTROL 

COMPLIANCE 



MlfIMITCHELL EMERT & HILL, P.C. 
------------CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND 

OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Directors 
Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission 
Loudon, Tennessee 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the financial statements of Loudon 
County Solid Waste Disposal Commission, which comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 
2014, and the related statements of revenue, expenses and change in net position, and cash flows for the 
year then ended and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated April 14, 2015. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Loudon County Solid 
Waste Disposal Commission's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine 
the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal 
Commission's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, 
and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

We noted certain other matters that we have reported to management of Loudon County Solid Waste 
Disposal Commission in a separate letter dated April 14, 2015. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Loudon 
County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral 
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Loudon 
County Solid Waste Disposal Commission's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 
communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

April 14, 2015 
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LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

Year Ended June 30, 2014 

There were no prior year findings reported. 
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Steve Field, Chairman 
Loudon County Solid Waste. 

Disposal Commission 
100 River Road # 106 
Loudon, Tennessee 37774 

/..TTORNEYS AT LAW 

P.O. aox 442: 

KNOXVILLE, TENNe:sse:e: 37901-0442 

VV'VIN1.kannertylevvyers.com 

Nov,ember 21, 2003 

Re: Engagement as General Counsel 

Dear Mr. Field: 

OF'FlCES LOCATED .t..T: 

550 MAIN STREE:i 

FOURTH FLOOR 

BANK OF AMERICA CENTER 

KNOXVILLE.. TENN~SSEE 37902 

TELEPHONE:: (0651 546-7.311 

F"A.X: IB651 52"-1773 

We are honored by the receot decision oftbe Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal 
Commission of Loudon County, Tennessee (the "Commission") to retain this firm as the 
Corn.mission's general cotmsel. This letter will outline the proposed terms and conditions of our 
representation of the Commission with respect to its legal affairs. 

The scope of our representation is to serve as general counsel to tbe Commission, subject 
to tbe terms of this letter and such specific directives as may be issued from time to time by the 
Commission or the Com:rrUssion's Chairman (the "Chairman"). We will represent the 
Commjssion at its regular monthly meetings and any specially called meetings unless our 
attendance is not required as directed by tbe Commission or the Chairman. We will revie\v eacb 
month's meeting agenda, as well as those agendas for specially called meetings, for possib I e 
legal issm:s and advise the Chairrn;:;.n accordir1gly. We will also review the Comrni:;sion' s 
meeting minutes prior to their approval by the Coil11llission. We will also respond to individual 
questions and inquiries from the Commission and the Cornm.ission's officers related to their 
responsibilities or duties with the Com.mission and on other related Commission matters. V./ e 
wiU also endeavor to advise the Commission on such matters of general law that may adversely 
affect the responsibilities and duties of the Commission and its officers as such issues come to 
our attention. 

We will also undertake from time to time such additional assignments concerning tbe 
Commission or its affairs as the Cornrnission or its Chairman may direct, including without 
limitation assignments regarding interpretation of federal or state laws or the effect of these laws 
on the operations and affairs of the Commission. We will also be responsive to the Chairman, 
who may assigo to us such research, case revi.ew or other legal and administrative assignmeots 
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concerning the Cornnussion's operations and affairs as he deems necessary, and we will 
endeavor to keep the Chairman advised of any legal issues that we become aware of that may 
adversely affect the proper operation and admirustration of the Commission. Finally, we will be 
responsive to direct contacts from Comrrussion customers, contract vendors and governmental 
bodies who have oversight or other responsibilities related to the Commission wben such matters 
are assigned to us by the Commission or the Chairman. However, until assigned to us, we will 
refer direct contacts from such entities and individuals to the Chairman or the Commission, as 
appropriate. 

I will be serving as the principal attorney with regard to the Commission's representation 
and may be assisted from time to time by G. Wendell Thomas, Jr., who is a shareholder in our 
fum with considerable experience in commercial litigation and government law. Our secretary is 
Diana Smiddy, and I encourage you to contact her should Wendell or I not be available. \Vllile in 
most instances either Wendell or I will handle the work for the Commission, there may be times 
when questions or assignments arise that require tbat we consult with other attorneys in the office 
who have more experience in that particular area of law .. In such situations, I will consult with 
the Chairman before substantial time is spent with another attorney. In assignments that involve 
substantial research, we may also, from time to time, utilize associates or law clerks in om office 
when doing so will be more economical for the Commission because oflower billing rates. 

We will provide monthly statements including itemized descriptions of all work 
performed and expenses incWTed. Our statements will be based upon the hourly rates shown on 
tbe enclosed fee scbedule, wllicb are effective as of January l, 2003. Our hourly rates are 
customarily reviewed in December of each year, and, if appropriate, adjusted as of the first of the 
calendar year. I do not anticipate any increases in our hourly rates at this time for 2004. Sbould 
it become oecessary to utilize tbe services of any other attorneys and/or paralegals, their time w"ill 
be billed at their hourly rates in effect when the services are performed. We reserve the right to 
charge our hourly rate for travel time spent on behalf of the Commission when it occurs during 
norrnaJ business hours. 

Our statements will also list all out-of-pocket expenses incurred on the Cornmissioo 's 
behalf, sucb as photocopying, computer assisted research, travel expenses and secretarial 
overtime. 

In tbe event that our statements are not pa.id in a timely fashion, we reserve the right to 
withdraw from further representation of the Commission's interests on notice to the Comm.issiou 
of our intent to do so. 

The monthly statements are intended to keep the Commission advised of the work we are 
doing and its cost. Upon receipt of a statement, we encourage the Commission and its Chairman 
to discuss with us any questions or comments concerning our services or our charges. 

Because of oUJ current relationship with the Commission, we do not anticipate that our 
handling of legal matters for tbe Cornrrussion will involve a conflict of interest with any other 
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furn client. However, if such a conllict should arise, we will advise and consult with tbe 
Commission regarding tbe appropriate action to be taX:en in order to resolve the conflict. 

The Com.rillssion is free to terminate our representation at any time by providing us notice 
of its desire to do so. If th.is arrangement is agreeable to the Commission, please sign the 
enclosed copy of th.is letter and return it to us in the envelope provided for that purpose. 

We appreciate your confidence in this firm and look forward to working with you and the 
Commission in the future. 

Sincerely, 

KENNERLY, MONTGOMERY & FINLEY, P.C. 

By_C_ .. a_. Cu_~~-o.---"lid--~·-
c. Coulter Gilbert 

CCG/dJs 
F:\C C G\Loudon County Solid Wo.sie\Ilnling.s\11·12·2003 E.ni;n~cmonl Lclltr.doc 

enclosure 
cc: LCSV./DC Commissioners 

LJ»1 
AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS j!z_ day of .....;;:J=;__1 Yl_L\t-'-' -'--....__-----' . CjJ1;::-

Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission of 
Loudon County, Tennessee 

By_l;;:Lc 
Steve Field, Chairman 



NEWS HERALD MEETING NOTICE INSTRUCTIONS FOR 
Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Com.mission ("LCSWDC") 

Revised: January 10, 2013 

AH meeting notices for LCSWDC should be emailed to: 

cindy. white@news-herald.net and sara.thompson@news-herald.net 

Including the following language: 

Cindy or-Sara: 

Kennerly, Montgomery & Finley, P.C. serves as general counsel to the Loudon 
County Solid Waste Disposal Commission ("LCSWDC") and in that capacity 
requests the News-Herald's publication of the attached meeting notice in the 
classified section of the (Day of the Week], [Month and Date) and [Day of the Week, 
[Month and Date) editions of the News-Herald, under the appropriate subsection for 
meeting notices. The invoice and publis4er's affidavit for the meeting notice should 
be sent to the LOUDON COUNTY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 
(not Loudon County) c/o: 

Kevin C. Stevens, Esq. 
Kennerly, Montgomery & Finley, P.C. 

P.O. Box422 
Knoxville, TN 37901 

The Commission would also appreciate the newspaper's inclusion of this upcoming 
public meeting in any listing of public meetings that are posted in the paper as a 
public service to your readers. 

We also request that the notice be printed in the Community Calendar, which is free 
of charge. 

If you have any questions, please reply to this email. 

Thank you and please let us know if you have any questions regarding this request 
for publication or the attached meeting notice ad. 
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LOUDON COUNTY 
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

(Revised 12-7-15) 

COMMISSIONER CONTACT INFORMATION 

Work: WORK PHONE: 865-576-1057 
Steve Field, Chairman HOME PHONE: 865-986-9516 
Loudon County Solid Waste Disposal Commission FAX: 865-458-6508 
Loudon County Annex EMAIL: sm field@bellsouth.net 
101 Mulberry Street, Suite 102 Home: 
Loudon, TN 37774 Steve Field, Chairman 

1240 Donna Drive 
Lenoir City, Tennessee 37771 
(Loudon County Appointee - 5th District) 

Robert Harrison, Commissioner WORK PHONE: 865-740-5711 
Post Office Box 767 HOME PHONE: 865-458-5711 
Loudon, Tennessee 37774 EMAIL: rharrison@ccim.net 
(Loudon City Appointee - I st District) MOBILE: 865-740-5711 

Kelly Littleton-Brewster, Secretary/Treasurer HOME PHONE: 865-458-1840 
1651 Grove Street EMAIL: klj2403@aol.com 
Loudon, Tennessee 37774 
(Loudon County Appointee - 6th District) 

Art Stewart, Commissioner WORK PHONE: 865-576-2312 
2061 Crooked Oak Drive HOME PHONE: 865-986-5935 
Lenoir City, Tennessee 37771 EMAIL: astewal l@utk.edu 
(Lenoir City Appointee - 2nd District) MOBILE: 865-256-5935 

Larry Jameson, Commissioner WORK PHONE: 865-408-9062.150 
P.O. Box 529 EMAIL: larrxi@loudontrucking.com 
Loudon, Tennessee 37774 MOBILE: 865-388-7732 
(Loudon County Appointee - 1st District) 

Bruce Hamilton, Commissioner EMAIL: bruceh4@bellsouth.net 
119 Chuniloti Way MOBILE: 865-274-1210 
Loudon, Tennessee 37774 
(Loudon County Appointee - 7th District) 

John Watkins, Vice Chairman HOME PHONE: 865-458-5292 
299 Edwards School Road EMAIL: riesling4@aol.com 
Loudon, Tennessee 37774 Mobile: 865-776-0243 
(Loudon County Appointee - 4th District) 



LOUDON COUNTY 
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL COMMISSION 

(Revised 12-7-15) 

ADVISORS AND CONSULTANTS 

LEGAL: 
Kevin C. Stevens, General Counsel 
Kennerly, Montgomery & Finley, P.C. 
Post Office Box 442 
Knoxville, Tennessee 37901-0442 

OR 
550 Main Street, 4th Floor 
Knoxville, Tennessee 37902 

LANDFILL OPERA TOR: 
Cheryl Dunson, Vice President of Marketing 
Santek Waste Services, Inc. 
650 25th Street, NW, Suite 100 
Cleveland, Tennessee 37311-1353 

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE: 
Kim Raia 
County Technical Assistance Service 
101B Student Services Building 
Knoxville, TN 37996-0213 

WORK PHONE: 865-546-7311 
FAX: 865-524-1773 
EMAIL: kstevens@kmfpc.com 

WORK PHONE: 423-303-7107 
EMAIL: Cheryl@santekenviro.com 

WORK PHONE: 865.974.6434 
MOBILE: (865) 384-6691 
EMAIL: KIM.RAIA@TENNESSEE.EDU 


